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Foreword: Welcome from our 
Chief Executive and Chairman

Welcome to our second Annual Report and Financial Accounts for the North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS). This covers our first full year in 
operation as an NHS Foundation Trust.

This Year was a further year of considerable 
turbulence for the National Health Service (NHS), 
with the passing of the Health & Social Care Act 
2012, and in the context of continuing economic 
restrictions, the Trust once again delivered 
positive results in terms of achieving national 
response time targets, despite continuing 
increases in activity and reduced costs as required 
by the Government. 

During this period our staff continued to serve 
the needs of our patients here in the North 
East with their usual attention to safety and 
quality of service. The Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) completed an unannounced inspection in 
December, with much positive feedback being 
obtained from our patients and staff regarding 
the quality of the services we deliver. Our staff 
in the patient transport, contact centre and 
emergency care services are to be congratulated 
upon their achievements and they are supported 
strongly by staff in all areas of the Trust for whom 
patient care is also their highest priority. 

We have been very conscious that the Health 
& Social Care Act 2012 has brought about 
changes to the way in which commissioning for 
the future will be determined by placing more 
decision making in the hands of the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) that replace 
Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) with effect from April, 
2013. We will do all we can, as a significant 
provider of health services in the North East, to 
help the new players establish themselves and to 
ensure that we continue to deliver the highest 
quality of services possible within the resources 
available to us. We are now on notice from some 

of these commissioners that they wish to subject 
our Patient Transport Service (PTS) to a review 
and possible competitive tendering during the 
year ahead. Again, we will endeavour to ensure 
that we are in a strong position to continue 
providing this essential service to maintain the 
strong links with our emergency care and contact 
centre businesses and preserve the resilience that 
PTS provides to the NHS as a whole when under 
severe pressure.

The Trust’s mission is to ensure that patients 
receive the ‘’right care in the right place at the 
right time”  and we have worked for some years 
now to build an infrastructure which can truly 
enable this mission to be fulfilled for users of 
NHS services here in the North East of England 
and elsewhere. After an intense period of hard 
work by our team, working in partnership with 
Northern Doctors Urgent Care, we expanded 
our provision of the new NHS 111 service to 
cover the Gateshead, South Tyneside and 
Sunderland areas, building upon the service 
that had previously been introduced in County 
Durham and Darlington in July 2010. With effect 
from April 2013 we have further expanded the 
service to cover the whole of the North East. 
When set alongside the 999 service, this puts the 
ambulance service at the heart of joining up the 
urgent and emergency care system, based on a 
decision making process that is evidence-based 
and consistent in assessing patients’ needs over 
the telephone and referring them to the most 
appropriate service available. For our region, it 
means that patients will be seen more often by 
the clinician who is most able to help them in the 
timeframe appropriate for their need.

Whilst the achievement of further cost 
improvements is a major challenge for the 
Trust we remain committed to tackling this 
requirement whilst maintaining the quality of 
our services to all our patients. The coalition 
government’s strategy has been to focus more 
closely upon measures of outcome from the care 
provided by the NHS and the Trust is working 
closely with other ambulance colleagues to 
compare and contrast our clinical outcomes in 
order to learn from each other and share good 
practice. The clinical outcome measures can be 
readily viewed on our website at: 
www.neas.nhs.uk/

In December our Chairman of almost nine 
years, Tony Dell, relinquished his role. Tony 
guided the Trust through many challenges and 
achievements during his tenure including a 
merger, the introduction of the NHS Pathways 
system which underpins both our 999 and 111 
services, and Foundation Trust Status with all the 

improvements and developments that entailed. 
He is to be congratulated upon his achievements 
and leadership and he retires to Sussex with the 
best wishes of all at NEAS. Tony is replaced by 
Ashley Winter who brings a powerful blend of 
commercial and public sector experience which 
will be highly relevant to the development of the 
Trust’s activities in the future.

There are many other achievements and 
initiatives which we could have mentioned in 
this introduction but we will leave those for the 
reader to discover in the pages that follow. The 
needs of patients are what motivate our people 
and determine the shape of our services. We 
hope that you enjoy reading our Annual Report 
and will continue to share a sense of pride in the 
achievements of your ambulance service.
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About us

The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust is one of the highest 
performing ambulance services in England.

We operate across Northumberland, Tyne 
and Wear, Durham and Teesside. 

We provide emergency and urgent care and 
patient transport services for an area of 
around 3,230 square miles and we employ 
over 2,700 people who serve our population of 
approximately 2.66million people. 

We currently have 65 Trust locations, including 56 
emergency care ambulance stations. A number of 
these stations also house non-emergency Patient 
Transport Service employees and vehicles and 
we share some of our sites with fire and rescue 
services, securing financial efficiencies.

Core Services Overview

Emergency Care Service

We receive, prioritise and respond to more than 
371,000 emergency and urgent incidents per 
annum. Of these incidents, more than a third 
are immediately life threatening and require an 
eight minute response time. There are also 11 
Ambulance Quality Indicators which are aimed 
at judging the quality of care we provide and 
assessing patient outcomes. 

The emergency care division also provides service 
for patients who need transport to hospital 
up to four hours at the request of a doctor. An 
additional 1,500 patients per annum require a 
high dependency transfer. 

Traditionally the Ambulance Service had 
always operated within the ‘cold zone’, areas 
where contamination was not present and 
the area was deemed to be a safe working 
environment. Various major incidents in recent 
years, alongside the increasing threat of a 
chemical, biological, radiological or nuclear 
occurrence resulted in ambulance staff being 
trained and equipped to work within a ‘warm 
zone’ environment, in order to provide 
decontamination to casualties and emergency 
services workers under medical supervision. The 
Trust’s Hazardous Area Response Team (HART) 
provides this service for the North East.

Our Emergency Planning Department also forms 
part of emergency care operations and is a 
service that we are required to provide under 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004.  

It provides medical support and training so that 
the service is prepared in the event of a major 
incident.

Patient Transport Service

Our Patient Transport Service (PTS) facilitates vital 
access for many patients requiring healthcare or 
treatment services at outpatient appointments. 
We plan for over one million patient transport 
journeys every year. We also provide an urgent 
transport service in County Durham and 
Darlington for patients with an ‘urgent’ (non-
emergency) healthcare need.

Contact Centre Operations

Emergency Care and PTS are both supported by 
our two contact centres which manage in excess 
of 800,000 calls per annum. Our first contact 
centre is based at our headquarters in Newburn 
and the second of our contact centres, Russell 
House, has now been operational for three years, 
enhancing our call handling resilience.

NEAS will also provide NHS 111 services for the 
whole North East region by 2013. This service is 
currently live in County Durham and Darlington 
for people who need healthcare but are unsure if 
they need an ambulance. A trained call handler 
will assess their needs and either refer them to 
a local point of care, for example, their GP or 
walk in centre, or if an emergency ambulance is 
needed, it will be deployed without delay.

Non-core Services

Training Services

We provide a range of first aid, first responder, 
accident prevention and conflict resolution 
training for external organisation.  

Medical Cover

We provide Paramedic cover for local events 
such as music concerts and sporting events 
including football and rugby matches. We played 
an important part in the Olympics last year, 
providing cover at Olympic events held within 
the region. 
 
 

Our Partners

Our partners include eight acute hospital Trusts, 
two mental health trusts and 12 local unitary 
authorities, as well as the police and fire services 
in the North East. We also work very closely with 
St John Ambulance Service and the British Red 
Cross.

How we are monitored

Ambulance performance was monitored in 2012-
13 by the NHS Primary Care Trust Boards and 
overseen by NHS North East - the Strategic Health 
Authority for the region. These organisations are 
being replaced with new bodies in April 2013.

Emergency Care ambulance services were paid for 
by NHS Primary Care Trusts, of which there were 
12 in the North East and our lead commissioner 
for this service was NHS North of Tyne. We met 
regularly to discuss the quality and efficiency 
of the service. In April 2013 the Primary Care 
Trusts will be replaced by Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs). The Strategic Health Authority will 
be disestablished during 2013, and some of its 
functions taken over by Area Teams representing 
NHS England.  

We were also monitored by our Council of 
Governors, elected from our FT membership, the 
12 Local Involvement Networks in our area and by 
our local authority health overview and scrutiny 
committees.

Our Fleet

We have:

•	 142 Emergency Care (A&E) ambulance 
frontline vehicles; 

•	 68 Rapid Response Vehicles including Urgent 
Care Service (UCS) cars;

•	 231 Patient Transport Service (PTS) vehicles;

•	 39 other vehicles including, resilience, pool 
and logistics vehicles;

•	 We also utilise helicopter support funded by 
the Great North Air Ambulance Service,  
where necessary. 

Our mission, vision and strategy

Our mission

“Right Care, Right Place, Right Time”

Patients are at the heart of everything that 
we do to support our mission of “right care, 
right place, right time”. We have a strong 
track record of delivering high quality patient 
care; focussing resources to produce the most 
effective outcomes. We are at the leading edge of 
innovative service design which has consistently 
led to us being one of the highest performing 
ambulance trusts in the country.

Our vision

“To make a difference by integrating 
our care and transport in the pursuit of 
equity and excellence for our patients”

This means we will drive through improvements 
in service delivery and work to ensure all of our 
patients have a positive experience, not losing 
sight of our requirement to eliminate waste, 
inefficiency and unnecessary costs. 

Values

Our values underpin everything we do:

•	 Committed, professional and accountable

•	 Working together

•	 Delivering consistently

•	 Shaping the future

•	 Showing we care

Our strategic intentions

We have a strong track record for delivering 
high quality and good value patient care, but 
we are not complacent and we continue to 
seek improvement and good value. Even with 
the economic challenges ahead we are more 
committed than ever to driving forward our 
strategy. With this in mind we have put in place 
six equally important strategic intentions, which 
are supported by our corporate objectives. 
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To lead in the provision of emergency care

•	 We want to be the provider of choice for 
Emergency Care services and lead through 
innovation, research and performance.

To be a key partner in urgent care reform

•	 We want to help deliver the changes that our 
patients and our commissioners are asking for 
using our expertise and infrastructure.

To transform patient transport services

•	 We want to continue to be the provider of 
choice for PTS in the North East.

To be a first rate employer

•	 We want to ensure our staff are appropriately 
supported, with fair pay and flexible working 
conditions and a safe and productive working 
environment.

To have sound financial health

•	 We want to maintain strong financial 
health that enables us to invest in new 
service developments, constantly taking the 
organisation forward.  

To be a well governed and accountable service

•	 We want to continue to ensure that the safety 
and quality of our services to patients remains 
our highest priority.

Our Annual Forward Plan provides more detailed 
information about our business objectives for each 
year and can be found on our website.

The Trust was successfully registered with the 
independent regulator of NHS providers, the Care 
Quality Commission on, 1 April 2010 for the following 
regulated activities without compliance conditions:

•	 Treatment of Disease, Disorder or Injury

•	 Transport Services, Triage and Medical Advice 
Provided Remotely

In September 2010 the Trust also registered for 
the following activity, again without conditions:

•	 Diagnostic and Screening Procedures

The ‘house’ graphic summarises our mission, vision, strategic intentions 
and our values; with patients as a central focus. Financial Review

The Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2012-13. 

Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Trust has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason the Trust continues to adopt the 
going concern principle in preparing the annual 
accounts and annual report.

Our full accounts, presented at the end of the 
report, have been prepared in accordance with 
the directions made under paragraph 24 of 
schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 and Monitor, the Independent Regulator 
of NHS Foundation Trusts. 

It has been another financially challenging 
year for the Trust as we continue to develop 
the services we provide for the people of the 
North East whilst at the same time dealing with 
increasing demands for our services in fluctuating 
weather conditions.

The majority of our income comes from the contracts 
we negotiated with our lead Commissioner, 
Newcastle PCT, for the provision of our Emergency 
Care Services and Patient Transport Services.  

Emergency Care contracts are based on a locally 
agreed tariff for an agreed volume of incidents 
relating to number of calls answered and triaged 
and then either treated on scene or transported 
to hospital.  
 

Any activity in addition to the contracted volumes  
is charged at a marginal rate.  

Patient Transport Service Contracts are based on  
a block contract for transporting patients to out-
patient appointments, day centres, Out of Hours 
treatment centres and Primary Care Centres.  
Additional Income is also received from Durham 
PCT for the 111 Service. This year also saw the 
roll-out of 111 to the South of Tyne PCT areas, 
resulting in additional income.

Our income was ahead of our original plan, 
submitted to Monitor (the independent regulator 
of Foundation Trusts), as we received additional 
funds due to the following:-

•	 Increased activity volumes above those 
originally contracted for.

•	 Funds from NHS North East (SHA) to maintain 
performance during the winter months.

•	 Extra Contractual Referral income from 
patients requiring transport out of our area.

•	 Funds from the Department of Health for the 
Hazardous Area Response Team (HART).

The Trust has complied with Section 43(2A) of 
the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012) which requires that 
the income from the provision of goods and 
services for the purposes of the health service in 
England must be greater than its income from 
the provision of goods and services for any other 
purposes. The impact of other income on the 
Trust is insignificant.

This section of our annual report looks at how we have managed our financial 
affairs and contributed to our strategic intention “to have sound financial health”, 
for the period ended 31st March 2013 and how we have performed against our 
mandatory targets.
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Our running costs continue to be tightly controlled 
with some underspends in the areas of training, vehicle 
insurance, uniform purchases and finance lease costs (as 
a result of the purchase of our Headquarters/Contact 
Centre building). We provided additional funds to 
prepare for the winter, increasing our 4x4 fleet capacity 
during this period to increase assurance of our ability 
to sustain response performance during the winter 
months. In addition, during certain times of the year, 
the Trust had to deal with severe handover delays at 

a number of Emergency departments in the region 
considerably stretching our expenditure on resources. 

Expenditure on Governors travel expenses amounted 
to £5,600 for the whole year. 

A breakdown of our expenditure by type is shown 
below:

Expenditure Analysis 2012/13

The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in HM 
Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information guidance.

Cost Improvement Plan

The Trust had a Cost Improvement Plan of £4.83 
million for 2012/13. The scope of the plan is 
broad, encompassing cost improvements across all 
of the Trust’s functions and service lines as well as 
income generation opportunities. 

We achieved £5.5 million savings which puts us 
in a strong position as we start work against next 
year’s target of £4.35 million.

Financial Performance

The Trust continues to demonstrate a strong 
financial base and our key headline financial 
indicators are as follows:-

•	 Year- end deficit of £2.98 million – the main 
reason for the deficit was an exceptional one off 
impairment charge of circa £5.24 million relating 
to the purchase of the Trust’s HQ Bernicia House- 
please refer to section on Capital.

•	 Year-end normalised surplus of £2.34 million 
(after taking account of all exceptional 
charges).

•	 Year-end cash balance of £10.4 million.

•	 Capital Investment of £13.2 million.

•	 Financial Risk Rating of 4 reported.

Monitor also applies a rating system from 1 to 
5, where higher scores are better.  The Trust’s 
performance was: -

Capital

The Trust funds its capital investment from 
internally generated funds and made investments 
in excess of £13.2 million during the year. 
Vehicles and equipment purchases of £3.6 million 
reflected the continuing investment in front 
line vehicle replacement for Emergency Care 
(A&E), Rapid Response and Patient Transport 
vehicles. Investment in Information Technology 

equipment and systems equated to £1.1 million 
as part of the Trust on-going plan to enhance 
telephony infrastructure. Investment in our 
estate amounted to £8.5 million, with our most 
significant transaction being the purchase of 
our Headquarters/Contact Centre building. This 
provides long term cash savings for the Trust 
compared to the original lease expenditure. 
We also continued with our “Invest to Save” 
schemes with investment in energy efficient 
boilers at a number of premises and installation 
of photovoltaic panels in ambulance stations to 
improve energy efficiency. 

The value of the Trusts tangible and intangible 
assets at the end of 2012/13 was £38.0 million. 
However, the purchase of Bernicia House led to 
an impairment of £5.8 million reduces the value 
of fixed assets accordingly.

Cash Flow Management and Prudential 
Borrowing Limit

The Trust has a Prudential Borrowing Limit, set by 
Monitor of £30.2 million. The Trust has no loans 
outstanding nor were any taken out during the 
year. With healthy cash balances held throughout 
the year and an end of year balance of £10.4 
million there was no requirement for us to utilise 
any of our agreed working capital facility. 

During the year, surplus cash was invested 
resulting in an additional £35,000 income. All 
cash and cash equivalent balances (other than 
negligible petty cash balances and investments) 
are held with Government Banking Services.

EBITDA Margin 4

EBITDA % Plan Achieved 5

Financial Efficiency 5

Liquidity Ratio 4

Overall 4
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Looking Forward

The medium term environment for the Trust is 
uncertain with the prospect of continuing pressures 
for efficiency savings, decreases in the local tariff 
prices paid for Emergency Care Services and Patient 
Transport Services and uncertain activity levels as 
NHS 111 is rolled out across the wider North East 
from 2nd April 2013. At the same time the Trust 
will continue to deliver improved quality. A major 
challenge in the first months of 2013-14 will be to 
adapt resourcing levels to actual activity levels as 
the impact of 111 becomes known.

From 1 April 2013 the contracts for all of our 
services move to be commissioned, procured and 
monitored by CCGs, themselves supported by 
the North of England Commissioning Support 
Unit (NECs) and the exact direction of change is 
unknown. There will be a challenge for the Trust to 
engage at an early stage with the CCGs given their 
agenda, and we will take the opportunity to utilise 
the pressing urgency to set up Urgent Care Boards 
to ensure that we continue to be seen as a key 
player to assist them in reforming the Urgent and 
Emergency Care system. One of our priorities will be 
to help improve the patient flow when arriving at 
our local accident and emergency departments. 

Emergency Care services from the 1 April 2012 
moved to being commissioned on a Payment by 
Results (PbR) basis. The Trust is currently the most 
economical provider of services of all the English 
Ambulance services. PbR at present is based on a 
system of local tariffs but the Trust will be actively 
promoting its case for moving towards national 
best practice tariffs and seek recognition from CCGs 
that in order to maintain the quality of services 
the local tariff should be adjusted to gradually 
move the Trust towards the norm. This would 
result in increased income levels which the Trust 
would re-invest in services such as the Trust’s CARe 
programme to contribute to the reducing avoidable 
hospital visits.

The Patient Transport Services business stream 
produced a strategy for modernisation in 2012-13 
which is in the process of being implemented. It aims 
to maximise efficiency and put the service in the 
most robust financial position possible whilst actively 
engaging with commissioners to ensure it meets the 
required quality and performance standards.

The Trust is of course aware of the potential for 
tendering of such services in the North East and is 
working hard to protect this service line.

The current Durham Urgent Care Service is likely to 
be the subject of a tender to take effect from 1st 
April 2014, the contract having been extended by 
one year (2013-14). Preparations are in hand and we 
are a position to respond with an experienced bid 
team at the ready.

Overall we look to retain financial stability whilst 
developing a business model which seeks to 
maximise business opportunities.

Financial Risks

The financial risks facing the organisation are 
included in the Trust’s risk register and are 
continuously monitored throughout the year with 
regular updates being provided to the Board.

The major financial risks incorporated into the 
Trust’s organisational risk register were:

•	 The organisation recognises that the 
longer the requirement for on-going cost 
improvement programmes of 4% and 
above and the more easily achievable cost 
improvements exhausted, the more difficult 
it is to achieve them without redesigning 
and reforming the way services are provided. 
It is more important than ever to have staff 
and management backing to support the 
cost improvement programme. Any failure to 
maintain this focus may lead to financial and 
reputational issues and a negative impact on 
the Trust’s position

•	 The organisation recognises that in the current 
economic climate, and continuing below inflation 
headline rises in salary levels there is a potential 
for significant staff side resistance to change, 
resulting industrial relation issues. To minimise 
this risk the Trust has well developed consultation 
arrangements with its main Trade Unions through 
the Joint Consultative Committee.  
 
 
 
 
 

•	 The organisation has recognised the risks 
arising from the scale of the financial 
challenge and the need to secure staff 
and management buy-in to the measures 
necessary to achieve the Foundation Trust’s 
Strategic Plan. To mitigate this risk there is an 
Improvement Steering Group in place including 
staff side representatives to manage the 
Cost Improvement Programme with minimal 
organisational disruption and with a priority  
of maintaining the quality of our services.   

•	 As outlined earlier the Trust recognises the risk 
to its PTS services and the prospect of other 
competitive tendering, which if unsuccessful 
will result in residual overhead costs that 
undermine its financial position.

•	 The uncertainty over activity levels is a 
significant risk to the Trust. A prudent approach 
to resourcing has been taken in the early 
months of the financial year 2013-14 i.e. 
potentially over-resourcing to ensure quality of 
service. Close scrutiny will be maintained and 
any necessary adjustments made to ensure the 
financial position of the Trust is protected whilst 
maintaining performance and quality standards.

Pension Costs

The provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme cover 
past and present employees. The scheme is an 
unfunded defined benefits scheme that covers 
NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies 
allowed under direction of the Secretary of State 
in England and Wales. The scheme is accounted 
for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost of participating in the scheme for an NHS 
body is taken to equal the contributions payable 
to the scheme for the accounting period. The total 
employer contribution payable for 2012-13 was 
£6,881,163.

The scheme is a final value scheme and on advice 
from the scheme actuary, scheme contributions 
may be varied from time to time to reflect changes 
in the scheme’s liabilities. A more comprehensive 
accounting policy note on pension liabilities is 
included in the full set of the accounts. Information 
on directors’ pension entitlements can be found 
in the Remuneration Report on page 106 of this 
annual report. The Trust’s accounting policies for 
pensions and other retirement benefits are set out 
in Note 10 of the accounts. Further Information is 
also disclosed in the Annual Governance Statement.

Aduit Costs

PwC was the Trust’s external auditor for the period 
1st October, 2012 to 31st March 2012. Their fee for 
auditing the accounts was £36,950 +VAT and for the 
audit of the Quality Report £8,950 +VAT.  During 
the year the Trust did not purchase any “non-audit 
services” from the external auditor.

Director Statement regarding Audit

The Directors confirm that so far as they are aware:-

•	 There is no relevant audit information of 
which the North East Ambulance Service 
auditors are unaware.

•	 They have taken all the steps they ought 
to have taken as directors in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the North 
East Ambulance Service’s auditors are aware 
of that information. 

•	 Made such enquiries of his/her fellow directors 
and of the company’s auditors for that 
purpose; and taken such other steps (if any) 
for that purpose, as are required by his/her 
duty as a director of the company to exercise 
reasonable care, skill and diligence.

Fraud and Corruption

The Trust’s contracts with commissioners for 
healthcare include specific clauses and schedules 
regarding counter fraud arrangements.

Local Counter Fraud Specialist Services (LCFS) are 
provided to the Trust via contract arrangements 
with Sunderland Internal Audit Services (SIAS).  
Individuals appointed as LCFS have been 
approved as suitable for this role by the Counter 
Fraud and Security Management Service (CFSMS).  
The lead LCFS is Paul Bevan. An annual plan, 
updates on progress against the plan and an 
annual report on compliance against the Counter 
Fraud arrangements are presented to the Audit 
Committee regularly. The Trust’s Counter Fraud 
Policy is available on the organisations website.
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Better Payment Practice Code

The Government’s ‘Better Payment Practice Code’ 
requires public sector bodies to pay all trade  
creditors within 30 days or within the agreed terms. 

The Trust is an approved signatory of the prompt 
payment code, hosted by the Institute of Credit 
Management on behalf of the Department of 
Business Innovation and Skills. 

As a result the Trust is committed to:

•	 Pay suppliers within agreed terms.

•	 Ensure suppliers know how to invoice them.

•	 Encourage good practice.

During 2012/13 no interest was payable under the Late 
Payments of Commercial Debts (interest) Act 1998.

Pension Liabilities

There were two individuals who retired early on 
ill-health grounds during the period. This gave 
rise to additional pension liabilities of £154,000.

Sickness data

The organisation is required to report sickness 
data based on a calendar year. Of the 451,125 FTE 
days available, 26,442 FTE days were lost due to 
sickness giving an average of 13.2% sickness rate.

Trust development and performance

The business of the Trust is delivered predominantly 
through three core service lines; Emergency Care 
Services (ECS), Patient Transport Service (PTS) and 
Contact Centres.

Performance against contract

The Emergency Care Service has been contracted 
on a Payment by Results (PbR) basis. This means 
that a financial value is agreed for each of four 
tariffs each year and indicative activity levels set; 
the four tariffs relate to Call volumes, Hear & 
Treat (calls), See & Treat (incidents), and See Treat 
& Convey (incidents). The value of the contract is 
calculated at the beginning of the year against 
the indicative activity levels and the value of each 
tariff. Any variation by PCT is charged by incident 

at an agreed rate. Performance indicators are 
set and subject to performance monitoring by 
Commissioners. ECS is measured by activations 
(the number of times an ambulance response 
vehicle is requested).

The Patient Transport Service (PTS) contract is 
provided on a block basis. This is measured by  
the number of journeys it carries out. 

The NHS 111 service is provided on a block 
basis based on the agreed annual contract 
value. During 2011/12 this service was available 
in the County Durham and Darlington areas 
only. Following a tender process, the Trust was 
successful in their bid to provide the NHS 111 
service through the North East region. The South 
of Tyne area (Sunderland, Gateshead and South 
Tyneside) saw a successful rollout from December 
2012, with the other areas – North of Tyne and 
Teesside – to have the NHS 111 service live from 
2nd April 2013.

A summary of the performance against contract 
for each of the three core service lines is 
summarised on the next page.

Service
Activity April 1st 2011  

to March 31st 2012
Activity April 1st 2012  

to March 31st 2013

ECS-number of total journeys 305,579 315,449

PTS-number of total journeys 877,155 896,531

ECS-number of calls answered 
by the Contact Centre

467,139 500,005

PTS-number of calls answered 
by the Contact Centre

351,110 363,193

NHS 111- number of calls 
answered by the Contact Centre

162,281 247,502*

* During 2011/12 there were only two PCT areas with NHS 111 services available.  2012/13 saw NHS 111 
become available in a further three PCT areas from December 2012 onwards.

Activity Levels for 2012/13 versus 2011/12

This table shows the activity and volume of demand on our service in terms of calls and patient 
journeys, for the period April 1st 2012 to March 31st 2013, and a comparison against the same period 
for the previous financial year.
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National Performance Targets

Emergency Care Service 

We believe the UK has some of the toughest performance targets of any ambulance service in the 
world set out by the Department of Health, and demand for our emergency service continues to rise 
every year.

Response time standards were amended in June 2012 to take account of changes to incident priorities 
from Category A incidents to a split between Red 1 and Red 2 incidents. Red 1 calls are time critical 
incidents that genuinely require an emergency ambulance response within 8 minutes; for these 
incidents the Call Connect clock start would remain the same. Red 2 calls allow for more a more 
appropriate emergency response to be provided based on the specific needs of the patient; for these 
incidents the clock start will be the earliest of i) the point at which a chief complaint of the call has 
been identified ii) a vehicle has been assigned to the call iii) a 60 second cap from the Call Connect 
time; though these calls too will result in an 8 minute ambulance response if the call results in a final 
categorisation of Red 2.

The Trust successfully met and exceeds all challenging performance targets for 2012/13:

Category A (Red 1 and Red 2) 8 – Life threatening emergency calls, presenting conditions which 
may be immediately life threatening and should receive an emergency response within 8 minutes 
irrespective of location in 75% of cases. 

Category A (Red) 19 – Life threatening emergency calls, presenting conditions which require a fully 
equipped ambulance vehicle to attend the incident, must have an ambulance vehicle arrive within 19 
minutes in 95% of cases.

The Trust is committed to the delivery of the national response targets set for ambulance services 
and proactively monitors daily forecasts and actual performance. The impressive year-on-year track 
record of success, in the face of an increased demand on health services, continues to provide strong 
assurance for patients and Commissioners that we are able to respond to patient need and achieve 
national response targets. 

April 2011 saw the introduction of new Ambulance Quality Indicators (AQI) for the whole ambulance 
service, in addition to the Category A (Red) 8 and 19 minute targets; these new indicators were shadow 
reported during 2011/12 as no targets had been set by the Department of Health. The 2012/13 NHS 
Standard Contract included local targets for us against the Quality Indicators. These new indicators are 
designed to look at the whole patient care pathway and to encourage discussion at a local NHS level 
as to how care can be improved. Their aim is to monitor patient care and outcomes alongside response 
time performance.

Key Performance 
Indicator

National target Actual performance 
2012/13

Actual performance 
2012/13

Category A (Red - all) 8 75% 76.41% 77.88%

Category A (Red 1) 8 75% 76.59% N/A*

Category A (Red 2) 8 75% 76.50% N/A*

Category A (Red) 19 95% 96.98% 98.83%

Key Performance Indicator Actual Performance 
2011/12

Actual Performance 
2012/13 

1. Call abandonment rate 0.84% 2.19%

2.  Re-contact rate following discharge of care

Re-contact rate following discharge of care by 
telephone

14.94% 15.81%

Re-contact, following discharge of care from 
treatment at the scene

5.22% 4.99%

Proportion of calls from patients for whom a 
locally agreed frequent caller procedure is in place

Procedure being developed

3.  Outcome from cardiac arrest-return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC)

ROSC at time of arrival at hospital (Overall) 21.49% 26.29%*

ROSC at time of arrival at hospital (Utstein**) 50.00% 45.90%*

4.  Service experience

5.  Outcome from acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) (Heart attack)

Percentage of STEMI patients receiving 
thrombolysis within 60 minutes of call

NEAS do not practice thrombolysis. The Trust 
worked to PPCI instead (see indicator below)

The percentage of patients suffering a STEMI 
who are directly transferred to a centre capable 
of delivering primary percutaneous coronary 
intervention (PPCI) and receive angioplasty 
within 150 minutes of call.

96.25% 95.68%*

The percentage of patients suffering a STEMI who 
receive an appropriate care bundle.

78.29% 84.69%*

6.  Outcome from stroke for ambulance patients

The percentage of Face Arm Speech Test (FAST) 
positive stroke patients (assessed face to face) 
potentially eligible for stroke thrombolysis, who 
arrive at a hyperacute stroke centre within 60 
minutes of call.

85.90% 78.52%*

The percentage of suspected stroke patients 
(assessed face to face) who receive an 
appropriate care bundle.

93.61% 97.24%*

7.  Outcome from cardiac arrest – survival to discharge

Survival to discharge 6.48% 4.58%*

Survival to discharge [Utstein**] 22.11% 17.65%*

* Category A calls were split into Red 1 and Red 2 priorities from June 2012 and not recorded as such 
during 2011/12.

Performance for 2012/13 is summarised below.
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* Quarter 4 data was not available at the time of producing this report

**Utstein is a set of uniform reporting rules and criteria for studying episodes and 
outcomes of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest which focus on cases of witnessed cardiac arrest 
due to ventricular fibrillation or pulseless ventricular tachycardia

The Trust was one of the top ambulance service performers in the country in the STEMI indicator and 
has continued to perform above our internal trajectory of 95% for administering the care bundle 
to STEMI patients for the second year in succession. The MINAP 2011/12 Public Report, published in 
November 2012, illustrated that NEAS is the best ambulance trust in England, Wales and Belfast for the 
second year running for transporting patients in 120 and 150 minute timeframes for PPCI. The Trust’s 
Quality Improvement Officer provides feedback to operational staff along with focusing improvements 
in order to drive high quality care and correct documentation of that care.

The Trust has consistently performed above the national average throughout 2012/13 for arriving at a 
hyperacute stroke centre within 60 minutes for patients who were presenting with a potential stroke; 
however, performance is below the internal trajectory of 92%. The Quality Improvement Officers have 
clinically reviewed all cases over 90 minutes in an audit outside of AQI requirements. Of the 1,776 cases 
in the first 11 months of 2012/13, only 56 (3.2%) cases resulted in patients being transported outside 
of the recommended timeframe of 60 minutes. All cases have also been checked against the Ulysses 
Reporting System and no complaints or risks have been generated as a result of these cases breaching 
the 90 minute audit time.

We also aim to give patients with a suspected stroke a care bundle in at least 95% of cases, a target 
that was achieved each month and at year end for 2012/13.

In addition to the Ambulance Quality Indicators (set out by the Department of Health), the Trust 
participates in National Clinical Performance Indicators (NCPIs) for certain medical/trauma conditions 
that have been reported in previous NCPI reports. This included clinically reviewing the quality of 
care delivered to patients presenting with asthma and hypoglycaemia. In 2012/13 two pilots were 
audited, febrile convulsions and lower limb fracture. Performance for the NCPIs is discussed at the 
National Ambulance Service Clinical Quality Group every quarter and is communicated to the National 
Ambulance Service Medical Directors Group. 

Forecast health, demographic, and demand changes

The population of the North East is growing, but at less than half the England rate and it continues 
to have trends of higher than average health challenges caused through lifestyle choices, high levels 
of deprivation and an ageing population. There are disparities in life expectancy between sexes. 
Early death from cancer, heart disease and stroke has fallen across the North East, but still remain 
substantially higher than the rest of the UK.

The health challenges the North East faces is evident in the growing demand, particularly for our 
Emergency Care Service and the pressures increasing in all emergency and urgent cares services. 
This pressure is compounded by the wider economic environment which has placed overall financial 
pressure on the Trust, its partners and all of us being required to do more for less. 

In response we have developed a challenging Cost improvement programme (CIP). We do have a 
strong track record of financial performance and our CIP is robust, so is the delivery mechanism we 
have in place in the form of our Programme Management Office (PMO). Our planned areas of savings 
are also aligned to the areas where our Commissioners expect to see improved productivity and actual 
savings and we are already engaged in aspects of whole system improvements that will enable us to 
effectively manage the risk.

Impact Assessment to Market Share

For the period 2013/14 there is no forecast impact to market share for our services in the North East of 
England. Our core Emergency Care Services and PTS contract is secure for a minimum 12 month period. 
Our NHS 111 service has five operational years to run and will not be subject to competitive tender 
until March 2018.

Therefore of our overall financial turnover, more than 97% of our services are safe from competition 
within the financial period 2013/14.

8.  Time to answer call

Median (seconds) 1 1

95th percentile (seconds) 1 1-67

9.  Time to treatment- Category A calls (immediately life threatening)

Median (minutes and seconds) 5:05 – 5:44 5:33 – 6:42

95th percentile 12:49 – 15:12 14:24 – 20:45

99th percentile 19:20 – 23:33 18:09 – 34:13

10.  Ambulance calls closed with telephone advice or managed without transport to A&E 
(where clinically appropriate)

Calls closed with telephone advice 3.39% 3.35%

Incidents managed without the need to 
transport to A&E. 

33% 33.07%

During 2012/13, the Trust participated in two cycles of NCPIs which consisted of 7 audits:

Performance Area Cycle 9 Cycle 10

Hypoglycaemia Jun 12 Dec 12

Asthma Jul 12 Jan 13

Lower Limb Fracture Aug 12 Feb 13

Febrile Convulsion Sep 12 Incomplete

Patient Transport Service 

National targets do not exist for the Patient Transport Service. However, the Trust has set local targets 
and standards, with more to be introduced as part of our PTS Transformation Programme. 

NHS 111 Service 

The Trust has set local targets and standards for the NHS 111 contract, some of which were measured 
during 2012/13 prior to the region wide rollout of the service 2nd April 2013. Performance against 
those indicators measured during 2012/13 is summarised below.

Key Performance Indicator Actual performance 2011/12 Actual performance 2012/13

Calls answered within  
30 seconds 84.34% 78.12%

Key Performance Indicator Actual performance 2011/12 Actual performance 2012/13

Calls answered within 80 
seconds 98.07% 97.14%

Calls abandoned  after 80 
seconds 0.38% 0.76%
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Impact Assessment to Market Share

For the period 2013/14 there is no forecast impact to market share for our services in the North East of England.  
Our core Emergency Care Services and PTS contract is secure for a minimum 12 month period. Our NHS 111 service 
has five operational years to run and will not be subject to competitive tender until March 2018.

Therefore of our overall financial turnover, more than 97% of our services are safe from competition within the 
financial period 2013/14.

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Trust 

We have a robust approach to recognising and monitoring risk within our organisation, through our directorate 
and organisational risk registers. We are aware that our business and the services we provide form part of the 
broader NHS and we must be aware of the changing environment in healthcare, commissioning and the general 
operating environment. The principal risks and threats faced by the Trust are aligned to the six strategic intentions 
which in turn support delivery of the mission and vision “right care, right place, right time”.

We perceive the principle risks facing our organisation at present to be;

Risk Impact if risk was 
to be realised

Mitigation and actions to 
reduce risk

1.  Maintaining quality of care 
if activity continues to increase 
at current rate

Highest risk associated with 
back up transport, urgents and 
handover/turnaround delays, 
which may be attributed by 
taking too many patients  
to hospitals

Performance failure, poor 
patient experiences, unable 
to respond to people 
quickly, affecting their 
clinical outcome, breach of 
NHS Constitutional Rights, 
increased use of resources and 
overtime, financial penalties 
invoked by commissioners; 
could lead to a reduction in 
income as a consequence of 
an applied penalty which may 
lead to reputational damage.

Increase in patient safety 
incident, complaints, litigation 
and Serious Incidents 
which may lead to external 
intervention and/or financial 
penalties and reputational 
damage.

Trust Board and IQPR

Quality Committee and 
relevant sub-groups

Workforce plan

Quality review group with 
commissioners

Escalation Plan

Final contract with CCGs

CQC, Monitor and NHSLA 
compliance

2.  Continuous change in the 
system and contributory  
factors such as:

•	 Clinical leadership

•	 Lack of alternative service

May lead to ineffective delivery 
of correct/appropriate pathways

Performance failure, poor 
patient experiences, unable 
to respond to people 
quickly, affecting their 
clinical outcome, breach of 
NHS Constitutional Rights, 
increased use of resources and 
overtime, financial penalties 
invoked by commissioners; 
specific delivery areas affected 
include

•	 111 deliverables and 
associated referrals via the 
Directory of Services (DoS)

•	 Hear and Treat/See and 
Treat – making use of 
alternatives to A&E

•	 Development of First 
Responders

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

Handover Policy

Quality Review Group to 
be established by/with 
commissioners

Escalation Plan

111 Contract monitoring 

Summit activity (with all local 
partners)

NHS IMAS work 

Training Plan

3.  Management of large  
volumes of new staff, and 
pressures on capacity may  
create risk to quality and 
safety

Increase in patient safety 
incident, complaints, litigation 
and Serious Incidents 
which may lead to external 
intervention and/or financial 
penalties and reputational 
damage.

Recruitment and selection 
procedures/process supported 
by specialist recruitment team

Workforce plan

NHS Pathways, Initial training 
programme

Gradbay (graduation bay) 
following initial training, 

Call monitoring/ audit

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards

Relevant policies and 
procedures

Management structure

National NHS Pathways 
registration
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4.  Current trend identified for 
Serious Incidents related to the 
contact centre triage

Independent reviews and 
possible legal actions such as 
Coroners rule 43’s.

Poor patient experiences, 
miss-triage affecting their 
clinical outcome, breach 
of NHS Constitutional 
Rights, increased use of 
resources which may lead to 
reputational damage.

Increase in patient safety 
incident, complaints, litigation 
and Serious Incidents 
which may lead to external 
intervention and/or financial 
penalties and reputational 
damage.

Recruitment and selection 
procedures/process supported 
by specialist recruitment team.

RCA and SI investigation 
process

Objective Review

Workforce plan

NHS Pathways, Initial training 
programme

Gradbay following initial 
training, 

Call monitoring/ audit

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

Relevant policies and 
procedures

Management structure

5.  Commissioners unwilling 
to actively support contractual 
changes to PTS set out in our 
strategy, threatening our 
medium to longer term plans 
for this service

Reputational damage 

Pace of PTS change too slow 
to gain strong competitive 
market position when service 
is tendered

Misalignment of our strategy 
with commissioning intentions

No risk sharing (risk carried by 
NEAS)

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

PTS Strategy

PTS Business Plan

PTS Improvement Programme

PTS service line management

PTS Research

Quality, performance, business 
and finance

Resource utilisation

Workforce and equality

Commissioning Team

Structured tendering process 
and team members

Contracts

Touch-point Map

6.  Uncertainty over the level 
of activity, and consequent 
income assumptions and  
resource requirements,  
resulting from the North East 
wide introduction of NHS 111

Unable to fulfil contractual 
obligations and corporate 
objectives such as maintaining 
financial viability and 
delivering performance targets 
whilst delivering a safe and 
effective service

RIG approval required before 
expenditure commitments are 
made.

Chief Operating Officer 
and Director of Finance and 
Resources working together 
to identify operational 
requirements

7.  Delays to the Enterprise 
Information System (EIS) 
undermine confidence in the 
Informatics function

Inability to demonstrate true 
performance and address any 
non-compliance resulting in 
increased risk to quality and 
patient safety Reliance on 
manual/ spread sheet systems 
in uncoordinated fashion with 
potential for unacceptable 
errors and misreporting

Poor data quality and data 
integrity and inappropriate 
use of Data.

EIS Project Board – monthly 
meetings

Project management 
arrangements including 
project timescales

Overview of project at 
Governance and Risk 
Committee

8.  Demand outstrips capacity
impacting on ability to meet 
performance standards

Performance failure, poor 
patient experiences, unable 
to respond to people 
quickly, affecting their 
clinical outcome, breach of 
NHS Constitutional Rights,  
increased use of resources and 
overtime, financial penalties 
invoked by commissioners; 
could lead to a reduction in 
income as a consequence of 
an applied penalty which may 
lead to reputational damage

Increase in patient safety 
incident, complaints, litigation 
and Serious Incidents 
which may lead to external 
intervention and/or financial 
penalties 

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

Integrated Quality and 
Performance Reports

Review forecast information

Performance Meetings

Handover Policy

Quality Review Group 

Escalation Plan

Final contract with CCG’s

Business Continuity Plan 

Mutual Aid Plans

Third party providers

GRS/WFM



26   |   Quality Report 2013 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust   |   27

9.  General lack of  
ownership of the Carbon 
target by the wider Trust as 
a whole impacts on ability 
to meet carbon targets, to 
achieve carbon related cost  
improvements, and risks  
excluding the Trusts from  
tenders which require ISO 
140001 compliance

Failure to meet stakeholder 
expectations and the 
associated carbon reduction 
targets may lead to 
reputational damage.

May impact on other corporate 
objectives such as financial 
targets, loss of contracts and 
overall service delivery.

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

•	 Governance and Risk 
Committee

•	 Environmental 
Management Working 
Group

•	 Vehicle Risk Management 
Group

Environmental Strategy

DVDMS System and Policy

Development of 
Environmental Control 
Committee

Appointment of 
Environmental Manager

Estates Department

10.  Workforce and trade 
union engagement does  
not sufficiently improve

High turnover of staff who 
become disillusioned with NHS.

Inability to fully engage with 
staff and implement long 
term improvements and 
developments required due to 
national economic climate and 
NHS modernisation plan

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

•	 Workforce and equality 
committee

•	 JCC

Executive lead meetings in 
operational divisions

Communications process/plan 
both internally and externally

11.  Insufficient capacity to  
ensure NEAS has the people 
and infrastructure to work on 
the Long Term Strategic Plan

Failure to meet stakeholder 
expectations and provide the 
right care, in the right place, 
at the right time. Leads to 
impact on other corporate 
objectives such as financial 
targets, loss of contracts and 
overall service delivery

Trust Board and Governors

Executive Team

Work with Associate Director 
of Strategy, Performance and 
Contracting

One year investment in 
commercial development 
function

Board level committees and 
associated sub-groups who 
review/monitor standards.

Board Seminars

Environmental Matters

Our Board of Directors approved a Sustainable Development Management Plan in 2010. The plan has several areas 
of focus, monitored through the Environmental Management Working Group, which meets on a quarterly basis.

The Trust continues to invest in more fuel efficient vehicles. As we move forward, the Euro V engine vehicles will 
soon start to be replaced by Euro VI engine vehicles with even greater restrictions on emissions to the atmosphere. 
The Trust continues to invest in the Estate portfolio to improve environmental performance. Over the past 12 
months we have:

•	 Continued replacement of lighting at all locations with more energy efficient lighting.  
This has now been completed, but we have Introduced PIR lighting systems at six stations. 

•	 Replacement of heating systems with more fuel efficient versions.  
We have already replaced six systems, and are in various stages of replacing several more.

•	 Installation of solar panels at Pallion station was concluded and extended to all buildings  
at Pallion, to reduce our use of use of mains electricity and replace it with a sustainable  
source of power. 

•	 Investigative work is being carried out on the feasibility of installing wind turbines at  
Russell House.

•	 Installed solar powered water systems at Russell House, Consett, Peterlee stations.

•	 In the year ahead we hope to instigate the following projects: 

•	 Photovoltaic installation at Bernicia House

•	 Lighting, heating and renewable energy works at Southwick Ambulance Station

•	 Lighting control improvements at Russell House

•	 Lighting, heating and renewable energy works at Billingham Ambulance Station

•	 Photovoltaic installation at Gateshead Ambulance Station

•	 we hope to successfully conclude the DVDMS trial and roll that out across the fleet, giving us  
more accurate data on fuel consumption, mileages driven etc. to assist in better monitoring  
going forward.

•	 Investigate the use of speed retarding technology on front line ambulances, limiting speeds  
to 56mph when not on blue light duty. When the blue lights are engaged the speed limiter  
is turned off allowing the crews to respond normally.
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Our community first responder team also 
deliver a “heart start” program to the local 
communities and within 2012/13 we have trained 
5471 members of the public in what to do in an 
emergency.

Communications and engagement

We have a three year communications and 
engagement strategy which is available on our 
website. This strategy outlines our commitment 
to keep patients, staff and stakeholders informed 
of the direction, performance and activities of 
the Trust. The strategy is designed to facilitate 
an environment in which there is robust, 

representative and responsive involvement from 
patients, staff and the wider community about 
how our services are provided, improved and 
changed. It also seeks to increase the awareness 
among Trust managers and the Trust Board of 
Directors of these wide and diverse views.

Our employees

We employ a highly skilled and diverse workforce 
of over 2,796 staff members including a number 
of volunteers. The information in the tables 
below outlines the composition of our staff, as of 
December 31st 2012.

Summary of Workforce by Ethnicity Headcount Headcount %

White - British 2094 74.89%

White - Irish 5 0.18%

White - Any other White background 9 0.32%

White English 1 0.04%

White Scottish 4 0.14%

White Other European 3 0.11%

Mixed – White & Black Caribbean 2 0.07%

Mixed – White & Black African 3 0.11%

Mixed – White & Asian 3 0.11%

Mixed – Other/Unspecified 1 0.04%

Asian or Asian British - Indian 3 0.11%

Asian or Asian British - Pakistani 5 0.18%

Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi 4 0.14%

Black or Black British - Caribbean 4 0.14%

Chinese 1 0.04%

Any other ethnic group 1 0.04%

Filipino 1 0.04%

Not Stated 651 23.28%

Social and Community Matters 

We are aware of the importance of having as 
many resources as possible available for patients 
who may need help, and it is for this reason 
we engage First Responders. A First Responder 
is a volunteer who has had training to act on 
behalf of the North East Ambulance Service, 
responding to emergency calls when dispatched 
by the contact centre. They deal with a specific 
list of emergencies and provide the patient 
with support and appropriate treatment until 
the ambulance arrives. The types of incident 
where a First Responder would be dispatched 
include things such as breathing difficulties and 
respiratory arrest, chest pains, heart attack, 
cardiac arrest, unconsciousness (when not due to 
a trauma) and collapse.

First Responders are set up in towns and villages 
where it is challenging for the emergency 
ambulance to arrive within the valuable first few 
minutes. It is proven that the first few minutes 
after some incidents have occurred are crucial to 
chances of patient recovery. The First Responders 
are dispatched at the same time as an ambulance 
response. They are an important and reliable 
resource for us and dedicate their time and skills 
on a voluntary basis to support our service and 
their local community.

We currently have 42 static sites across the 
region, where automated external defibrillators 
(AED) are situated and volunteers are trained 
to respond in the use of life-saving techniques 
and equipment within that location. These 
sites include the Metrocentre in Gateshead, 
Newcastle Airport, The Mall Shopping Centre in 
Middlesbrough, Beamish Museum, Darlington 
Train Station, Dalton Park Shopping Outlet in 
Murton, and Shildon Locomotion Museum among 
others.

The First Responder Management Team has 
recruited and trained 66 Community First 
Responders during the period April 1st 2012 to 
March 31st 2013. This brings the total number 
of Community First Responders to 304 and the 
schemes available for support NEAS to 51. This 
is broken down into 26 in Northumberland and 
North Tyne, 2 in South Tyne, 16 in Durham and 
Darlington and 7 in Redcar and Cleveland.

To bring volunteer responders in line with other 
healthcare professionals approach to skills 

competence and professional development we 
have now introduced a more rigorous system 
that ensures NHSLA and CQC needs for volunteer 
responders are met. We offer development 
programs to enhance the responders’ clinical 
knowledge by providing clinical updates based 
upon organisational and individual needs and 
this is carried out every six months. This is all 
done in addition to all responders completing 
a competency assessment annually in basic life 
support and use of AED.

We have strengthened our governance 
arrangements for responders by changing the 
way they are managed and dispatched by our 999 
Contact Centres, to increase their availability to 
our local communities. We are now able to see 
the availability of all of our responders through 
the use of new technology that which helps us to 
target resources and maximise the efficiency of 
these volunteers.

In some rural areas we have community 
paramedics who work in a more holistic 
environment where patients can expect to see 
much more in relation to primary care. These 
staff are based in GP surgeries where they work 
alongside all parties and carry out interventions 
like monitoring Electro Cardio Graph (ECGs), 
and taking bloods and visiting patients at home 
if they have chronic conditions such as Chronic 
Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder (COPD). They are 
also helping Practice Nurses by visiting patients 
who may not have had a health check in over 
a year and are supporting GPs by responding 
to emergency home visits. This means that GPs 
can remain at their surgery to see more patients 
and reduce the number of appointments being 
delayed or rescheduled.

Our staff have also visited schools, clubs, fetes, 
organisations, events and career road shows 
across the region helping to educate the public 
about accident prevention, the work of an 
emergency service as well as promoting the North 
East Ambulance Service as a potential employer. 

Safety workshops are held regularly and are 
staffed by Paramedics, Urgent Care Assistants, 
Contact Centre and Patient Transport Service 
staff. The aim is to teach children from as 
young as three years what they should do if an 
emergency should occur. Different scenarios are 
given, from how to deal with a cut finger to what 
to do in the case of a heart attack.

We have mapped these risks to our strategic priorities and regularly monitor 
them at Board level.
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Summary of 
Workforce by 

age

Total  
Headcount

% Total 
Headcount

Headcount 
Female

% Female 
Headcount

Headcount 
Male

% Male 
Headcount

16 - 20 47 1.68% 24 0.86% 23 0.82%

21 - 25 164 5.87% 96 3.43% 68 2.43%

26 - 30 225 8.05% 121 4.33% 104 3.72%

31 - 35 340 12.16% 173 6.19% 167 5.97%

36 - 40 377 13.48% 182 6.51% 195 6.97%

41 - 45 425 15.20% 173 6.19% 252 9.01%

46 - 50 385 13.77% 130 4.65% 255 9.12%

51 - 55 335 11.98% 61 2.18% 274 9.80%

56 - 60 279 9.98% 41 1.47% 238 8.51%

61 - 65 165 5.90% 20 0.72% 145 5.19%

over 65 54 1.93% 2 0.07% 52 1.86%

Declaration of Workforce  
by Disability

Headcount Headcount %

No 1555 55.62

Not Declared 1150 41.13%

Yes 91 3.25%

Summary of Workforce by 
Gender

Headcount Headcount %

Female 1023 36.59%

Male 1773 63.41%

Summary of Workforce by 
Sexual Orientation

Headcount Headcount%

Bisexual 7 0.25%

Gay 21 0.75%

Heterosexual 1603 57.33%

I do not wish to disclose 1141 40.81%

Lesbian 24 0.86%

Undefined 7 0.25%

Summary of 
Gender by 
Pay Band

Male 
Headcount

% Male 
Headcount

Female 
Headcount

% Female 
Headcount

% Headcount 
Total

Band 1 9 0.64% 7 0.78% 0.69%

Band 2 132 9.36% 60 6.66% 8.31%

Band 3 535 37.94% 419 46.50% 41.28%

Band 4 60 4.26% 43 4.77% 4.46%

Band 5 508 36.03% 286 31.74% 34.36%

Band 6 111 7.87% 37 4.11% 6.40%

Band 7 25 1.77% 28 3.11% 2.29%

Band 8A 7 0.50% 8 0.89% 0.65%

Band 8B 9 0.64% 2 0.22% 0.48%

Band 8C 6 0.43% 4 0.44% 0.43%

Band 8D 1 0.07% 1 0.11% 0.09%

CEO/Dirs 4 0.28% 2 0.22% 0.26%

Other 3 0.21% 4 0.44% 0.30%

Summary of Workforce 
by Religion and Belief

Headcount Headcount%

Atheism 248 8.87%

Buddhism 7 0.25%

Christianity 1,164 41.63%

Hinduism 1 0.04%

I do not wish to disclose 
my religion/belief

1,250 44.71%

Islam 7 0.25%

Other 118 4.22%

Sikhism 1 0.04%

Organisation 
Length 
of Service 
Distribution

Male 
Headcount

% Male 
Headcount

Female 
Headcount

% Female 
Headcount

Total 
Headcount

% Total 
headcount

0-1 yrs 156 11.03% 142 15.59% 298 12.82%

01-05 yrs 458 32.39% 363 39.85% 821 35.31%

06-10 yrs 264 18.67% 196 21.51% 460 19.78%

11-15 yrs 174 12.31% 100 10.98% 274 11.78%

16-20 yrs 136 9.62% 45 4.94% 181 7.85%

21-25 yrs 107 7.57% 54 5.93% 161 6.92%

26-30 yrs 67 4.74% 10 1.10% 77 3.31%

31-35 yrs 42 2.97% 1 0.11% 43 1.85%

36-40 yrs 8 1.93% 0 0% 8 0.34%

40+ 2 0.14% 0 0% 2 0.09%

Total 1414 911 2325
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Starters Gender/ 
BME* Detail

New starter 
headcount 

Headcount % BME Headcount Headcount %

Male 174 54.40% 4 2.31%

Female 143 45.60% 5 3.47%

Total 317 100% 9 2.84%

Starters Age 
Distribution 
Detail

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

16-20 14 8.09% 14 9.72% 28 8.83%

21-25 29 16.76% 39 27.08% 68 21.45%

26-30 28 16.18% 26 18.05% 54 17.03%

31-35 14 8.09% 9 6.25% 23 7.26%

36-40 12 6.94% 22 15.28% 34 10.73%

41-45 16 9.25% 15 10.42% 31 9.78%

46-50 15 8.67% 9 6.25% 24 7.57%

51-55 20 11.56% 3 2.08% 23 7.26%

56-60 21 12.14% 4 2.79% 25 7.88%

61-65 4 2.32% 3 2.08% 7 2.21%

66-70 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

The following tables show the information for all new starters who joined our Trust during the period 
1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013.

* Black and Minority Ethnic

Starters Reli-
gious Detail

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

Atheist 39 22.14% 30 20.98% 69 21.77%

Christian 108 62.20% 73 51.05% 181 57.10%

I do not wish 
to disclose 
my religion/ 
belief

14 8.20% 18 12.59% 32 10.09%

Islamic 1 0.57% 1 0.70% 2 0.63%

Other 10 5.75% 19 13.28% 29 9.15%

Undefined 2 1.14% 2 1.4% 4

Starters Sexual 
Orientation 
Detail

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

Gay 8 4.6% 0 0% 8 2.52%

Heterosexual 156 89.67% 128 89.51% 284 89.59%

I do not wish 
to disclose 
my sexual 
orientation

7 4.02% 9 6.29% 16 5.05%

Lesbian 0 0% 4 2.80% 4 1.26%

Bisexual 1 0.57% 0 0% 1 0.32%

Undefined 2 1.14% 2 1.40% 4 1.26%

Starters  
Disabled 
Declaration

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

No 156 89.68% 130 90.92% 286 90.23%

Not Declared 3 1.72% 3 2.08% 6 1.89%

Undefined 6 3.44% 5 3.5% 11 3.47%

Yes 9 5.16% 5 3.5% 14 4.41%

Leavers Data

The following tables show the information for all staff that ceased employment with the Trust during 
the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013.

Leavers Gender Headcount Headcount %

Male 129 58.64%

Female 91 41.36%

Total 220 100.00%
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BME Leavers BME Headcount BME Headcount %

Male 4 3.1%

Female 2 2.2%

Leavers Age 
Distribution 
Detail

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

16-20 5 3.88% 9 9.89% 14 6.36%

21-25 5 3.88% 5 5.49% 10 4.55%

26-30 7 5.43% 11 12.09% 18 8.18%

31-35 13 10.08% 15 16.48% 28 12.73%

36-40 10 7.75% 12 13.19% 22 10%

41-45 9 6.98% 10 10.99% 19 8.64%

46-50 9 6.98% 10 10.99% 19 8.64%

51-55 16 12.40% 6 6.59% 22 10%

56-60 27 20.93% 7 7.70% 34 15.45%

61-65 16 12.40% 6 6.59% 22 10%

66-70 10 7.75% 0 0% 10 4.55%

71 + 2 1.54% 0 0% 2 0.9%

Leavers Reli-
gious Detail

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

Atheist 22 17% 7 9.09% 13 16.88%

Christianity 13 14.29% 12 15.58% 35 45.45%

Hinduism 35 32.07% 0 0.00% 1 1.30%

I do not wish 
to disclose 
my religion/ 
belief

72 55.81% 7 9.09% 23 29.87%

Other 43 47.25% 0 0.00% 1 1.30%

Undefined 115 52.27% 1 1.30% 3 3.90%

Islam 1 0.78% 1 1.30% 1 1.30%

Leavers 
Sexual Orien-
tation Detail

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

Gay 5 3.88% 0 0% 0 0%

Heterosexual 96 74.42%% 5 2.27% 51 63.49%

I do not wish 
to disclose 
my sexual 
orientation

65 71.43% 161 73.18% 25 33.33%

Lesbian 0 0% 4 4.39% 4 1.82%

Undefined 1 0.78%% 1 1.30% 1 0.79%

Leavers Disa-
bled Declara-
tions

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

No 86 66.67% 66 72.53% 152 69.09%

Not Declared 32 24.81% 23 25.27% 55 25%

Undefined 1 0.78% 0 0% 1 0.46%

Yes 10 7.74% 2 2.20% 12 5.15%

Leavers by 
Length of 
Service

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

0-01 yrs 31 24.03% 29 31.87% 60 27.27%

01-05 yrs 54 41.86% 41 45.05% 95 43.18%

06-10 yrs 7 5.43% 5 5.50% 12 5.45%

11-15 yrs 8 6.24% 4 4.40% 12 5.45%

16-20 yrs 5 3.86% 4 4.40% 9 4.1%

21-25 yrs 5 3.86% 6 6.58% 11 5.0%

26-30 yrs 7 5.43% 1 1.10% 8 3.64%

31-35 yrs 7 5.43% 1 1.10% 8 3.64%

36-40 yrs 5 3.86% 0 0% 5 2.27%

Leavers by 
Leaving Rea-
son

Head-
count 
Male

% Male 
Head-
count

Head-
count 

Female

% Female 
Head-
count

Head-
count 
Total

% Total 
Head-
count

Death in 
Service

5 3.88% 1 1.1% 6 2..73%

Dismissal - 
Capability

0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
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Dismissal - 
Conduct

5 3.88% 2 2.2% 7 3.18%

Dismissal - 
Some Other 
Substantial 
Reason

2 1.55% 0 0% 2 0.90%

End of Fixed 
Term  
Contract

3 2.33% 2 2.2% 5 2.27%

Redundancy - 
Compulsory

0 0% 1 1.1% 1 0.45%

Retirement 
Age

22 17.05% 3 3.3% 25 11.36%

TUPE Transfer 3 2.33% 18 19.8% 21 9.55%

VELS 2 1.55% 1 1.1% 3 1.36%

Voluntary 
Early  
Retirement - 
with Actuarial 
Reduction

21 16.23% 3 3.3% 24 10.91%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Adult  
Dependents

0 0% 1 1.1% 1 0.45%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Better Reward  
Package

4 3.15% 6 6.6% 10 4.55%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Child  
Dependents

0 0% 2 2.2% 2 0.90%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Health

1 0.75% 1 1.1% 2 0.90%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Other/ 
Unknown

34 26.45% 20 22.0% 54 24.61%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Promotion

1 0.75% 5 5.5% 6 2.73%

Voluntary 
Resignation - 
Relocation

7 5.4% 3 3.3% 10 4.55%

Establishment (March 31st 2013) Actual staff (March 31st 2013)

2220.65 2147.94 (2268)

Our optimum workforce numbers

We monitor what we believe our ideal number of staff would be. We call this ideal number the 
‘establishment’. We have closely monitored how many staff we actually employ against the number 
of staff we would ideally like to have in order to operate our Trust at maximum efficiency. The table 
below shows our establishment and actual staffing levels as of March 31st 2013:

Voluntary 
Resignation 
– undertake 
further  
education

0 0 1 1.1 1 0.45

Voluntary 
Resignation 
- Work Life 
Balance

7 5.4 12 13.19 19 8.65
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Quality governance in the North East 
Ambulance Service

At the North East Ambulance Service we aim to 
put quality at the heart of everything we do, 
and our authorisation as a Foundation Trust and 
failures such as that in Mid-Staffordshire has only 
served to concentrate our focus on quality. We 
interpret our Board of Directors’ responsibilities 
for quality as follows:

•	 To ensure that the essential standards 
of quality and safety (as determined by 
CQC’s registration requirements) are at a 
minimum being met by every service that the 
organisation delivers;

•	 To ensure that the organisation is striving for 
continuous quality improvement and high 
quality clinical outcomes; and

•	 To ensure that every member of staff that has 
contact with patients or whose actions directly 
impact on patient care, is motivated and 
enabled to deliver effective, safe and  
person-centred care. 

During 2012/13, we have assessed ourselves to 

ensure that we have robust quality governance 

underpinned by our procedures and policies.  

During two bespoke sessions in December and 

March, the Board of Directors asked themselves 

some key questions about the quality of services 

we are delivering, such as:

•	 Does quality drive the Trust’s strategy?

•	 Does the Board have the necessary leadership, 
skills and knowledge to ensure delivery of the 
quality agenda?

•	 Are there clearly defined, well understood 
processes for escalating and resolving issues 
and managing quality performance?

•	 Is appropriate quality information being 
analysed and challenged?

•	 Is quality information used effectively?

•	 Are there clearly defined, well-understood 
processes for escalating and resolving issues 
and managing quality performance?

•	 Does the Board actively engage patients, staff 
and other key stakeholders on quality?

The Board then identified evidence to support each 

component within Monitor’s Quality Governance 

Framework and undertook its own assessment 

against best practice. This means that when the 

Trust has to certify to Monitor (our regulator) that it 

meets the requirements of the ‘Quality Governance 

Framework’, it can do so confidently. 

In December 2012, the Care Quality Commission 

undertook a routine, unannounced, inspection to 

check that essential standards of quality and safety 

were being met in the following areas: 

•	 Consent to care and treatment

•	 Care and welfare of people who use services

•	 Cleanliness and infection control

•	 Requirements relating to workers

•	 Complaints

The Board of Directors was pleased that the Trust 

was compliant in all five areas.

The Trust knows of no material inconsistencies 

between our Annual Governance Statement, our 

annual and quarterly Board statements which are 

required by Monitor as part of their Compliance 

Framework, our Quality Report, Annual Report and 

the Care Quality Commission’s Essential Standards 

of Quality and Safety.

A year with us

Our patients often contact us to let us know about their experience of our service:

A&E “I was taken to * Hospital, suffering from a heart attack, then from 
a cardiac arrest. Your two staff were wonderful - they saved my life and 
all the time they were kind and reassuring and gave me confidence that 
I would survive. Please believe me to be very grateful indeed.”

North East Resident, February 2013

NHS 111 Urgent Care Service – “I rang 111 and spoke to one of your 
advisers who was both reassuring and helpful... I just wanted to let 
you know how impressed I am with how the 111 service worked and 
how professional and thorough the call handler was. I would also like 
to thank the crew that came out and reinforce what a professional 
and caring group staff you have working for your organisation.”

North East Resident, Cleveland, February 2013

Patient Transport Service: ”I would like to send sincere thanks to all 
your staff who gave us such excellent, care and compassion during 
a very hard time for us service. I can’t name just one and they were 
from several depots but I can say that the Ambulance service should 
be proud of every single one of them.”

North East Resident, Co. Durham, February 2013



for the year ending 31st March 2013

Quality Report
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Introduction to NEAS 
and the services we provide

The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) covers the counties 
of Northumberland, Tyne and Wear, Durham and Teesside – an area of around 3,230 
square miles. We employ over 2,200 people and serve a population of 2.6 million.

We provide emergency ambulance services and 
non-emergency transport and respond to 999 calls 
for people in the north east of England. From April 
2013 we also started to respond to NHS 111 calls for 
all those people living in the North East.

Our headquarters is based at Newburn Riverside 
business park, to the west of Newcastle upon Tyne 
city centre.  These headquarters house the Patient 
Transport Service (PTS) contact centre and a large 
number of our support services staff. We split 
our 999 and NHS 111 contact centre between our 
headquarters site and our site at Russell House in 
South Tyneside. We can also take calls at Scotswood 
House, where our training department is based.

We currently have 64 locations, including 56 
emergency-care ambulance stations. A number of 
these stations also house non-emergency Patient 
Transport Service (PTS) employees and vehicles and, 
to save public money, we share some of our sites 
with fire and rescue services.

We have a fleet of various vehicles to cover the 
different areas we serve in terms of population 
and geography. We can adapt to road conditions 
in urban and rural areas and can respond in all 
weather situations. Our fleet of emergency-care 
vehicles is made up of over 195 vehicles and we 
have 232 non-emergency vehicles within the PTS.  

Our performance during 2012/2013 has remained 
strong. We have met all the targets in the service-
performance areas, including achieving both 
category-A8 and -A19 performance targets.  
We also met our financial obligations in 2012/ 2013.

We became a foundation trust in November 2011 
and have received feedback from Monitor, the 
healthcare regulator, on how we are performing. 
Monitor rated us as ‘Green’ for compliance 
(meeting the relevant standards) and we received 
a financial risk rating of 4 (where 1 represents the 
highest risk and 5 the lowest) for 2012/2013.

Our vision, shown below in our ‘house diagram’, 
is: “To make a difference by integrating care and 
transport in pursuit of equity and excellence for 
our patients”. To make sure we achieve our vision, 
we have set ourselves priorities. These are:

•	 to take the lead in providing emergency care

•	 The quality of our care

•	 to be a key partner in changing the face of 
urgent care; and

•	 to transform our patient transport services.

We are continuing to take significant steps towards 
achieving our vision with the NHS 111 service for 
the North East. NHS 111 is a 24-hour helpline for 
the public when they urgently need medical help or 
advice but the situation is not life-threatening. Our 
governors, directors and staff see this as a ground-
breaking opportunity to change the way urgent 
care is provided and build reliable ways of providing 
care, working with others who also provide urgent 
and community care. So far we have been successful 
in putting the 111 service into practice, doing better 
than the national targets. We want our NHS 111 
service to not only be the first choice for patients 
but also for other professionals and carers, to make 
sure our patients get the ‘right care at the right 
place at the right time’. 

Over the next two years, we will be strengthening and improving our emergency response 
service, introducing an ‘intermediate tier’ to our transport services (to take patients, on a 
GP’s advice, to hospital) and developing better ways of providing urgent care which will 
give us alternatives to hospital. We are still fully committed to continuing to improve the 
quality of services to our patients and we hope that we can continue this through our 
yearly corporate strategy and the priorities identified in this quality report.
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Introduction to 
quality within NEAS

We have a strong track record for delivering high-quality, good-value patient care 
and we plan to build on that in 2013/2014 by taking forward every opportunity to 
continue to improve patient care.

Like all NHS organisations we have closely 
reviewed the recommendations of the second 
Francis Inquiry into Mid-Staffordshire hospitals.  
We will continue to put the patients at the heart  
of everything we do, delivering effective clinical 
care as well as excellent patient experience.  
In line with the Francis Inquiry recommendations, 
our quality report provides full and accurate 
information about how we are keeping to the 
fundamental standards of quality and safety 
and our aim to deliver quality to patients in 
everything that we do.

To help us develop the priorities, we hold a 
Quality Report Task and Finish Group made  
up of governors and staff who shared their 
views and those of the people they represent.  
We consulted the local involvement networks  
(LINks), the regional Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) and our commissioners  
when deciding on the final list.

We felt it was important to make sure that the 
priorities were in line with our business plans 
so that we could support real improvements.  
It was also important, where possible, to be able 
to measure the priorities and to compare our 
performance against past results and against  
the performance of other ambulance trusts.

This year has seen us further develop our 
arrangements for governing the way we work 
through the Quality Committee. They will 
monitor the progress of our plans to deliver our 
clinical governance, quality and patient safety 
strategy. The purpose of the Quality Committee  
is to give the Board an independent review of, 
and reassurance about, the following:

•	 All aspects of the quality of services, 
particularly clinical effectiveness and how we 
will maintain this over the long term, patient  
experience and patient safety, and monitoring 
whether we meet essential standards of 
quality and safety set by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). 

•	 Improvements in quality and patient safety – 
making sure these are central to all our activities.

•	 How we encourage and monitor high-quality, 
clinically safe patient care.

•	 Whether we are meeting our own and other 
quality and clinical improvement targets, and 
the action management should take if we are 
not meeting these targets.

•	 Whether we are meeting the committee’s 
legal, mandatory and regulatory requirements.

Making sure that the clinical governance, 
quality and patient safety strategy covers:

•	 the experience of patients and the public,  
including how a patient’s care is planned 
and the situation in which care is given; 

•	 how information is used in terms of 
patient experience, resources, process  
and outcomes;

•	 improvements in quality, including the 
clinical audit programme, decisions made 
based on research studies (evidence-based 
practices), the way we manage risk, and 
learning from incidents and complaints;

•	 staffing and staff management,  
education, training and continuing 
professional development.

•	 the leadership strategy and planning,   
including involving the community 
and patients and clinical leadership.

•	 leadership strategy and planning, 
including involving the community  
and patients and clinical leadership.

The Quality Committee is attended by the 
Director of Clinical Care and Patient Safety  
and is chaired by a non-executive director.  
Towards the end of 2012/2013, we formed a 
quality review group with our commissioners  
to provide assurance of joined-up working  
and quality across the region.

Statement of quality from Chief 
Executive: our senior employee

This is our fourth quality report and our second as a foundation trust. We have 
prepared it under the National Health Service (Quality Reports) Regulations 2010.  

We have reviewed all the information available on the quality of care in all core services and, 
as far as we know, the information in this report is accurate. This quality report for 2012/2013 
includes a quality review which tells you how we did in 2012/2013. It sets out how we will  
continue to deliver high-quality healthcare services in 2013/2014.

The report gives details of some of the progress we are making in achieving our vision. Last year 
we identified a number of areas where we would make improvements and this report describes 
the progress we have made. Also, we identify new priorities for the coming year, which we have 
chosen after careful discussion with those with an interest in our work. We will report on our 
progress in next year’s quality report. 

The report describes a number of successes. However, we are not going to just sit back.  
We recognise that we can always make further improvements. Part of this is about maintaining 
and improving our response times and improving our performance with the national ambulance 
quality indicators (AQI). These are measures of performance which will help us to show the quality 
of care that we provide and to focus on improving the quality of our services. This will help us to 
improve the care we provide for our patients by making sure that our staff have the right skills 
and training to properly care for and treat patients.  

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive
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An Introduction to our 
Quality Report

In 2009, the Department of Health (DoH) ruled that all NHS provider trusts must 
publish a quality report every year. The purpose of the report is to show our 
commitment to quality and for others to hold us to account. Quality is broken down 
into three areas:
The purpose of the Quality Report is to show our 
commitment to quality and for others 
to hold us to account. Quality is broken down 
into three areas:

•	 Patient safety

•	 Clinical effectiveness

•	 Patient experience

This report reviews our performance for 

2012/2013 and sets out our main priorities 

for 2013/2014

We are yet to agree targets and associated 

payments with commissioners for the 2013/2014 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

(CQUIN) scheme.

‘This Quality Report reviews 
 our performance for 2012/2013  
 and sets out our main priorities 
 for 2013/2014.’

Review of the 2011/2012 Quality Report 
priorities: our performance in 2012/2013

Patient Safety

Priority 1 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013

To develop better 
methods of collecting 
patients’ views and 
use a ‘net promoter 
score’

We measured patient 
experience using postal 
surveys each year for users 
of PTS as well as other 
postal surveys for specific 
services such as renal 
dialysis.

A combination of work 
with North East Quality 
Observatory and the 
publication of the NHS 
Operating Framework for 
2011/12 prompted us to 
focus our attention on 
improving the way we  
measure patient experience 
and make this a priority for 
future quality reports.

We used a number of 
methods to get patients’ 
views of our services, doing 
so shortly after their care:
•	 Telephone survey  for 

NHS 111

•	 Postal surveys  
for PTS

•	 Focus Groups  
for PTS

•	 Questionnaires 
for those who use 
emergency services

We developed a new way 
of  measuring patient 
experience.

We set up a pilot in 2012-
2013 with North of Tyne 
Patient Advice and Liaison 
Service (PALS) at Newcastle’s 
Royal Victoria Infirmary 
to test this new method. 
PALS volunteers and staff 
were trained to survey 
ambulance patients arriving 
by emergency and PTS 
ambulances.

Priority 2 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013

Percentage of 
patients treated by 
appropriate healthcare 
professionals: Hear 
and treat 

3.8% 3.3% 4.0%

Percentage of 
patients treated using 
appropriate healthcare 
professionals see and 
treat 

35.2% 32.7% 30.7%

Effectiveness

Priority 3 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013

Redcar rural  
performance 

73.01% 77.53% 71.46%

County Durham rural 
performance

63.38% 66.95% 65.63%

Northumberland rural  
performance

67.18% 67.79% 68.22%

Effectiveness

Priority 4 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013

To effectively use the 
new emergency-care 
trauma pathways 
within the North East 
(number of patients 
transferred to urgent 
care centres)

Does not apply Does not apply 1673 patients
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Priorities for the year 
ending 31st March 2014

To make our quality report useful to, and include, all readers, we asked a wide 
range of organisations and others with an interest, including our Board of directors, 
our staff, the local involvement networks (LINks), the regional Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and our commissioners, how we could make the three areas of quality, 
patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience, meaningful to them. 

Our aim was to develop a report which was shaped by patients, the public and our staff so that they 
had an opportunity to understand, contribute to and promote quality within NEAS. We considered 
their feedback and agreed on seven local priority areas for 2013/2014. 
  

We used the framework in 2012/2013 to develop a way of 
working. We then refined this using feedback from PALS and 
patient groups and it is now ready to be put into practice across 
our service area. We will also introduce new methods this year, 
such as text messaging and website surveys, for patients to give 
us their experiences.
Patient stories can also help build understanding that is based on 
actual experience. Stories can stimulate reflection and lead to us 
developing new ideas. Stories can have three important qualities.
 
1. They are memorable and can be powerful incentives for change.

2. Because stories describe direct experience, they can change a 
listener’s understanding by offering fresh insights that the listener 
may associate with due to their own experience and knowledge.

3. Stories can cross boundaries and appeal to a broad range of 
audiences. From this point of view, stories appear particularly 
helpful for multi-disciplinary teams (MDT) with members from a 
wide variety of personal and professional backgrounds.

After reviewing the findings of the second Francis Inquiry into 
Mid-Staffordshire hospitals, these stories are still as important 
as ever. This priority will aim to help ordinary people tell their 
stories so that those who create and put plans into action in 
NEAS, as well as the professionals and clinicians directly involved 
in care, may carry out their duties in a more informed and 
compassionate way.

Reason for doing this Patients’ experience of our service can be very different from what 
we plan or assume it to be and they can tell us what works, what 
does not work and what could be done better. As a result, this 
priority builds on the work carried out previously and aims to roll out 
the survey of our patients across the region after the success of the 
pilot developed by working with the Royal Victoria Infirmary (RVI).

Patient Safety

Priority 1 Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

Demonstrate ways to gather and measure the patient experience across our region and 
learn about patient experiences by recording patient stories in emergency care,  

PTS and from our contact centre.

Developed new ways of 
measuring patient experience.

Test out methodology at Royal 
Victoria Infirmary (RVI) to see 
if it is effective before rolling it 
out across the North East Region 
in 2013/2014.

Built a relationship with PALS in 
putting the survey into practice.

We worked with other 
ambulance trusts to develop 
national agreement to use the 
‘friends and family test’ as a 
benchmark.

We will roll out a survey 
across the North East region.

We will develop and put 
into practice a text-message 
service and website-based 
questionnaire.

We will set up a baseline 
measure for 2014/2015 for 
PTS and emergency care.

We will develop and test 
telephone and postal 
surveys to measure callers’ 
experience of our contact 
centre.

We will hold a postal survey 
of emergency-care and PTS 
patients.

We will report patient stories 
back to commissioners for 
each of the three service 
lines.

Patient Safety

Priority 2

To work with healthcare professionals to improve the way patient transport needs 
 are managed.

Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

Vehicles arriving within 60 
minutes of request

52% To increase

Vehicles arriving within 120 
minutes of request

63% To increase

Vehicles arriving within 240 
minutes of request

76% To increase

Urgent transport requests are for those patients who are referred 
by a doctor or other healthcare professional (HCP), usually from 
the patient’s home to a place of treatment such as an acute 
hospital, or a non-emergency transfer between hospitals. The time 
period within which transport is needed is agreed with the person 
making the referral and is usually between one and four hours.
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Reason for doing this A good ambulance service will often carry out surveys about 
the experiences of users, and act on this feedback. While there 
is strong positive feedback of the PTS, one common negative 
response relates to transport times not being linked  
to appointment times.

Currently the PTS service works to banding times except in Tees 
which works to appointment times. This means that except for 
Tees, PTS ambulances are scheduled to deliver patients to hospitals 
twice in the morning and once in the afternoon, and collect 
patients from hospitals once in the morning and twice in the 
afternoon.  This is at odds with hospital outpatient services where 
patients have individual appointment times spread through the 
day. The banding time model of transport can lead to patients 
waiting unnecessarily long in hospital.

The appointment-based PTS model which we operate in the Tees 
area is more consistent with the trust’s vision by having a patient-
centred service delivering patients to their destination at the ‘right 
time’.

To make sure PTS delivers a high-quality service that meets the 
needs of its patients, we need to change the way we work to 
make sure that we can transport patients to hospital on time for 
their appointments.

Reason for doing this Delays in transferring the care of a patient from an ambulance 
crew to hospital staff can potentially harm patients waiting for an 
ambulance response in the community and because delays waste 
valuable NHS resources. In the past, these delays happened only 
in times of extreme pressure during the winter months as pressure 
builds in acute settings from increased levels of activity. However, 
this year we have seen an increase in the number of delays 
affecting patients. 
 
To recognise this increase, we held a summit with people from 
across the health community. There was a willingness to work 
together to tackle the issues and a number of actions have been 
put into practice immediately. This includes appointing two 
temporary posts to review the systems of care in the region and 
put improvements into practice. Although we are employing these 
people, they will be working with all agencies.

This indicator is very important to us because we saw the 
performance against the eight-minute standard for red calls 
deteriorate significantly during December 2012 when hospital 
turnaround delays were very high. All organisations in the North 
East recognise that this is an issue. Our figures show a strong link 
between delays at hospitals and us not achieving the national 
target for ambulances to respond to 75% of emergency incidents 
within eight minutes. It is important for us to spend some time 
on this priority and work with acute hospitals to sort out the 
problems, improve service for our patients and reduce the 
time patients are waiting for an ambulance to respond to their 
incident.

We have written a report that measures the handover time 
based on staff using information technology in every emergency 
department across the North East. We are working with the acute 
hospitals to make sure that the figures are accurate and that we 
take action to deal with any concerns across the region.

Patient Safety

Priority 4

Work with the acute trusts to reduce the effect of hospital turnaround delays to make sure 
patients have a positive and safe experience.

Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

Number of delays over  
60 minutes

6365 To reduce

Number of delays over 
120 minutes

465 To reduce

Priority 3

To introduce an appointment-based patient transport service through 2013/2014, across 
the entire NEAS area.

Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

To take patients to their 
clinical appointment so they 
are no more than 45 minutes 
early and no more than 15 
minutes late

Does not apply 75%

We have experienced delays in responding to ‘GP urgent requests’ 
due to increased demand in emergency cases. The A&E review, 
which recognised the need to develop a dedicated urgent service, 
should tackle this issue when it is put in place in April 2013. We 
have made a number of other changes to our dispatch services in 
an effort to reduce these delays. These include: 

•	 A new script for those who take calls to find out at the 
beginning of the call whether the patient can be transported 
by PTS, NEAS car or taxi;

•	 recruiting someone in the contact centre to work only with 
urgent patients so that they get the priority of response they 
need;

•	 better monitoring and recording, and putting in place 
a system of ‘ring backs’ to check the patient’s condition 
and where appropriate a clinical triage and an emergency 
response if there is a delay in the urgent response; and

•	 providing more vehicles with appropriately trained staff, 
particularly at the weekend, to transport patients.
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Reason for doing this Other areas we will focus on to reduce turnaround delays include:

•	 Developing a divert and deflection policy, which ensure that 
ambulances do not attend to hospitals where there is likely to 
be a delay in patient handover;

•	 Making sure there are appropriate procedures in place for 
providing care;

•	 Developing the process of handing patients over and 
turnaround times with individual acute trust providers;

•	 Developing a system to help keep accurate records of when 
patients are handed over;

•	 Identifying problematic areas, periods of time, and so on, by 
analysing information; and

•	 Holding rapid process improvement workshops (RPIW) with 
hospitals to help improve services.

We are also continuing to work with alcohol services in County 
Durham and Darlington to look at those callers who are frequently 
admitted to emergency departments with alcohol-related incidents 
and who already have an alcohol treatment plan in place. The idea 
is to explore the possibility of crews being able to directly refer the 
patients into the hospital alcohol service.

Priority 5

Lead the work with those with an interest in our services to deliver support, both medical 
and social, to high-intensity users (see below) to make sure that they get the most appro-

priate response in the most appropriate place to meet their needs.

Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

Number of patients 
flagged on system as 
high-intensity users

Does not apply Set baseline

Reason for doing so We have ongoing work with high-intensity users which are mainly 
managed by our Customer Care Department. Although there Is 
currently no recognised definition of what is a frequent caller 
to 999, callers are identified on an individual basis by crews, call 
takers or from various multi-agency meetings that are held with a 
number of other organisations including social services, GPs, acute 
trusts and the police. 

High-intensity users rely heavily on resources that could otherwise 
be delivering an emergency response to those in greater need. 
They also represent an ineffective use of health resources, 
particularly where ambulance attendance is linked to hospital 
attendance. It may also be that they have an unidentified medical 
need which the wider health and social-care community needs to 
tackle.

Current cases are managed after an MDT meeting depending on 
the circumstances of the individuals.

We have recently begun working with Yorkshire Ambulance 
Service and York University to look at a way of identifying 
potential frequent callers and looking at trends and patterns of 
calls. However, the work is at a very early stage. All ambulance 
trusts have been invited to a national conference to discuss ideas 
and look at agreeing a national definition of what is classed as a 
high-intensity user of 999 services and to share ideas for managing 
this group of patients.

Clinical effectiveness

Priority 6

Explore with commissioners a system and structure which supports putting individual 
treatment plans (ITPs) into action and new ways of caring for patients.

Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

Review ITPS every month Does not apply 10 ITPs each month

Reason for doing so The Government’s approach to delivering a new NHS is based 
on a set of main principles. Their aim is to create an NHS which 
responds much better to patients and achieves better outcomes, 
with more power to act at each level as well as more responsibility. 
The new CCGs need to have an overview of the commissioning 
processes as a ‘whole system’ and what this means in practice so 
that they can develop plans to achieve successful outcomes. As 
a result, CCGs need to work together to plan and deliver better 
local services to make sure that patients enjoy the highest quality, 
responsive, affordable and personalised services, shaped directly 
by the patients as service users.

Individual treatment plans need a joined-up system with effective 
arrangements for governing them to make sure that they are of 
high quality and safe.

Some of the intentions for 2013/2014 relate to redesigning 
signposting to specific care providers which need involvement 
from the wider NHS, and local-authority and voluntary-sector 
organisations. We have said to commissioners that we are happy 
to be involved in any reviews that are to be carried out.

We also contribute towards numerous clinical, operational, strategic 
and involvement meetings with various people across the region 
on an ongoing basis. And, we respond to invitations to one-off 
meetings, discussions and consultations about specific issues.
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Priority 7

More use of other options (other than going to an emergency department) during 2013/14 
if other options are available.

Baseline 2012/2013 Target 2013/2014

The number of patients 
treated using other  
options: See and Treat

30.7% To increase

An important issue facing the NHS is the increasing demand for 
emergency care. The rise in demand cannot be sustained and the 
use of more appropriate options is critical at a time when costs and 
workforce pressures are rising.

As an ambulance service, we have a central role to play in the entire 
urgent- and emergency-care system. Traditionally, the ambulance 
service has been seen mainly as a call-handling and transportation 
service, which did cover some aspects of patient care. However, 
increasingly we are recognised as having a wider role, making sure that 
patients can access the right care, at the right place in the right time.

Providing clinical advice to callers − known as ‘hear and treat’– 
treating patients at the scene – ‘see and treat’– and taking patients 
to a wider range of places providing appropriate care (other than 
emergency departments) can help ease the pressures on emergency 
care by reducing the number of people taken to hospital.

We have a number of initiatives planned to increase the use of 
other options. Together, we hope these will result in more people 
using these other options.

•	 We will appoint a clinical development manager to review the 
options available and contact the commissioners and providers 
of other options. They will develop a clinical guidelines 
booklet which operational staff can use to help them make 
decisions about using other options.

•	 We will evaluate improved ways of delivering clinical 
assessment and referral educational (CARe). The aim of this 
programme is to give team leaders better skills in assessing 
and treating patients, to help them use other options and 
decide not to transport patients if this is appropriate.

•	 We will increase the number of requests made to the logistics 
desk in the control room for searches of other options on the 
directory of services.

•	 We will set up a clinical hub of clinical staff in the contact 
centre to support staff who have to make decisions on what 
priority to give cases bearing in mind the person’s mental 
ability and ability to give consent. They will also need to 
consider other care options.

How we will measure, 
monitor and report on all 
of our priorities

We will report to the Quality Committee on our progress on the 
quality priorities for the year ahead. The Governance and Risk 
Committee will receive an update at each of their meetings and 
our Board of directors will monitor the progress of the priorities 
at meetings twice a year. We will draw up an action plan for the 
quality report, to take action and report on any areas which need 
to improve. The Performance Team will keep a track of this. Also, 
we will update our full council of governors, Overview and Scrutiny 
committees and healthwatch and members of NEAS. We will 
continue to build our dashboard that monitors the quality of our 
service and our quality reporting mechanisms to monitor progress.
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The views of patients, public and staff

We recognise the value of listening to patients, 
public and staff when setting our quality 
priorities. When producing this report we have 
involved everyone who has an interest in our 
organisation. This has been a continuing process 
throughout the financial year.

After we published the 2011/2012 quality report, 
we produced a short questionnaire to get 
feedback from the public and staff about  
what quality meant to them.  
 
Below are the questions we asked.

•	 How do you rate the Quality Report?

•	 How do you rate our involvement with 
stakeholders in producing the 2011/2012 
Quality Report?

•	 How easy is the Quality Report to read?

•	 Do you agree we have taken into account 
local views in setting our priorities for the 
Quality Report?

•	 Do you feel any of the statements in part 2 
(Statements of assurance) helped to tell the 
trust’s story of quality improvement?

•	 Have you any suggestions for making the 
Quality Report easier to read (for example, 
plainer language, less jargon)?

•	 Do you feel that the graphs and charts used 
were useful to illustrate the data included in 
the Quality Report?

•	 Do you feel confident that the information 
presented was a true and accurate reflection 
of the trust?

•	 Have you used the trust website to read the 
Quality Report or to leave feedback?

•	 Do you have any general comments you want 
to make on the 2011/2012 Quality Report?

•	 Do you have any suggestions for the 2012/2013 
Quality Report?

Some of the comments we received said the 
latest Quality Report was too long, too wordy 
and too complicated and difficult to read 

with too many graphs. Some stakeholders felt 
improving the care of people with dementia 
should be a priority area. 

Throughout 2011/2012 we attended four LINks 
(Local Involvement Network) meetings and one 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting to 
help us collect views on the priority areas for 
2012/2013. We also set up a Governor Task and 
Finish Group and a staff working group to involve 
people further.

When making a shortlist of the priority areas we 
sent the draft list to all stakeholders and asked 
for feedback. All the feedback that we received 
agreed that the areas we had identified were 
areas where improving quality would further 
improve our services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Involving those with 
an interested in our work

What we have done as a result of the 
feedback we have received

•	 We have asked Hippo Creative solutions, 
a graphic design company, to design the 
appearance of our report for 2012/2013, 
making sure it is easy to read for people 
who are colour-blind. 

•	 We have illustrated the report with patients’ 
stories – this helps make the account more  
‘real’ and accessible.
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Plain English Campaign’s Crystal Mark does not apply to the blue text in this 
section as this is set out in regulations.

The Department of Health identifies a number of mandatory statements 
(statements which we have to include by law) that we must report on. The 
information also gives assurance that the Board has reviewed and taken part in 
initiatives which link strongly to improving services.

During 2012/2013 the North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) provided three 
relevant health services. The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all 
the data available to them on the quality of care in all three of these relevant health services.

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2012/2013 represents 97.5 per cent of the 
total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by NEAS for 2012/2013.

The data reviewed within the quality report covers the area of patient experience, patient safety 
and clinical effectiveness, where data has not been available this has been indicated.

Clinical Audit

•	 We will make changes to clinical practice 
where necessary to improve the care we give 
to patients and to keep to best practice.

•	 We will continue to give feedback to, and 
receive it from, front-line staff where clinical 
guidelines have not been followed, so that we 
know any improvements we suggest will be 
carried out. 

•	 We will coach and mentor any front-line staff 
who need support.

•	 We will continue to audit call-handling in our 
contact centres so that we know patients are 
being prioritised correctly and the appropriate 
triage (assessment) is being given.

•	 We will carry out further audits of patient 
report forms and electronic patient report 
forms to make sure there are no clinical risks 
when crews decide, based on a patient’s 
symptoms, not to take them to hospital or to 
treat a child under two years old.  

This audit will also show that front-line staff 
are correctly recording what they do.

•	 We will continue to audit life-threatening 
incidents which had a response time of more 
than 20 minutes to find out why there was a 
delay and where we can make improvements. 

•	 We will continue to audit patients who:

•	 a) contact us again within 24 hours after they 
were given advice during their initial call; and

•	 b) contact us again within 24 hours after they 
have been treated at the scene of the incident, 
when the rate of recontact is above the 
national average, to make sure there was no 
risk to them.

Clinical audit aims to improve patient 
care and outcomes by reviewing the care 
that we give. It tries to find out if things 
are being done correctly and asks  
‘Are we following best practice?’.

During 2012/2013 44 national clinical audits 
and 0 national confidential enquiries covered 
relevant health services that NEAS provides.

During 2012/2013 NEAS participated in 100% 
of national clinical audits and 0% of national 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical 
audits and national confidential enquiries 
which it was eligible to participate in.

The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that NEAS was eligible  
to participate in during 2012/2013 are shown 
within table 1 (Opposite page)

The reports of 44 national clinical audits 
were reviewed by the provider in 2012/2013 
and NEAS intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of  
healthcare provided:

•	 Two quality improvement (QI) officers 
will carry out clinical audits and provide 
feedback to front-line staff where 
improvement is needed. They will visit 
stations, discuss issues arising from the 
clinical audit, organise forums to improve 
quality and workshops to discuss, identify, 

apply, test and monitor appropriate ways 
to improve clinical outcomes and provide 
higher-quality patient care.  

•	 We will continue to communicate with 
staff through ‘The Pulse’ magazine on the 
topic ‘Delivering Quality Care for Patients 
through Care Bundles’, through patient 
care updates, and by putting promotional 
literature, such as leaflets and posters, in 
ambulance stations. 

•	 We will continue to produce information 
on how we are doing at divisional level 
so that we can monitor our progress and 
make improvements where necessary. 

The reports of 10 local clinical audits were 
reviewed by the provider in 2012/2013 and 
NEAS intends to take the following actions to 
improve the quality of healthcare provided;

•	 We will continue to audit how we process 
our paper patient report forms so that we 
are confident the methods we are using 
are accurate. 

•	 We will continue to publish best-practice 
guidance in ‘The Pulse’ and patient care 
updates for front-line staff. 

•	 Our quality improvement officers will 
visit stations to discuss clinical quality 
improvement face-to-face with  
operational staff. 

Table 1 - (Plain English Campaign’s Crystal Mark does not apply to the tables in this section.)

Table 2 - National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiries NEAS Participated in with number 

of cases submitted

Apr 12 May 12 Jun 12 Jul 12 Aug 12 Sep 12 Oct 12 Nov 12 Dec 12 Jan 13 Feb 13 Mar 13

National Clinical Performance Indicators

STEMI

Stroke

Hypoglycaemia

Asthma

Ambulance Quality Indicators

STEMI

Stroke

Cardiac Arrest

Apr 11 May 11 Jun 11 Jul 11 Aug 11 Sep 11 Oct 11 Nov 11 Dec 11 Jan 12 Feb 12 Mar 12

National Clinical Performance Indicators

STEMI  n=78 
(100% of 
our sample 
but NCPIs 
suggest 
a sample 
of 300 if 
available)

 n=66 
(100% of 
our sample 
but NCPIs 
suggest 
a sample 
of 300 if 
available)

Stroke  n=300 
(100%)

 n=300 
(100%)

Hypoglycaemia  n=171 
(100% of 
our sample 
but NCPIs 
suggest 
a sample 
of 300 if 
available)

 n=183 
(100% of 
our sample 
but NCPIs 
suggest 
a sample 
of 300 if 
available)

Asthma  n=78 
(50% of 
our sample 
– NCPIs 
recom-
mend 
300))

 n=194 
(100% of 
our sample 
but NCPIs 
suggest 
a sample 
of 300 if 
available)

Ambulance Quality Indicators

STEMI  n=65 
(100% 
sample)

 n=102 
(100% 
sample)

 n=78
(100% 
sample)

 n=95
(100% 
sample)

 n=106
(100% 
sample)

 n=74
(100% 
sample)

 n=76
(100% 
sample)

 n=67
(100% 
sample)

(incomplete) (incomplete) (incomplete) (incomplete)

Stroke  n=325 
(100% 
sample)

 n=497 
(100% 
sample)

 n=524
(100% 
sample)

 n=494
(100% 
sample)

 n=318
(100% 
sample)

 n=307
(100% 
sample)

 n=239
(100% 
sample)

 n=289
(100% 
sample)

(incomplete) (incomplete) (incomplete) (incomplete)

Cardiac Arrest  n=89 
(100% 
sample)

 n=84
(100% 
sample)

 n=101
(100% 
sample)

 n=110
(100% 
sample)

 n=105
(100% 
sample)

 n=103
(100% 
sample)

 n=118
(100% 
sample)

 n=127
(100% 
sample)

 n=141
(100% 
sample)

(incomplete) (incomplete) (incomplete)

Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions

Statements of  
assurance from the board
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Research and Innovation 

CQUIN

Research helps the NHS to improve the current and future health of the people it serves. It is 
essential in successfully promoting health and plays a major part in continuing to improve the 
services and supporting safe and effective care. It identifies new ways of preventing, diagnosing 
and treating disease (see http://www.nihr.ac.uk/Pages/QualityAccounts.aspx /).  
 
Our involvement with clinical research shows our commitment to testing and offering the latest 
medical treatments and techniques.

The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided by NEAS in 2012/13 that were 
recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 586.

“CQUIN is a national framework for locally agreed quality improvement schemes. 
It enables commissioners to reward excellence by linking a proportion of English 
healthcare provider’s income to the achievement of local quality improvement goals. 
The framework aims to embed quality within commissioner-provider discussions and  
to create a culture of continuous quality improvement, with stretching goals agreed 
in contracts on an annual basis” 

(Department of Health, 2011).

We have agreed our CQUIN framework locally with our commissioners based on areas where we  
feel we can improve quality and increase the number of new working practices. 

A proportion of NEAS income in 2012/2013 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals agreed between NEAS and any person or body they entered into a contract, 
agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health services, through the 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework.  
Further details of the agreed goals for 2012/13 and for the following 12 month period are available 
online at: www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/sites/all/modules/fckeditor/plugins/ktbrowser/_openTKFile.php?id=3275

CQUIN scheme values

2011/2012 2012/2013

CQUIN value (£) £1.43 million £2.3 million

CQUIN achieved (£) £1.38 million Forecast £2.3 million

CQUIN scheme 2012/2013

Indicator

1 Show the measures we have taken to ask patients about their experience and 
develop improvement plans based on that feedback.

2 Increase the number of patients referred or transported to alternative care 
providers rather than A&E.

3 Improve our performance in rural areas.

CQUIN scheme 2013/2014

Indicator

1 Involvement in whole system and pathway reviews with CCGs.

2
Increase the use of alternative dispositions other than A&E during 2013/14 where 

alternative pathways are available.

3 Demonstrate measures to capture & measure the patient experience, and publish 
patient stories.

4 Improvement in emergency response times for patients outside of national target.

5 To improve its responses times to GP urgent transport requests.

6 Reduce the number of PTS journeys that are cancelled on the day of travel.

The number of patients receiving 
NHS services provided by NEAS 
that were recruited to participate 
in research was 586.
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Care Quality Commission

Quality of information

NEAS is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its 
current registration status is registered without conditions.  

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against  
NEAS during 2012/2013.

NEAS has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the 
Care Quality Commission during the reporting period.

In December 2012, the CQC carried out a routine, unannounced inspection 
to check that we met all essential standards of quality and safety.  
 
The review looked at the following.

•	 The patient’s ability to agree to care and treatment.

•	 The care and welfare of people who use services.

•	 The level of cleanliness and infection control.

•	 Requirements relating to workers.

•	 Complaints.

In all five areas the CQC found we kept to the relevant standards.

NEAS was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during the reporting 
period by the Audit Commission.

NEAS will be taking the following actions to improve data quality:

•	 Develop, put into practice and review quality strategies, policies and procedures, 
including our confidentiality audit procedure;

•	 Make sure that all staff are aware of the associated strategies, policies and procedures;

•	 Develop, put into practice and regularly monitor standards for healthcare and corporate records;

•	 Report instances when we do not keep to standards on information quality;

•	 Match up information on trust data sets, billing data sets and Payment by  
Results (PbR) data sets;

•	 Review and update relevant evidence to support the NHS Information Governance 
Toolkit (IGT) and report the group’s progress on IGT initiatives;

•	 Make sure we finish a review of documents describing databases, systems and  
their structure;

•	 Review, develop and improve the way we report on the quality of information  
for 999, PTS and 111 calls to find and correct inaccuracies as they arise;

•	 Review all procedures for reviewing and correcting the quality of information for  
all systems critical to continued service provision.

•	 Review all privileges users have for access to all business critical systems, making 
sure we restrict access to personal identifiable information (PII) wherever possible;

•	 Audit our functions against local procedures by sampling record sets

•	 Make sure all clinical systems keep to the NHS Number Strategy and connect to the  
NHS Demographic Batch Service (DBS) to check a patient’s personal information,  
such as name and date of birth.

NEAS did not submit records during 2012/2013 to the Secondary Uses service 
for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest 
published data.

NEAS Information Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2012/2013 
was 85% and was graded green.

We have a Data Quality Assurance Group which aims to provide an open 
forum to discuss quality across our main systems. They share knowledge and 
expertise in the quality of information and deal with any issues to do with 
the quality of the information.

The group reports directly to the Information Governance Working Group 
and also makes sure we keep to all our legal and regulatory responsibilities 
in terms of what we do.
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Quality review 
of mandatory measures

The following section sets out how we have improved, measured against the six 
mandatory indicators given to us by Monitor. This allows us to compare ourselves with 
other providers and to help you assess whether our performance was good or bad. 
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Category A 

8-minute performance 
Note: the final figures at 
the end of the year can 
alter by up to 0.5% as 
trusts finalise end-of-year 
reporting and checks on 
the quality of information.

Category A 

19-minute performance  
Note: the final figures at 
the end of the year can 
alter by up to 0.5% as 
trusts finalise end-of-year 
reporting and checks on 
the quality of information.

Source:  
www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Statistics/Performancedataandstatistics/AmbulanceQualityIndicators/index.html

Source:  
www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Statistics/Performancedataandstatistics/AmbulanceQualityIndicators/index.html 
Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions

The North East Ambulance Service considers that 
this data is as described for the following reasons:

•	 We follow national guidance and definitions 
for KA34 submissions to the NHS Information 
Centre when producing category-A 
performance information. This information is 
published every month on the DoH statistics 
web pages as part of the AQIs. Ambulance 
trusts review each other’s AQI definitions and 
calculations as part of the yearly workload of 
the NAIG (National Ambulance Information 
Group) to make sure that all are measured 
consistently.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the 
following actions to improve this score and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

•	 Twice weekly trust-wide meetings to monitor 
performance led by the chief operating officer.

•	 Updating performance information every 15 
minutes on the emergency-care score card. 
This information is available to all officers and 
displayed in the contact centre.

•	 Putting extra resources into place across the 
region, but particularly based in our more  
rural areas including Ashington, Cramlington, 
Berwick, Stanley, East Durham and Redcar.

•	 Increasing the use of PTS and voluntary 
drivers to support less critical patients.

•	 Targeted use of other providers such as St John 
Ambulance, British Red Cross and contracted 
taxi firms.

•	 Agreeing a new tender for paramedic services.

•	 Creating an extra desk in the contact centre 
dedicated to managing urgent patients. This 
will free up time for dispatchers to concentrate 
on 999 calls.

•	 Dentifying and training extra community first 
responders in areas of greatest need.

•	 Agreeing the process for when there is a surge 
in demand.
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2010/2011 2011/2012
National  
average 

2012/2013

Trust with 
 lowest

2012/2013

Trust with 
highest

2012/2013

Care bundle delivered 
to patients presenting 
with signs or symptoms 
of a suspected heart 
attack (average)

78% 84.7%* 77.6%*

67.3%*
London 

Ambulance 
Service

94.1%*
Great 

Western 
Ambulance 

Service 

Care bundle delivered 
to patients presenting 
with signs or symptoms 
of a stroke (average)

94% 97.2%* 95.6%*

90.7%*
South 

East Coast 
Ambulance 

Service

100%*
Great 

Western 
Ambulance 

Service 

2010/2011 2011/2012
National  
average 

2012/2013

Trust with 
 lowest

2012/2013

Trust with 
highest

2012/2013

2012 staff survey  
results (higher the 
score the better)

3.34 
out of 5

3.12  
out of 5

3.12 
out of 5

2.64 out of 5
East of 

England 
Ambulance 

Service

3.39 out of 5
South West 
Ambulance 

Service

* Data for April-12 to December-12 inclusive 
Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions

Source: http://nhsstaffsurveys.com/cms/

The North East Ambulance Service considers 
that this data is as described for the following 
reasons:

•	 We follow national guidance and definitions 
for clinical AQIs when producing performance 
information for care bundles delivered to 
patients. This information is published every 
month on the DoH statistics web pages.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the 
following actions to improve this score and so 
the quality of its services, by:

•	 Carrying out monthly audits for patients who 
have a pre-hospital diagnosis of suspected ST 
elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) confirmed 
on electrocardiogram, or new suspected stroke or 
transient ischaemic attack;

•	 Having two quality improvement officers carrying 
out audits for 100% of the cases associated with 
these clinical indicators and reviewing the clinical 
element of each record to assess whether the 
‘care bundle’ (a set of interventions that, when 
used together, significantly improve patient 
outcome) had been delivered;

•	 Asking the quality improvement officers to 
work hard to improve performance by feeding 
back to those individuals who have missed a 
care element of the care bundle to encourage 
reflection and learning;  

•	 Asking our quality improvement officers to carry 
out station visits and promote care bundles 
to those operational staff on shift with the 
aim of creating a quality improvement culture 
throughout the service; 

•	 Promoting the care bundles using other methods 
of communication, for example, patient care 
updates, posters and inserts in the staff handbook.

The NHS staff survey includes the following 
statement: “If a friend or relative needed 
treatment, I would be happy with the standard 
of care provided by this Trust”, and asks staff 
whether they strongly agree, agree, neither 
agree nor disagree, disagree, or strongly 
disagree with the statement. 

The North East Ambulance Service considers 
that this data is as described for the following 
reasons:

•	 The information has been produced in line 
with standard national definitions.

•	 We measure the feedback reports produced by 
the Co-ordination Centre against other trusts 
of a similar type. This allows people to make a 
fair comparison between trusts.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the 
following actions to improve this score 
and so the quality of its services, by: 

•	 Creating a small Task and Finish group to 
develop trust-wide as well as local action plans 
to tackle the areas where staff experience 
has deteriorated and to build on those areas 
where it has improved;

•	 Developing a communication plan to make 
sure staff are aware of what action is being 
taken and to allow us to promote the areas 
where there have been some improvement.



74   |   Quality Report 2013 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust   |   75

•	 Streamlining the way we report on safety 
incidents by introducing online reporting 
(which is accessible using ambulance laptop) 
for operational staff, and using PCs for office-
based staff.

•	 A weekly audit on the quality of data to make 
sure all patient safety incidents are correctly 
reported. This then makes it easier to add the 
data to NRLS.

•	 Providing feedback to those who report 
patient safety incidents to encourage a 
responsive and open culture.

•	 We have a dedicated clinical investigating 
officer in post.

•	 We hold a weekly panel to review cases and 
find the root cause of problems.

•	 Each month we report back information to the 
trust board using the Integrated Performance 
Report (IPR). This includes exception reports 
when needed.

•	 Data is reported and reviewed by our 
Experience, Complaints, Litigation, Incident 
and PALs group (ECLIPs).

•	 We will have a ‘Being Open’ policy and a team 
of family liaison officers (FLOs) in place.

•	 We have carried out a Manchester Patient 
Safety Framework (MaPSaF) review.

•	 We are creating a quality dashboard to display 
key data, including information on patient 
safety.

•	 We will develop a clinical governance, quality 
and patient safety strategy.

•	 We will continue with the Trust Quality 
Committee which provides direct assurance to 
the Board on matters of patient safety, clinical 
quality and our overall clinical governance.

Reported Patient Safety Incidents  
2011 - 2012

Reported Patient Safety Incidents  
2012 - 2013

Actual impact Total

% against 
total  

reported 
incidents 

Total 
Calls

% of 
incidents 

against call 
rate per 

1000 calls

Total

% 
against 

total 
reported 
incidents

Total 
Calls

% of incidents 
against call 

rate per  
1000 calls

No Harm 165 37.24 980530 0.16 144 25.71 1110700 0.12

Minor 150 33.86 980530 0.15 220 39.28 1110700 0.19

Moderate 62 13.99 980530 0.06 129 23.03 1110700 0.11

Major 0 0 980530 0 8 1.42 1110700 0.007

Catastrophic, Death 5 1.12 980530 0.005 10 1.78 1110700 0.009

Near Miss 50 11.28 980530 0.05 44 7.85 1110700 0.03

Death (not related 
to provision of 

healthcare)
11 2.48 980530 0.01 5 0.89 1110700 0.004

Totals 443 980530 560 1110700

We cannot measure patient safety incidents nationally in 2012/2013, as the NHS Patient Safety Association has not made 
information available yet for the full year.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the following actions to increase reporting of patient 
safety incidents whilst reducing the severity of the actual impact to the patients involved, and so 
improve the quality of its services, by the following measures:

 
The North East Ambulance Service considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:

•	 We use the Ulysses Safeguard system for reporting and managing all negative incidents. We use the 
system to create reports and add data to the National Risk Learning System (NRLS).Our staff report patient safety incidents through our local risk-management systems.  

These reports are then forwarded to the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS).  
The information collected in that national database allows trends to be identified.  
This information guides the development of patient safety strategies and resources.

Between 1st April 2012 and 30th September 2012, we reported a total of 206 patient safety 
incidents. The table and graph below show a breakdown of the actual effect of the incidents and 
provides a comparison against all ambulance organisations for the same reporting period. 

There is emerging evidence that organisations with a higher rate of reporting have a stronger 
safety culture, with high reporters aiming to learn from incident reporting to improve patient  
care and safety.

Incidents reported by degree of harm for ambulance organisations 

1 April 2012 until 30 September 2012 (information taken from all ambulance Organisations 
Incident Reports, ninth data release: 20 March 2013).

Actual Effect Totals

None 114

Low 49

Moderate 41

Severe 0

Death 2

Total 206

64.1%

55.3%

29.5%

23.8%

4.7%

19.9%

1.2% 0.0% 0.4% 1.0%

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%
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All ambulance organisations
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Quality review:  
Local indicators

Local indicators 

Patient experience

2010/2011 Internal target for 
2011/2012

2012/2013

Develop better 
methods of 
collecting patient 
experience, and 
make use of ‘net 
promoter score’

Not available for 
comparison

To develop a deeper 
understanding 
of what patient 
experience is.

Set baselines, as the 
methods we use to 
survey patients who 
are new to us.

Work closely with 
healthcare partners 
to make sure that 
the method we use 
to collect patient 
information is 
productive.

Developed new 
methodology to 
measure patient 
experience.

Test at RVI to test the 
methodology before 
rolling it out across 
the North East Region 
in 2013/2014.

Built a relationship 
with PALS to put the 
survey into practice.

Worked with other 
ambulance trusts to 
develop a national 
agreement to use the 
‘friends and family 
test’ as a benchmark.

Net promoter score

The Department of Health announced the introduction of the friends and family test for acute trusts in 
2012. This was put into practice in hospitals on 1 April 2013. The friends and family test is based on the 
‘net promoter score’ that has been used in the private sector for years to judge customer experience 
of services. While the friends and family test guidance we have seen is not being applied to ambulance 
trusts, we took a decision to develop this score when developing our survey and gained the agreement 
of all NHS ambulance trusts that this would be used as a measure for patient experience in the future.

Our levels of ‘hear and treat’ are lower than the 
national average. Information from patients 
suggests that, many times, going to hospital will 
not be the best outcome for patients and with 
some advice and guidance the patient can stay 
at home. Because of this, it is very important for 
us to try to improve our ‘hear and treat’ figures. 
With the introduction of 111, we have an ideal 
opportunity to develop better systems. We will 
continue to measure the ‘hear and treat’ activity 
and see and treat figures across the trust and 
measure ourselves against other organisations. 
We are committed to using other options to 
signpost the patient to the most appropriate 
place of care. This may well be somewhere 
different to an emergency department. We have 
been working with other providers, for example, 

community teams, to increase the number of 
other options available for our operational crews 
to use. This will be supported in 2013/2014 by 
appointing a clinical development manager to 
further assess the availability and use of other 
options of care.

We put a CARe tool into practice in 2012/2013 
across two areas of the region. And, our enhanced 
CARe programme delivered by Teesside University 
has been carried out by 30 paramedics to provide 
them with better skills in physical assessment and 
taking patients’ histories to allow more ‘see, treat 
and finish’ episodes. For 2013/2014 we plan to 
put CARe fully into place across the region and 
will also be increasing the number of paramedics 
carrying out the enhanced CARe programme.

Our aims in this priority were to create and develop:

1. Up-to-date feedback on the experience of our 
services rather than reflective feedback based 
on a postal survey;

2. A continuous flow of information to allow us 
to track trends and react sooner if a problem 
arises;

3. A process to measure ourselves against other 
ambulance services when measuring patient 
experience;

4. A system that would increase the number of 
people who responded to our surveys; and

5. A better method of gathering results  and 
independent analysis of them.

We used CQUIN funding in 2011/2012 to develop 
a new way of measuring patient experience. This 
allowed us to pay Customer Research Technology 
(CRT) and Ipsos Mori, two independent specialist 
research organisations, to develop a method for 
us to use with PALS. 

We set up a test in 2012/2013 with North of Tyne 
PALS at Newcastle’s Royal Victoria Infirmary (RVI) 
to test our new method. PALS volunteers and 
staff were trained to survey ambulance patients, 
arriving by emergency services and PTS, using a 
handheld, touch-screen device. The aim was to 
evaluate the method and survey questions before  
rolling the survey out across the rest of the region 
in 2013/2014. The full survey, once in place, should 
operate as a continuous project across the North-
East region.

We have developed the questions in the survey to 
decide on the key things patients value and  
where we need to improve our service through 
outcomes, staff attitude, information, timeliness,  
and involvement. The survey saw three ways of 
asking the questions following feedback from  
patients and PALS staff on the questionnaire as 
well as the service we provided.

Using other care options

2010/2011
Target for 
2011/2012

 2012/2013
Trust with 

 lowest
2012/2013

Trust with 
highest

2012/2013

The number of patients 
treated using other  
options:  Hear and treat

3.4% Increase 4.0%

3.4%
North West 
Ambulance 

Service

9.4%
South 

East Coast 
Ambulance 

Service

The number of patients 
treated using other  
options: See and treat 

33.1% increase 30.7%

23.0%
North West 
Ambulance 

Service

50.8%
South West 
Ambulance 

Service 

2010/2011
Internal Target for 

2011/2012
 2012/2013

Hear and treat 3844 3.5% 13,292

See and  treat 72,734 33% 99,755

Hear and treat: The figures above have been worked out in line with the Department of Health guidance for reporting AQIs.
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Clinical effectiveness

Effectively use the new emergency-care trauma pathways within the North East

2010/2011
Target for 
2012/2013

2012/2013

Accuracy of triage Does not apply Set baseline 1673

Patient safety

Improve performance in rural areas for incidents responded to in eight minutes.

2010/2011
Target for 
2011/2012

 2012/2013

Redcar and Cleveland 77.53% 75% 71.5%

County Durham 66.95% 71% 65.6%

Northumberland 67.79% 71% 68.2%

The performance in the rural areas is very 
important. Last year we were commissioned under 
the CQUIN scheme to achieve a year-end target of 
71% of emergency incidents responded to within 
eight minutes in Northumberland and County 
Durham PCT areas. We failed to achieve this target.
We have reviewed the issues that led to this failure 
and the main points are shown below.

•	 Increasing demand across all areas.

•	 Increasing and prolonged delays in handing 
patients over to hospital.

•	 Bad weather over certain months of the year 
including significant flooding and ice.

•	 Inability to secure the level of resources needed 
from other sources to achieve the performance.

Following discussion part-way through the year 
with our Executive team, we decided to recruit extra 
paramedics at risk to improve the quality of service 
provided. Following an extensive recruitment 
campaign, we have recruited extra paramedics.  
 
The resulting performance from January to the 
year-end has shown a significant improvement in 
performance despite the continued bad weather 
and hospital delays.   

So far, discussions with CCGs have not resolved 
the issue of a target for next year. We will 
continue to work with our commissioners to 
agree a way forward on this important issue.

As far as we know, there are no differences in the information since the 2011/2012 quality report.

A ‘major trauma bypass’ procedure was introduced to the region to make sure that victims of major 
trauma were transported to a major trauma centre to receive care. We gave staff a briefing document 
which contained the reason for introducing the major trauma bypass procedure, the triage tool itself 
and a pocket-sized guide. The major trauma bypass was put into practice on 1 April 2012, when we  
also introduced two senior trauma paramedics. The two paramedics are based in the contact centre 
and are responsible for co-ordinating the major trauma bypass and working with operational staff and 
the two major regional trauma centres - RVI and James Cook University Hospital (JCUH).

The two senior paramedics will monitor the quality of care delivered to major trauma victims as well 
as the major trauma bypass procedure. This is reported using the Trust Audit committee. In terms of 
improving quality, the senior paramedics provide feedback for staff and carry out a peer review to 
make sure there is continuous learning.  
 
We will also:

•	 Produce major trauma audit reports every month, which we will report into the Clinical Audit 
steering group;

•	 Make sure we are represented on the Northern Trauma Systems Clinical Advisory Group;

•	 Make sure we are represented on the Multi-Disciplinary Team for major trauma at JCUH and RVI.

Differences in data since the 2010/2011 Quality Report
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Complaints 
and compliments

We take any complaint, concern or comment we receive very seriously. We expect 
very high standards to be maintained in our trust, and if this is not the case we will 
deal with it appropriately. We do our best to fairly and thoroughly investigate every 
complaint we receive. We also take action to prevent the incident from happening 
again and improve our service where necessary.

We have a complaints policy and procedure 
which meets NHS complaints regulations.  
We work to the following principles which are 
set out in ‘Principles For Remedy’ (a publication 
from the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman) when handling complaints.

1. Getting it right

2. Being customer focused

3. Being open and accountable

4. Acting fairly and proportionately

5. Putting things right

6. Seeking continuous improvement

How we have dealt with complaints

When we received a complaint, concern or 
comment we:

•	 Acknowledged it within three working days, 
either by phone or in writing; and 

•	 Write to the person making the complaint 
within 25 working days (or longer if agreed), 
outlining the investigation we have carried out 
and giving our findings along with any action 
being taken.

What we do if we get it wrong

•	 We will offer an apology.

•	 We will review the care we provided or the 
way we managed the incident and reflect on 
what happened in a way that helps us to learn 
from the experience.

•	 We will use the experience we have gained from 
the incident to improve our policies and practice.

•	 Where appropriate, we will create a specific 
care plan, with the involvement and agreement 
of the patient involved.

Types of complaints

The most common type of complaint received is 
about the attitude of our staff. Another common 
complaint is about our response given to emergency 
calls where we assess a patient as not needing an 
ambulance. If a clinical issue is involved, we carry out 
a full investigation and share what we have learned. 
Another common type of complaint received was 
about how long patients have to wait for transport 
after treatment. We have planned to cover staff 
attitude as part of training in 2012/2013 and we have 
put in place extra training and mentoring for staff and 
will carry out audits to review the effect of this training.

Compliments

We receive compliments about both operational 
staff (for the care and treatment provided to 
patients) and call handlers in our Accident and 
Emergency Control and NHS 111 Urgent Care 
Service. We pass on all compliments to the staff 
concerned.

We need to take account of the number of calls we actually 
receive (1,110,700) and incidents we respond to (371,951) for all 

services when assessing complaints and compliments received.

2011/2012  2012/2013

Complaints 
received 289 410

Compliments 
received 271 337

Of 410 complaints received, we did not take 18 any further as we did not receive the appropriate level 
of agreement from the relevant patients, and we closed eight complaints by discussing the problem 
with out Investigating officer and giving feedback to the person who complained. Our complaints 
team investigated the following complaints and the outcomes were as follows: 

•	 183 (44.6%) complaints were upheld (the reason for the complaint was found to be valid,  
and we were at fault).

•	 50 (12.2%) complaints were part upheld (an element of the complaint, but not all aspects  
of the complaint, were found to be valid and we were partially at fault).

•	 89 (21.7%) complaints were not upheld (the reason for the complaint was found not to be our fault).

•	 62 (15.1%) complaints are currently still under investigation at the time of writing this report.  
(This includes complaints that have been reopened due to further contact.)
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Five-year-old Olivia prepares to saddle up again after freak horse-riding accident

High school pupil rushes to aid of patient with severe head injury.

Five-year-old Olivia Bingham had a horse land on her 
during a riding lesson. The freak accident happened 
on a farm at West Moor, where Olivia has been 
riding horses since the age of three.

Olivia suffered a partially collapsed lung. Jason 
Orchard, the paramedic, gave her some morphine as 
she couldn’t straighten her legs. He put a neck collar 
on Olivia and she was put onto a spinal board. Olivia 
was then taken to Newcastle’s Royal Victoria Infirmary.

Mum Helen said: “The staff in A & E and on the ward 
were brilliant and looked after me as well as Olivia. 
Jason and Mark [the ambulance crew] came back a 
few times over the afternoon with other patients 
and kept popping in to visit Olivia and see how she 
was.  They deserve medals for their work as they 
were outstanding. I can’t thank them enough for 
their help and expertise on that day.” Olivia has since 
returned to horse riding. 

16-year-old student George Murray turned hero to save 
two men hurt in a serious road accident in Berwick

The A-level student ran to the rescue of a van 
passenger, who had suffered head, neck and spinal 
injuries when he went through the windscreen. 
George immobilised the man’s neck and spine until 
paramedics arrived, while his dad, a traffic officer, 
directed oncoming traffic.

George then assisted the driver, who also suffered 
neck and spinal injuries, before helping paramedics 
put the casualties onto a stretcher. Paramedic 
Timothy MacDonald said George’s actions have had 
a huge impact on the recovery of the man and he 
commended him for his efforts with a certificate.

Timothy said: “I was extremely impressed by 
the controlled manner in which this young man 
conducted himself and I am convinced that his actions 
will have had a beneficial outcome for the patient.”  
 
 

After completing his A-levels at Berwick Academy, 
George is hoping to go on to university to complete 
a degree in paramedic practice.

Patient 
case studies

Feedback from 
our stakeholders

In line with the quality report guidance, we have asked for comments on the draft 
quality report from our lead commissioning primary care trusts, the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards  and regional OSC. These comments are set out below and we 
have not edited them in any way. Plain English Campaign’s Crystal Mark does not 
apply to these comments.

Statement from our lead commissioner 
-Durham Dales
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on 
the Quality Report for North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust for 2012/3.
As a commissioner the Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 
(DDES CCG) plays an active part in monitoring 
the quality of service provided by North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(NEAS). As NEAS provides services across a 
wider area than DDES there has been a joint 
commissioning arrangement with North Tyneside 
PCT having been the lead commissioner. As the 
commissioning landscape changes DDES CCG 
is establishing appropriate arrangements for 
monitoring the quality of services provided. We 
are therefore only able to comment on the report 
on that basis.

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Group is disappointed that the 
key target for Red Call responses in 8 minutes to 
patients in the former County Durham Primary 
Care Trust has not been met. The level achieved 
has fallen below the previous year’s responses 
and failed to meet the commissioned targets 
despite the additional CQUIN funding being made 
available to NEAS. This is a key priority area for 
DDES CCG next year and we are committed to 
working jointly with NEAS to improve services 
for patients. We are also committed to working 
with other providers who may impact on services 
provided by NEAS for example the long delays that 
have been noted at hospitals and which prevent 
ambulances from getting back on the road.

DDES CCG notes the good clinical outcomes 
for patients being achieved by NEAS. We also 
welcome the innovative work being undertaken 
by NEAS’s research and development department 
and hope to see improvements arising from this 
work in mainstream services shortly.

DDES CCG agrees with the priorities outlined in 
the document for the coming year and is willing 
to work in partnership to achieve the common 
goals of improving access, experience and safety 
for all patients.

In particular we are pleased to note the intention 
to have appointments for Patient Transport 
Services and planned improvements to urgent 
bookings. The work on individual treatment 
plans and alternatives to emergency department 
disposition will be the key to the overall plan to 
reduce hospital admissions across the NEAS area 
and DDES CCG is happy to work with NEAS on 
developing these plans.

DDES CCG notes that the version we have 
been given for comments still has a significant 
amount of gaps, where confirmation of figures 
are awaited. We reserve the right to amend our 
comments should that prove necessary once the 
final report is available.
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Statement From Durham Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
The Committee welcomes North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report and 
the opportunity to provide comment on it.

Whilst the Committee acknowledges the Trust’s 
desire to co-ordinate engagement of local 
authorities’ responses to their Quality Report via 
the Regional Joint Health Scrutiny Committee, 
it wishes to place on record its views regarding  
issues around Accident and Emergency response 
performance and also waiting times/queuing at 
Accident and Emergency departments.

The Committee particularly welcomes the 
following:-

•	 Work with the acute trusts to reduce the 
impact of hospital turnaround delays. In order 
to ensure a positive, safe patient experience 
and prevent adverse effects on clinical 
outcomes due to delays to further hospital 
assessment and treatment.

•	 To introduce an appointment based Patient 
Transport Service through 2013/14, across 
entire NEAS area.

The Committee have taken an active role in the 
Trust’s consultation around Reconfiguration of 
the Accident and Emergency Ambulance Service 
and representations have been made around the 
proposals and their potential impact particularly 
on Rural Ambulance provision. County Durham is 
one of the areas where performance for Category 
A8 responses are below target and it is essential 
that this performance improves. These concerns 
within County Durham, particularly the Durham 
Dales continue and the Committee would seek 
assurances that any proposals to change existing 
arrangements within this area should not proceed 
without full and formal public consultation. The 
Committee awaits with interest the results of 
the recent evaluation activity undertaken within 
the Durham Dales to assess the effectiveness of 
current arrangements.

The Committee notes the proposed work to be 
undertaken in addressing hospital turnaround 
delays/ ambulance queuing at Accident and 
Emergency Departments and would support all 
steps taken in conjunction with relevant hospitals’ 
Trusts to reduce the delays experienced by some 
patients being treated at Accident and Emergency 
Departments.

To conclude, the Committee agree that from 
the information received from the Trust that 
the identified priorities are a fair reflection 

of healthcare services provided by the Trust. 
In addition, the Committee request that a six 
monthly progress report on delivery of 2013/14 
targets be provided.

Statement From Gateshead Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee
Based on Gateshead Healthier Communities OSC’s 
knowledge of the work of the Trust during 2012-
13 we feel able to comment as follows:-

We have been consulted by the Trust as part of 
its process for selecting its Quality Priorities for 
2013/14 and consider that our views have been 
taken into account when identifying the final 
priorities for the year.

Priority 1

The proposed methods of gathering patient 
stories are very welcome as a shift to a narrative 
method of enquiry has real benefits in a service 
environment.

Priority 2

The OSC is particularly supportive of this priority. 
The OSC has previously been consulted on and 
expressed its support for the development of 
a dedicated urgent service as a result of the 
A & E Review. We note that this has yet to be 
implemented in the Gateshead locality although 
planned for introduction in April 2013. The 
OSC is keen to be kept informed of progress / 
developments in this area. However, the OSC 
considers the proposed target for 13/14  vehicles 
arriving within 60 and 120 minutes of request 
to be too vague and the 240 minute level is very 
disappointing.

Priority 3

The OSC considers that the target for 13-14 
appears unambitious and are concerned that 
being 15 minutes late may mean patients miss 
their appointments.

Priority 4 

The OSC has previously raised particular concerns 
with the Trust regarding ambulance delays in the 
Gateshead locality and is pleased to note that 
work to reduce delays is being progressed as part 
of this priority. The OSC was also keen to see 
the Quality Report reference specific identified 
actions to meet this objective and again we are 
pleased to see that the Account now highlights 
the areas it will focus on to reduce turnaround 
delays. Again the OSC is keen to be kept informed 
of progress in this area.

However, the OSC considers the targets for 
reducing delays are too vague.

Priority 7

The OSC is particularly supportive of the Trust’s 
plans to develop safe, appropriate, alternative 
options for patients to use other than A & E to 
reduce pressures on emergency care and the 
numbers of people taken to hospital.

However, the OSC considers the target for 
increasing the number of patients treated using 
other options is too vague.

In relation to the section on complaints and 
compliments the OSC considered it would be 
useful if in future complaints could be categorised 
by type so that it is possible to see if there are 
patterns over time and to enable evaluation 
of the effectiveness of interventions over time. 
The OSC considers that the patient cases studies 
should also include examples of complaints and 
how they have been dealt with and action taken 
to prevent issues reoccurring in the future.

The OSC is supportive of the Quality Report 
overall and is pleased to note that CQC has no 
compliance issues in regard to the Trust.

Statement from Newcastle 
Healthwatch
Healthwatch Newcastle is aware that it can 
make a detailed response to the North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) 
Quality Report (Quality Report) similar to those 
given by Newcastle LINk in previous years.   
However, considering the fact that Healthwatch 
Newcastle was established on 1 April 2013 and 
is currently developing its activities – including 
the recruitment of a Chair and Board members 
– the response of Healthwatch Newcastle will be 
limited this year to this letter.

I have viewed Newcastle LINk’s response to last 
year’s NEAS Quality Report and am pleased that 
the comments on the colour of text have been 
acted upon, but the watermark still appears in 
the document. Healthwatch Newcastle also hopes 
that NEAS receives a Crystal Mark for the final 
report.

In terms of Priority 1 – Patient Experience – 
Healthwatch Newcastle welcomes the descriptions 
for both the baseline of 2012/2013 and proposed 
target for 2013/2014.   Healthwatch Newcastle 
may be able to support NEAS with this, if 
appropriate, with the involvement of volunteer 
Healthwatch Champions who will be recruited in 
the near future.

In terms of Priority 3 – To introduce an 
appointment-based transport service – 
Healthwatch Newcastle wonders how this can 
potentially be linked to the “Choose and Book” 
system that was a focus of investigation last year 
by Newcastle LINk.  

Newcastle LINk wrote a number of reports last 
year around patient experience.   Each report has 
recommendations which may help NEAS and they 
are below:

•	 An examination of the Choose and  
Book system

•	 Looking at walk in centres and minor  
injuries units in Newcastle

Healthwatch Newcastle may be able to support 
NEAS with its work, particularly around the 
engagement with service users and carers, when 
it recruits the volunteer Healthwatch Champions 
in the near future.

Healthwatch Newcastle will be fully operational 
next year and will look to provide a fuller and 
detailed response. However, this will be a decision 
by the Healthwatch Newcastle Chair and Board at 
the appropriate time.
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Statement from NHS Northumberland 
Clinical Commissioning Group
The Clinical Commissioning Groups very much 
welcome the opportunity to comment on the 
draft Quality Report submitted by the North 
East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust. 
We were also grateful to the representatives 
from the service for presenting the account to 
representatives of the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and the Local Area Team. 

Quality Reports provide an opportunity for 
organisations to show case the work they are 
doing to deliver high quality evidence based 
services to the local population. The report 
focuses heavily on performance against a range 
of indicators, but does not make it easy to pick 
out the key things that you as an organisation 
have achieved in relation to quality over the last 
year or the areas of priority for you in the coming 
year. Given that the document will be published, 
It would be helpful to have these points clearly 
identified. 

Whilst the commitment to patient safety and 
care is emphasised throughout the document, 
the CCGs believe that greater emphasis could 
have been placed upon providing further 
information on the issues faced by the service 
and the impact on delivering a safe and quality 
service throughout the year. During the year the 
organisation experienced pressures associated 
with high levels of sickness in operational areas, 
difficulties in recruitment to front line posts along 
with delays associated with handover/ handover 
to clear times, issues with agency staff providing 
back up to substantive service provision but little 
reference was made to these throughout the 
report and the impact on performance. 

As part of your drive to demonstrate a focus 
on patient safety, data on incidents have been 
included in the report. However, the data 
suggests a higher number of incidences reported 
as minor, moderate and catastrophic. It would be 
helpful to have some explanation in relation to 
this and any actions that are being taken. 

Greater reference to the learning from complaints 
and Serious Untoward Incidences would also have 
been beneficial for inclusion in the account. An 
improvement in the handover delays were as a 
result of the service reporting delays experienced 
by patients in excess of 2 hours as a SUI. 

We are encouraged by and are supportive of the 
priorities outlined for delivery in 2013/14 and 
reflect the Service’s commitment to improve the 
patient experience and quality of care in the 
future. 

The Service’s commitment to audit and reviewing 
current practice is also welcomed along with the 
use of the benchmarking against the performance 
of other Ambulance Services across the country. It 
would however, be beneficial to understand the 
key findings of those audits and if there specific 
themes that need to be addressed. 

The CCGs look forward to working on a 
collaborative basis with the Ambulance Trust 
to address some key challenges over the 
forthcoming year to improve the Emergency and 
Patient Ambulance service provision across the 
North East Health economy. 
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Statement of 
Director’s responsibilities

Under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Reports) 
Regulations 2010 our directors have to prepare Quality Reports for each 
financial year.

Monitor have issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of 
Quality Reports and on the arrangements that foundation trust boards should put in place to 
be sure of the quality of the data used in preparing the account.

•	 The content of the account must meet the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2011-12.

•	 The content must not be inconsistent with internal and external sources of information including 
the following:

•	 Board minutes and papers for the period April 2011 to June 2012

•	 Papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2011 to June 2012

•	 Feedback from the commissioners dated 29 May 2012

•	 Feedback from governors 

•	 Feedback from LINks dated May 2012

•	 The trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 31 May 2012;

•	 The 2008 [latest] national patient survey 

•	 The 2011 national staff survey 

•	 The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment dated 10 April 2012

•	 CQC quality and risk profiles dated 10 April 2012

•	 The Quality Report must present a balanced picture of our performance over the period covered.

•	 The performance information reported in the account should be reliable and accurate.

•	 There should be proper internal controls over collecting and reporting on the measures of 
performance included in the account, and these controls must be reviewed to confirm that they are 
effective.

•	 The data supporting the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report must be reliable, 
meet specified data-quality standards and definitions, and be checked and reviewed.

•	 The Quality Report must be prepared in line with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which includes the Quality Reports regulations) (published at www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality in preparing the account 
(available at www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual).

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have kept to the above 
requirements in preparing the Quality Report.

Chairman 
28 May 2012

Chief Executive 
28 May 2012

If you would like a copy of this report in another format such as braille, audio 
tape, large print, another language or any other format, please contact:

We welcome feedback on this report. You can give your comments 
and suggestions in writing.

Email:  
sahdia.hassen@neas.nhs.uk

Address:  
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
Ambulance Headquarters 
Bernicia House 
Goldcrest Way 
Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 
NE15 8NY

Email:  
rachel.lonsdale@neas.nhs.uk

Address:  
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
Ambulance Headquarters 
Bernicia House 
Goldcrest Way 
Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 
NE15 8NY

Or, visit the NHS Choices website to leave feedback at: 

www.nhs.uk/Services/Trusts/Overview/DefaultView.aspx?id=29237

Contact details
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Jargon buster

Term Definition

Advance care plan
A discussion to help people think about, and plan for, how they want to be cared for 
towards the end of their life. 
(http://www.endoflifecareforadults.nhs.uk/assets/downloads/pubs_Advance_Care_Planning_guide.pdf)

Call connect
The point when the 999 call is connected to the ambulance control room, and which 
signals the beginning of the ambulance response time.

Care bundle
A care bundle is a group of between three and five specific procedures that staff must 
follow for every single patient, every time, and which will have a better outcome for the 
patient if done together within a certain time limit, rather than separately.

Care Quality 
Commission

The independent regulator of all health and social care services in England. The 
commission makes sure that the care provided by hospitals, dentists, ambulances, care 
homes and services in people’s own homes and elsewhere meets government standards 
of quality and safety.

Category A8 A life-threatening 999 call that must be responded to within 8 minutes, 75% of the time.

Category A19
If a Category A patient needs transport, this should arrive within 19 minutes of the request 
for transport being made, 95% of the time.

Category B19
Calls  concerning patients whose condition is serious but not immediately life-
threatening and which must receive a response within 19 minutes in 95% of cases.

Clinical audit

A clinical audit mainly involves checking whether best practice is being followed and 
making improvements if there are problems with the way care is being provided.  A 
good clinical audit will find (or confirm) problems and lead to changes that improve 
patient care.

Clinical effectiveness

Clinical effectiveness means understanding success rates from different treatments 
for different conditions. Methods of assessing this will include death or survival rates, 
complication rates and measures of clinical improvement. This will be supported by 
giving staff  the opportunity to put forward ways of providing better and safer services 
for patients and their families as well as identifying best practice that can be shared and 
spread across the organisation. Just as important is the patient’s view of how effective 
their care has been and we will measure this through patient reported outcomes measures 
(PROMs).

Clinical governance, 
quality and patient 
safety strategy

A strategy that defines how we will demonstrate quality in patient safety, patient 
experience and clinical effectiveness.

Clinical Practice 
Circular (CPC)

The way that NEAS tell staff about clinical issues and guidance.

Commissioning 
for Quality and 
Innovation (CQUIN) 
payment framework

The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework means that 
a part of our income depends on us meeting  goals for improving quality.

Contact centres
The first point of contact for 999, 111 and Patient Transport Services patients who need  
frontline medical care or transport.

Term Definition

Control environment This relates to the system of internal controls in the Trust.

Core services
Our core services are accident and emergency, NHS 111, community first responders, the 
Patient Transport Service and emergency planning.

Crystal Mark – plain 
English

Plain English Campaign’s Crystal Mark shows that a document is as clear as it can be for 
its intended audience.

Deciding Right

Deciding Right is the UK’s first attempt to set up a scheme that helps patients of all ages 
(including children) and healthcare professionals make shared decisions about the patient’s care 
ahead of their death.  It is being introduced not only across NHS hospitals in the North East, with 
paramedics and in other NHS care settings, but in hundreds of nursing homes, care homes and 
hospices across the region. 

Directory of Services

Once we have decided the appropriate type of service for the patient - so that we can direct 
them to a service which is available to treat them - the system is linked to a directory of 
service. This directory contains details of the services available, their opening times and what 
conditions and symptoms they can manage, within an area local to the patient.

End-of-life patients Patients approaching the end of their life.

Enforcement action Action taken against us by the Care Quality Commission if we do not follow regulations.

e-PRF

Electronic Patient Report Form uses laptops to replace paper patient report forms. 
Ambulance staff attending calls can now download information on the way, access 
patients’ medical histories, enter information in ‘real time’ and send information 
electronically to the accident and emergency department they are taking the patient to. 

Falls service
A falls service can triage (assess and prioritise for treatment) older people who have 
fallen or are at high risk of falling.

First responder

A first responder is a volunteer who has had training to act on behalf of the ambulance 
service and can respond to emergency calls when sent by the contact centre. They deal with 
a specific list of emergencies and give the patient  support and appropriate treatment until 
the ambulance arrives.

Foundation Trust 
Boards

These make sure that trusts are effective, run efficiently and manage resources well and 
are accountable to the public.

Governors
Foundation Trust members have elected a Council of Governors. The council is made up of 
21 public governors and four staff governors, plus nine appointed governors.

Governance and Risk 
Committee

This committee gives the Board an independent and objective review of, and assurances about:

•		all	aspects	of	risk	governance,	risk	management	frameworks	and	our	approach 
    to risk management;

•		our	internal	control	systems	and	risk	management	arrangements,	to	make	sure	they	are	fit	for	 
    purpose, have enough resources and support our performance and reputation; 

•		the	risk	governance	process,	to	make	sure	it	is	clear	about	current	and	future	aspects 
    of risk exposure;

•		the	evidence	to	support	our	reports	to	Monitor;	and

•		keeping	to	legislation,	best	practice	and	regulations.	
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Term Definition

Governor Task and 
Finish Group

A group set up to identify which priority areas and risks should be included in a specific 
document, such as the Annual Plan or Quality Report.

Handover and 
turnaround process

Handover is the point when all the patient’s details have been passed (verbally) from 
the ambulance staff to staff at the hospital, the patient is moved from the ambulance 
trolley or chair into the treatment centre trolley or waiting area and responsibility for 
the patient has transferred from the ambulance service to the hospital.

Turnaround is the period of time from an ambulance arriving at hospital to an 
ambulance leaving hospital.

Health Act 2009
An Act relating to the NHS Constitution, healthcare,  the control of the promotion and 
sale of tobacco products, and the investigation of complaints about privately arranged 
or funded adult social care.

Hear and treat
A triage system designed to assess patients over the phone and to provide alternative 
pathways of care, where appropriate, for members of the public calling 999.

JRCALC
JRCALC stands for the Joint Royal Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee. Its role is to provide 
reliable clinical advice to ambulance services.  The JRCALC is best known for its regularly updated 
UK Ambulance Service Clinical Practice Guidelines. 

LINks
Local involvement networks, or LINks, were set up by the Government in April 2008 to give 
local people a stronger voice in how their health and social care services are provided. 

Logistics desk
A new logistics desk in our contact centre, which will be a point of contact for A&E crews 
who need guidance and advice on where to take or send non-emergency patients when 
the nearest A&E department is not appropriate.

Major trauma
Major trauma means multiple, serious injuries that could result in death or serious 
disability. These might include serious head injuries, severe gunshot wounds or road 
traffic accidents. 

Monitor The  independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts

National ambulance 
quality indicators

Measures of the quality of ambulance services in England, including response time 
targets, call abandonment rates, rates of patients contacting us again after initial care, 
time taken to answer calls, time to patient being treated, calls for ambulances dealt 
with by advice over the phone or managed without transport to A&E,  and ambulance 
emergency journeys.

National clinical audit

National clinical audit is designed to improve the outcome for patients  across a wide range 
of medical, surgical and mental-health conditions. It involves all healthcare professionals 
across England and Wales in assessing their clinical practice against standards and  
supporting and encouraging improvement in the quality of treatment and care. 

National confidential 
enquiries

Confidential enquiries such as the Clinical Outcomes Report Programme (CORP) 
programme funded by Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) are not in 
themselves audits, although they have similar features. Similarly, national surveys of 
patients’ experiences and outcomes are not strictly audits although, again, they are 
closely related.

NHS Operating 
Framework

Sets out the planning, performance and financial requirements for NHS organisations and 
the basis on which they will be held to account.

Term Definition

NHS (Quality Reports) 
Regulations 2010

Set out the detail of how providers of NHS services should publish annual reports 
– Quality Reports – on the quality of their services. In particular, they set out the 
information that must be included in the accounts, as well as general content, the form 
the account should take and when the accounts should be published, and arrangements 
for scrutiny and assurance. The regulations also set out exemptions for small providers 
and primary care and community services.

NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting 
Manual 2011-12

Guidance on the legal requirements for NHS Foundation Trusts’ annual report 
and accounts.

NICE

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence set up in 1999 to reduce differences 
in the availability and quality of NHS treatments and care. Evidence-based guidance and 
other products help settle uncertainty about which medicines, treatments, procedures 
and devices represent the best-quality care and which offer the best value for money for 
the NHS.

Pathways

NHS Pathways is a system developed by the NHS which is used to identify the best service for a 
patient and how quickly the patient needs to be treated, based on their symptoms. This may 
mean answering a few more questions than previously. All questions asked need to be answered 
as we use them to make sure patients are directed to the right service for their needs. Types of 
service may include an ambulance response, advice to contact the patient’s own GP or the out-
of-hours service, visit the local minor injury unit or walk-in centre or home care.

Patient experience

Quality of care includes quality of caring. A patient’s experience includes how personal care 
feels, and the compassion, dignity and respect with which they are treated. It can only be 
improved by analysing and understanding how satisified patients are, which is measured by 
patient experience measures (PREMS).

Patient report forms
An up-to-the-minute record of a patient’s history, assessment and treatment provided by 
our staff. 

Patient safety

Makes sure the environment the patient is being treated in is safe and clean, reducing  
harm  from things that could have been avoided, such as drug administration errors or 
rates of infections. Patient safety is supported by the National Patient Safety Agency 
‘seven steps to patient safety’.

The Pulse

The Pulse is a magazine published once every two months that gives our staff information 
on a range of in-house topics such as clinical issues, good-news stories, project information 
and sporting events.  It also includes a letters page so that staff can see letters written by 
members of the public.

Payment by Results

The aim of Payment by Results is to provide an open, rules-based system for paying 
trusts. It will reward efficiency, support patient choice and diversity and encourage 
reductions in waiting times. 

The Payment by Result tariffs system means funding is fair and consistent rather than 
relying on past budgets and the negotiating skills of individual managers.

Quality Committee

This committee gives the Board an independent and objective review of, and assurances 
about, all aspects of quality, specifically clinical effectiveness, patient experience and patient 
safety, and monitors whether the Board keep to the standards of quality and safety set out 
in the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.

Quality dashboard
An easy-to-read, often single-page report showing the current status and historical 
trends of our quality indicators of performance.
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Term Definition

Research Ethics 
Committee

Research Ethics Committees are the committees which give independent advice to the 
people who take part in research, the researchers, funders, sponsors, employers, care 
organisations and professionals on how far proposals for research studies meet recognised 
ethical standards.

Rural performance Measurement of Category A8 response performance in all rural areas, as agreed at local level

Safeguarding referral The process crews follow if they suspect a patient (whether a child or an adult) is 
vulnerable or at harm.

See and treat A face-to-face assessment by a paramedic that results in a patient being given care 
somewhere other than an A&E department.

Special reviews or 
investigations

Special reports on the how particular areas of health and social care are regulated.

Urgent care centre Urgent care centres help to prevent people going to hospital unnecessarily, for instance at walk-
in centres patients can be treated for minor injuries and ailments instead of going to hospital.

Patient care

The Trust has used our new Foundation Trust status as a springboard to further 
enhance the quality of patient care we deliver. With our Council of Governors 
representing patients in our region, our services can be developed with local 
opinions in mind.  

Patients are able to direct and shape our organisation and to really influence how we operate. 
Decisions will be taken locally which means that we are more responsive to the needs of our patients. 
Our intention remains to build on the opportunities offered by NHS Foundation Trust status to nurture 
and continue our successful culture of innovation and achievement and to continue to exceed our high 
quality healthcare aspirations.

Performance against key healthcare targets

NEAS has contributed to two national audit 
programmes; the National Clinical Performance 
Indicators (NCPI) and the Ambulance Quality 
Indicators (AQI).  The NCPIs measure the quality 
of care delivered to patients presenting with 
asthma, hypoglycaemia, febrile convulsion and 
lower limb fracture.  The AQIs monitor the care 
delivered to patients presenting with cardiac 
arrest, stroke or STEMI (a type of heart attack).

Participation in national audit enables the Trust 
to benchmark against other Ambulance Services 
in England and also allows us to evidence the 
quality of care we provide for our patients. NEAS 
is demonstrating continuous quality improvement 
in the ‘care bundles’ performance, i.e. patients 
presenting with a STEMI or stroke are receiving 
the most appropriate care. For the second year 
running, NEAS was also reported as the best 
Ambulance Service in England, Wales and Belfast 
for transporting STEMI patients within the 
recommended timeframe.

We are continuing to push our staff to record 
the delivery of the appropriate care bundle 
to over 95% of patients presenting with 
stroke, hypoglycaemia and STEMI. The Quality 
Improvement Officers clinically review those 
cases where the appropriate care bundle was 
not delivered or were not transported within the 
recommended timeframe to identify the time 
range, reasons for delay, identify any clinical risk 
that may have arisen and the divisions which are 
most responsible.

The Quality Improvement Officers are also 
reviewing operational clinical performance on 
an individual basis and sharing this information 

with Operational Team Leaders so that clinical 
concerns can be resolved more effectively.  

How we monitor national and local targets

We have a robust monitoring tool where key 
performance indicators from various departments 
within the Trust are recorded. This tool is called 
the Integrated Quality & Performance Report, 
and contains information which allows us to 
build up a fulsome picture of Trust performance, 
identifying quickly if there are areas where 
improvements need to be made. Our Integrated 
Quality & Performance Report has monitored 
progress every month for information such as:

•	 Rate of complaints and appreciations received

•	 Serious incidents

•	 Call answer performance in our contact centres

•	 Response time performance for our emergency 
vehicles

•	 Staffing levels

•	 Staff sickness absence

•	 Rate of staff training and staff appraisals 

•	 Financial performance and cost improvement 
savings

In addition to our Integrated Quality & 
Performance Report, we produce a Quarterly 
Quality & Performance Report which is a 
qualitative report reported to the Trust Board 
each quarter and provides an overview of Trust 
performance and compliance. We also monitor 
our Quality Risk Profile (QRP) closely. The QRP 
is a document produced by our independent 
regulator, the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
It holds information on various areas of 



98   |   Quality Report 2013 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust   |   99

performance within our Trust and highlights 
where we may need to make improvements 
in line with other NHS providers. We have 
monitored the QRP every time the CQC have 
released one (there are currently nine QRPs 
released every year) and implemented action 
plans which track any negatively rated risks at 
Board committee level.

CQC Reviews

In December 2012, the Care Quality Commission 
undertook a routine, unannounced, inspection 
to check that essential standards of quality and 
safety were being met in the following areas: 

•	 Consent to care and treatment

•	 Care and welfare of people who use services

•	 Cleanliness and infection control

•	 Requirements relating to workers

•	 Complaints

The Trust was found to be compliant with all the 
standards inspected.

Progress against targets agreed locally with 
commissioners

Since 2009 commissioners have rewarded the 
Trust for high quality service delivery in the form 
of a CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation) payment. During 2012/13 2.5% of 
the total contract value for the Trust was made 
available as an additional payment to reward the 
fulfilment of certain quality goals which the Trust 
agreed locally with commissioners. 

The 2012/13 CQUIN scheme final achievement 
has not been confirmed at the time of writing 
this report, but the details of potential payments 
and quality goals are detailed in the table below, 
along with our estimation of achievement of 
payment.

CQUIN Scheme 2011/12

Indicator Indicator description Potential payment for 
successful achieve-
ment 2011/12

NEAS estimated pay-
ment 2011/12 (yet to 
be confirmed)

LS1 3 year programme to 
capture patient 
experience

£100,000 £100,000

Qtr 1: Pilot of new 
methodology with CRT 
& Ipsos Mori, NEAS 
evaluation.

£25,000 £25,000

Qtr 2: Roll-out of meth-
odology across North 
East – NEAS and CRT 
evaluation.

£25,000 £25,000

Qtr 4: Joint A&E/PTS 
postal survey to 
supplement real-time 
data – report.

£25,000 £25,000

LS2 To increase the use of 
alternative dispositions 
other than A&E (South 
of Tyne & Wear)

£100,000 £100,000

Qtr 2: Roll out Green-
man Bodymap to South 
Tyneside and Gates-
head localities.

£10,000 £10,000

Qtr 2: Commission 
an ‘entry behaviour’ 
assessment for those 
paramedics attending 
the Enhancing Clinical 
Skills Programme.

£20,000 £20,000

LS2 Qtr 3: Deliver Enhanced 
CARe training to  
first cohort.

£10,000 £10,000

Qtr 3: Performance 
Monitoring of AQIs  
and Service Access.

£25,000 £25,000

Qtr 4: Deliver Enhanced 
CARe training to second 
cohort.

£10,000 £10,000

Qtr 4: Performance 
Monitoring of AQIs and 
Service Access.

£25,000 £25,000

LS3 To increase the use of 
alternative dispositions 
other than A&E (NEAS 
area excluding South of 
Tyne & Wear)

£200,000 £200,000

Qtr 2: Tailoring of  
Greenman Bodymap  
to support roll out to  
remaining divisions.

£45,000 £45,000

Qtr 2: Commission  
an ‘entry behaviour’  
assessment for those 
paramedics attending  
the Enhancing Clinical 
Skills Programme.

£30,000 £30,000

Qtr 3: Roll out Greeman 
Bodymap to Durham, North 
of Tyne and Tees.

£80,000 £80,000

Qtr 3: Performance 
Monitoring of AQIs  
and Service Access.

£7,500 £7,500

Qtr 4: Performance 
Monitoring of AQIs  
and Service Access.

£7,500 £7,500

Qtr 4: Commission an exit 
behaviour review of detailed 
exit knowledge.

£30,000 £30,000

LS4 Improve Cat A Red  
Performance
Each PCO within the NEAS 
area of operations is to 
achieve an annual average 
across the organisation of 
75% of Cat A response times 
within 8 minutes, except for 
the Northumberland and 
County Durham localities 
which are each to achieve 
an annual average of 71% 
response times within 8 min-
utes, and are to also achieve 
75% of Cat A response times 
within 8 minutes within one 
day in March 2013

£1,906,000 £1,906,000

Total: £2,306,000 £2,306,000
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A&E Review 

The A&E review aims to implement a new 
service model based on the outcomes of the A&E 
Modelling Project in order to provide the Trust 
with a robust and efficient service to manage 
future demand whilst achieving national 999 
response time targets. New rotas based on a 37.5 
hour week will be introduced for each tier of 
staff to support the management of resources. 
Additional Intermediate Tier resources will be 
included in the new model to expand the use of 
an intermediate tier to give appropriate patient 
care to GP/Urgent cases.  The project will require 
changes to staffing levels and vehicles locations 
which will be delivered by the Emergency Care 
Management team.  Discussions are progressing 
with Staff Representatives and External 
Stakeholders with a view to implementation 
during 2013.

Patient Transport Services

PTS has successfully introduced an apprenticeship 
scheme for young people who would like a 
career in the North East Ambulance Service. 
Our scheme, supported by Gateshead College, 
provides young people with an opportunity to 
experience a year as a member of our Patient 
Transport Service staff. Mentored and supported 
by PTS staff members the apprentices have now 
been in post for 8 months and are experiencing 
the full range of opportunities life as a member 
of PTS crew affords. We are hoping that some 
of our apprentices choose to apply to become 
a substantive member of staff at the end of 
their course. We will be increasing the number 
of apprenticeships on offer during 2013-14 and 
beyond.

Service improvements following staff or 
patient surveys

Patient surveys have been carried out in our 
Emergency Care Service; PTS services and 111 
contact centres during 2012-13. During this 
time we have worked with experts in this field 
to develop a new methodology of capturing 
patients’ experiences which has been successfully 
piloted in Newcastle. We hope to roll this out 
to the rest of our service area in 2013-14 and 
introduce the Friends and Family Test into our 
ambulance service.

 
 
 

Complaints Handling

We take any complaint, concern or comment 
we receive very seriously. We expect very 
high standards to be maintained in our trust, 
and if this is not the case we will deal with it 
appropriately. We have investigated, fairly and 
thoroughly, every complaint we have received, 
and have taken action to prevent the incident 
happening again and improve our service where 
necessary.

We have a complaints policy and procedure which 
meets NHS complaints regulations. We work 
to the following principles which are set out in 
‘Principles For Remedy’ (a publication from the 
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman) 
when handling complaints.

1. Getting it right

2. Being customer focused

3. Being open and accountable

4. Acting fairly and proportionately

5. Putting things right

6. Seeking continuous improvement

How we have dealt with complaints

When we received a complaint, concern or 
comment we;

•	 Acknowledged the complainant within three 
working days either by telephone or in writing 

•	 Write to the person making the complaint 
within 25 working days (or longer if agreed) 
outlining the investigation undertaken and 
detailing the findings along with any actions 
being taken. 

What we do if we get it wrong

•	 Offer you an apology.

•	 Review the care we provided or the way we 
managed the incident and reflect on what 
happened in a way that helps us to learn from 
the experience.

•	 Use your experience to improve our policies 
and practice.

Where appropriate, create a specific care plan, 
with the involvement and agreement of the 
patient involved.

Of the 410 complaints received, 18 were not 
progressed as we did not receive the appropriate 
level of patient consent and 8 complaints were 
closed by discussing the problem with our 
investigating officer and feeding back to the 
complainant. The following complaints were 
investigated by our complaints team and the 
outcomes were as follows; 

•	 186 (44.6%) complaints were upheld (the 
reason for the complaint was found to be 
valid, and the Trust was at fault)

•	 50 (12.2%) complaints were part upheld (an 
element of the complaint, but not all aspects 
of the complaint, was found to be valid and 
the Trust was partially at fault)

•	 89 (21.7%) complaints were not upheld (the 
reason for the complaint was found not be the 
fault of the Trust)

62 (15.1%) complaints are currently still under 
investigation at the time of writing this report. 
(Note this includes complaints that have been 
reopened due to further contact).

What  we receive complaints about

The complaints we received in relation to our 
A&E service were about the following;

•	 The time waiting for an ambulance to arrive

•	 The attitude of our staff

•	 The quality of care we provided

•	 The outcome of the triage (the initial 
assessment in the call centre) 

•	 The use of sirens on our vehicles.

We also received complaints about the Patient 
Transport Service for the following reasons;

•	 Vehicle was late to pick up patient for 
appointment

•	 Patient had to wait for transport after their 
appointment 

•	 Vehicle failed to arrive

•	 The attitude of our staff and the care provided

We are keen to learn from complaints so that we 

can improve our service. Often learning has been 

identified that does not directly relate to the 

subject of the complaint but has been identified 

during the investigation undertaken. When this 

is the case, in line with the Trust’s being Open 

policy, the complainant is advised of the issues 

found and the learning that takes place. In 

addition to individual learning identified, we 

routinely share the lessons we have learned from 

complaints with staff.  

Examples of Trust-wide learning following the 

investigation of complaints are:

Patient Care Updates to operational staff to 

reinforce standard practices, also reminders to 

staff within the Trust Contact Centres are sent (via 

memo /email). 

How many complaints we received

From November 1st 2011 to March 31st 2012, we received a total of 139 new complaints from people 
who wanted a written reply from the Chief Executive. 

Service Line Complaints Ratio of Complaints

A&E Operations 85 0.23 per 1000 journeys

PTS Operations 39 0.05 per 1000 journeys

Contact Centres 286 0.26 per 1000 calls

Other 0 n/a

*Note – included in this figure are those complaints relating to the time taken for transport to arrive and not around the actions of 
Contact centre staff (i.e. emergency response times, urgent response times and Patient Transport Service).
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There is additional learning within the Trust, 

where we share patient experience and learning 

with the wider healthcare community. This 

includes sharing feedback with NHS Pathways 

and the commissioners of the NHS 111 Urgent 

Care Service which the Trust operates. Advice 

and support has been given to other HealthCare 

Organisations (i.e. GP Surgeries and Hospitals) 

to support the access and use of both A&E 

and Patient Transport Service following issues 

identified through investigation of complaints.

We are keen to engage with our staff on a 

regular basis aside from when a complaint has 

been received, and we do this via the regular 

publication of our Pulse magazine, through our 

weekly email ‘The Summary’ and through posters 

in NEAS sites.

The Trust has recognised through the governance 

arrangements a decline in G2 and G3 and ‘urgent’ 

performance which was reported to the Trust’s 

Quality Committee and Trust Board. As a result, 

further in depth analysis was undertaken which 

identified a number of factors which have 

impacted on the Trust’s ability to respond within 

the timescales we aim to achieve. These included: 

•	 Demand for our 999 service outstripping 
capacity.

•	 Winter pressures (including prevailing weather 
conditions)

•	 Delayed patient handovers at hospital.

•	 Increase in job cycle time, which are a direct 
effect of:

•	 Introduction of hospital bypass polices - This 
means the nearest hospital is bypassed and 
the patient is transported to a specialist 
unit to received definitive treatment. The 
impact on the Trust is greater distance to 
travel which potentially impacts on resource 
being available

•	 Delays in accessing out of hours services, 
while crews are on scene with the patient, 
which often includes out of hours mental 
health services.

A number of actions have been put in place to 
mitigate the risk to patients which include:

•	 Clinical escalation policy with set triggers in 
place to draw in support from other resources 
and clinical support in the contact centre, 
however this is not consistent depending 
on the availability and other pressures 
experienced.

•	 Increasing the use of ‘hear and treat’ through 
the development of a clinical hub in the 
contact centre and the enhancement of the 
‘Directory of Services’ (part of 2013/2014 
CQUIN).

•	 Continued monitoring of response times, 
quality (clinical effectiveness, patient safety 
and patient experience) and complaints 
relating to response delays which are reported 
to the Trusts Quality Committee and ECLIPs 
(Experience, Complaints, Litigations and PALs.

•	 Quality issues resulting from urgent 
performance has been raised at the Quality 
Review Group (which is commissioner led ) 
with a view to G2, G3 and urgent performance 
being supported by contracting and 
commissioning; however this did not translate 
into the new contracting and commissioning 
arrangements. The issue will be base lined and 
re addressed at future Quality Review Group 
meetings and has a CQUIN scheme attached to 
it for 2013/14.

•	 A Rapid Process Improvement Workshop 
(RPIW) was held with Sunderland Royal 
Hospital where a handover procedure was 
developed in attempt to improve the delays in 
handover. This is being piloted in City Hospitals 
Sunderland and will be reviewed with a view 
to introducing it to other Acute Trusts.

•	 The Trust hosted a summit in February 2013 
with the Acute Trusts and commissioners to 
develop a whole system action plan and intend 
to reconvene in September.

The Parliamentary and Health Service 

Ombudsman (PHSO)

If a complaint is made to us and the complainant is 

not happy with how we have attempted to resolve 

it, the PHSO can be asked to review the complaint.

From April 1st 2012 to March 31st 2013, the PHSO 

have requested seven complaints files held by 

us. Following the review the ombudsman has 

reported that they had decided not to investigate 

six of these complaints further (note outcome 

of one case outstanding). In one case it was 

identified that the local resolution stage of the 

complaints process had not been completed and 

the Trust was asked to contact the complainant 

to complete local resolution. In another case 

the Ombudsman agreed that the response to 

the complainant was good and suggested that 

the wording in a specific area of the response 

letter could be improved by the use of use of 

‘plain English’. This has been taken on board 

and changes put in place regarding the specific 

wording identified.

Improvements in information for patients 

and carers 

In the last 12 months, we have worked in 

partnership with PALs volunteers to collect 

views of patients in emergency care and PTS. 

This involved a pilot to assess a new method of 

engaging with patients and seeking their views 

on the experiences of our services. Feedback 

from PALS officers and volunteers and patients 

themselves has led to us developing a set of 

questions that will help improve services in the 

future around staff attitude, clinical effectiveness; 

timeliness of responses; information and patient 

involvement in their care.

We have also contributed to a review of the 

PALS service across the region to ensure that this 

resource is not lost during the transition to new 

structures in the NHS. 

Our Experience, Complaints Litigation and PALS 

(ECLIPS) group has continued to revise and edit 

information leaflets for patients and ensured 

these are available on board all of our non-

emergency patient transport service vehicles and 

in GP surgeries and hospitals.

Our main achievement in the last 12 months has 

been to oversee a reduction in PTS complaints 

due to work carried out by the customer care 

team with dialysis patients and units. We have 

also introduced a Duty of Candour - informing 

of relatives when a potential issue or mistake 

is identified. This has involved training some 

20 Family Liaison Officers to assure the Trust 

continues to report in an open and transparent 

manner.

Development of services involving other 

local agencies and services 

Involvement in local initiatives 

The Trust has worked with our local A&E 

departments and Commissioners to develop 

improvements to the process of handing a patient 

over from an ambulance to an A&E department. 

The amount of time it takes to hand over a 

patient following the arrival of an ambulance 

at hospital is dependent upon a number of 

factors; such as the availability of nursing staff 

at the receiving hospital, and the condition of 

the patient. This process differs in length of time 

depending on the number of patients waiting for 

treatment at the hospital at the time the patient 

is brought in from the ambulance.

In common with other ambulance Trusts, we have 

seen the length of time in handover of patients 

increase in some parts of the region and have 

been working proactively with local hospitals 

and Commissioners to achieve the best handover 

times possible for patients. 

Various events and initiatives have been 

organised involving both internal and external 

stakeholders and in particular we organised a 

“summit” event involving all hospital acute trusts, 

commissioners and other interested stakeholders 

to examine in more detail the issues surrounding 

delayed patient hand over. This event culminated 

in producing a short, medium and long term 

action plan to improve the patient experience in 

respect to hand over and involves all agencies.

We have also commissioned NHS Interim 

Management and Support (IMAS) to support 

improvement by introducing specific resources to 

examine the patient hand over process and look 

at alternative clinical pathways. 
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Partnerships to improve delivery of healthcare to our patients 

We always strive to optimise the services we offer to people in the North East region. In November 2011 we won 

the bid to provide region-wide out-of-hours services to patients through the NHS 111 service. We have provided this 

service for residents in County Durham and Darlington since August 2010. Delivery of the region-wide service will 

see us partner with Northern Doctors Urgent Care (NDUC). We have built up an excellent working relationship with 

NDUC and we feel this partnership offers the best service to the patients of the North East. Furthermore we provide 

an urgent transport service in Durham’s which is commissioned to support the 111 service.

In addition we work collaboratively with a number of providers and clinical operational groups to develop 

alternative pathways to support the delivery of ‘right care, right time, right place’. This is supported by our ability 

to flag special patient notes on our Computer Aided Dispatch system to respond to the individual needs of the 

patient.

We have worked closely with the Clinical Network for End of Life Care in the development and implementation 

of ‘Deciding Right’ which is a set of principles and standardised documentation to be used across the region to 

support Advance Care Decisions for patients at the End of Life.

National staff survey 

2012/13 National Staff Survey (most recent survey)

Every year a sample of our staff are given the opportunity to participate in an anonymous survey, as 
part of the NHS national staff survey. The top four ranking scores and lowest four ranking scores are 
shown below, with their comparison for the previous year:

Total Staff Responses: 329 staff (41% of those asked to participate)

Survey Finding NEAS Staff Survey 
Score 2011

NEASStaff Survey 
Score 2012

Ambulance Service  
National Average 
2012

Top four ranked scores in 2012

Percentage of staff 
receiving health and 
safety training in last 
12 months (the higher 
the score the better)

87% 90% 49%

Percentage of staff 
having equality and 
diversity training in 
last 12 months (the 
higher the score  
the better)

79% 83% 45%

Percentage of staff 
working extra hours 
(the lower the score 
the better)

74% 81% 84%

Percentage of staff  
reporting errors,  
incidents or near 
misses witnessed in 
the last month (the 
higher the score  
the better)

89% 85% 81%

Bottom four ranked scores in 2012

Percentage of staff 
experiencing physical 
violence from patients, 
relatives or the public 
in last 12 months (the 
lower the score the 
better)

23% 36% 33%

Percentage of staff 
believing the Trust 
offers equal  
opportunities for  
career progression  
or promotion (the  
higher score the  
better)

67% 56% 70%
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We take the results of our staff survey very 
seriously, and we are committed to listening to 
our staff and responding to their concerns. The 
full results of the survey can be found at 

http://www.nhsstaffsurveys.com/cms/. 

Every year after the survey has been conducted 
we put plans in place to address the areas of most 
concern.  During the last year the actions we have 
taken as a result of staff surveys included:

•	 Reviewing how managers communicate with 
their staff and how managers acted on staff 
feedback.

•	 Reviewing the appraisal system to produce a 
more streamlined appraisal process, further 
work is now underway to provide additional 
training for line managers to ensure that 
appraisals are better structured and more 
relevant to staff.  

•	 Working with local police forces and the 
Crown Prosecution Service to improve the 
prosecution rate of those people who abuse 
NEAS employees. 

•	 Developing an initiative to challenge bullying 
in the workplace “Treat us Right” which will 
be rolled out to all staff during 2013. 

•	 Publicising the availability of counselling for 
our staff to support staff in times of stress. 

•	 The roll out of CCTV onto all double crewed 
front line ambulances (DCA) continues, since 
2009 all DCA have CCTV installed as standard. 
Over 50% of this fleet now has the system 
installed, further developments include new 
technology.

•	 The lone worker policy is now embedded and 
in use throughout the organisation, the policy 
was recently revised and updated via joint 
consultation.

•	 The previously trial equipment bag for rapid 
response paramedics was fully implemented 
and work is currently underway to develop 
a new bag for all double crewed front line 
ambulances.

•	 Stair-climbing chairs were purchased to allow a 
fulsome pilot of the equipment within the PTS 
environment.

•	 New carry chairs with removable tracks for 
negotiating downstairs are on trial within 
A&E.

•	 The former Strategic Health and Safety 
Committee and Wellbeing Group have merged 
to form a revitalised Strategic Health Safety 
and Wellbeing Group.

•	 Post Incident Management training was 
delivered to a number of managers, this 
training is aimed at supporting staff following 
a serious adverse incident.

•	 The reporting of incidents was further 
simplified by the introduction of online 
incident reporting.

•	 Criminal sanctions following cases of 
workplace violence have continued to 
increase; the Trust has achieved the highest 
rates amongst other ambulance services.

•	 Seminars covering work related injuries were 
delivered to management and staff side 
representatives.

•	 Various risk management related policies 
have been re-written and/or introduced, these 
include:

•	 Security Management Policy

•	 Policy for Adding Reviewing Violence & 
Caution Flags

•	 Policy for the Management of Violence and 
Aggression

•	 Policy for Managing the Physical Security of 
Premises, Vehicles and Other Assets

Support from  
immediate managers  
(the higher the score 
the better)

3.10 3.04 3.21

Percentage of staff 
having well-structured 
appraisals in the last 
12 months (the higher 
the score the better)

17% 14% 20%

Please note the response rate within NEAS to the Staff Survey was 40%.

Our priorities for the year ahead are based 
around our lowest scoring areas within the survey, 
and establishing where we can make meaningful 
improvements to our practices. The areas we 
will focus on in the future and a selection of 
associated actions are:

•	 To provide all staff with clear roles, 
responsibilities and rewarding jobs.                                                                                                                                       

•	 To engage staff in decisions that affect them, 
the services they provide and empower them 
to put forward ways to deliver better and 
safer services.

•	 Develop localised action plans to fully 
engage staff in engagement goals.

•	 Develop robust communication plans & 
feedback channels that fully engage all 
staff.          

•	 Establish regular team meetings within 
services to improve communications.

•	 Communications bulletin produced and 
staff comments acted upon.

•	 Continue to involve staff at lean events and 
activities.

•	 Continue to develop the role of team 
leaders at Hospitals.

•	 To provide staff with personal development, 
access to appropriate training for their jobs 
and line management support to succeed.

•	 Streamline root cause analysis process.

•	 Review and promote in-house mediation 
service.

•	 Launch Campaign ‘Treat Us Right’ to focus 
on bullying and harassment.

•	 Establish Task & Finish group to progress 
national changes to appraisal/performance 
and review system.

•	 Proactive work across three Police forces.

•	 To provide support and opportunities for staff 
to maintain their health, wellbeing and safety.

•	 To provide support and opportunities for 
staff to maintain their health, wellbeing 
and safety.

•	 Pilot new rapid physiotherapy service.

•	 Training for managers in response to stress 
questions
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Directors’ report

Board of Directors 
The composition of our Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for formulating and driving strategy, ensuring accountability 
and shaping culture. It is ultimately accountable for everything that goes on in the organisation and 
it is responsible for putting the right people, the right quality of information and the right systems in 
place to make decisions.  It operates through a scheme of delegation within a robust framework of 
systems and reporting which ensures that core business and risks are being controlled. The Board gains 
assurance through its committee structure and sources of other assurance and it meets formally, both 
in public and private sessions throughout the year to discharge its duties and receive those assurances. 
Our Chairman and Chief Executive have complementary roles in leadership:

•	 Our Chairman leads the Board of Directors and ensures its effectiveness and he chairs 
the Council of Governors

•	 The Chief Executive leads our Executive Team and the organisation.

The Executive Team has the day-to-day responsibility of managing the Trust; it has specific executive 
powers conferred to it by the Board of Directors and translates decisions made by the Board on the 
Trust’s strategic direction into action and performance manages the three main service lines of Contact 
Centres, Patient Transport Service and Emergency Care.

All Directors subscribe to the ‘Codes of Conduct and Accountability in the NHS’ and in January this 
year, the Board adopted a set of Standards that were issued by the Professional Standards Authority 
and which bring together the essential skills that are expected of leaders in the NHS; in their personal 
behaviour, technical competence and business conduct.  

The Board of Directors has a range of skills and experiences gained from both the public and private 
sectors that complement all areas of our business including clinical, contact centre management, 
logistics, legal, finance, human resource management and operations management.  This range of 
skills ensures balance, completeness and appropriateness of membership of the Board of Directors. 

Under Monitor’s compliance regime and as a Foundation Trust, the Board of Directors is required 
to make a number of declarations and statements on a quarterly basis in that it has complied with 
the conditions of its Licence (issued by Monitor) in relation to healthcare targets (Governance), that 
its financial position is sound and that there are no other matters requiring an exception report to 
Monitor.  The Board of Directors aligned its work and as such, its meetings, to reflect this quarterly 
reporting and conducts the majority of its business in public session in April, July, October and January. 
Whilst the Board has meetings in other months, the Agenda is restricted albeit these are open to the 
public to attend. Members of the Board have attended a number of seminar events throughout the 
year where a range of themed developmental sessions and briefings were delivered.

Chairman

Chief Executive

Trust Secretary

Trust Board of Directors 
(Non-Executives and Executive Directions)

Director of Finance 
and Resources

Chief Operating Officer

Director of Clinical Care 
and Patient safety

Medical Director

Assoc. director of  
Strategy Contracting  

and Performance

Director of Workforce and 
Organisational Development

The roles of Executive and Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors contribute to the development of strategy and play an important role in 
scrutinising the management in achieving agreed goals and objectives and monitoring the reporting 
of performance.  Non-Executive Directors are drawn from the local community and can ensure that 
the voice of the public is heard in decision-making processes and that the interests of patients remain 
at the heart of Board discussions. Non-Executives also have a role in working with the Chairman in the 
appointment and remuneration of the Chief Executive and other Executive Directors as members of 
the Trust’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Executive Directors share the same corporate responsibilities as Non-Executive colleagues but bring 
detailed knowledge of the organisation’s management systems and processes and of the health sector, 
as well as specialised clinical and managerial expertise. The Trust has six Executive Directors who are all 
employed by the Trust on permanent contracts with a six month notice period.  

All Non-Executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Trust

All of the NHS Trust Non-Executive Directors continued as Non-Executive Directors of NEAS as a 
Foundation Trust.  As a new Foundation Trust, ‘initial’ appointments of the current Non-Executive 
Directors (and the Chairman) were been made in accordance with the NHS Act 2006 which provides for 
the ‘initial’ Chairman and ‘initial’ Non-Executive Directors to be appointed “for the unexpired period 
of his or her term of office as Chairman or Non-Executive Director but if, on any such appointment, 
that period is less than 12 months, he or she must be appointed for 12 months”.  As such, three Non-
Executives were appointed for one year, two Non-Executive Directors for a period of over one year 
and the Chairman’s appointment is due for review in June 2014. The Trust had two ‘designate’ Non-
Executive Directors and both were appointed for a period of three years.

During 2012/13, four of the Non-Executive have been re-appointed by the Council of Governors for a 
period of three years.  The Trust Chairman, Tony Dell announced his retirement and left the Trust at 
the end of December.  The Council of Governors appointed Ashley Winter as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and Council of Governors and he took up the post on 1st January 2013.

Under the Foundation Trust Constitution, removal of the Chairman or Non-Executive Directors requires 
the approval of three-quarters of the members of the Council of Governors. Appointments will also 
be terminated if, in accordance with the Constitution, they become disqualified from holding their 
appointment or they resign from office by giving notice.

Board of Directors and Management Organisation Chart
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Ashley Winter OBE - Chairman

Ashley Winter was the former chairman and managing director of Patterson 
Motor Group and took up the post of NEAS Chairman on 1st January 2013.

He is well-known in business, charity and education circles as he has served 
as President of Tyne & Wear Chamber of Commerce, chair of Business Link 
Tyneside, Tyneside Training and Enterprise Council and led the transition to 
the Learning and Skills Council which he chaired in Tyne & Wear.

He was awarded the OBE for Services to Businesses in the North East in 
2003 and is currently chair of the Community Foundation Tyne & Wear 
and Northumberland and also the Tyne & Wear Enterprise Trust (Entrust); 
a director of Herbert Dove Trustees and a Trustee of the Charlotte 
Straker Project, a charitable nursing and residential home in Corbridge, 
Northumberland.

Ashley held the position of High Sheriff of Tyne and Wear until April 2013.

Simon Featherstone - Chief Executive

A Chartered Accountant, Simon has worked for an insurance company in 
Bermuda, an aviation company in Luton, building societies in Bristol and 
Sunderland, before going to work for the NHS in Scotland as Director of 
Finance and then joining City Health (Community & Mental Health) Trust 
in Newcastle in 1997.  Since October 1999, he has been Chief Executive of 
the North East Ambulance Trust, formed in April 1999 from the merger of 
Northumbria and Durham County Ambulance Services. 

He has been Chief Executive of the North East Ambulance NHS Trust since it 
was formed in 2006 from the merger of North East Ambulance Service with 
Teesside, East and North Yorkshire Ambulance Trusts

Tony Dell (former Chairman)

Tony retired at the end of December having seen the Trust successfully 
through to Foundation Trust Status.  He was the Chairman of the former 
ambulance service organisation and prior to that, a Director with the 
Government Office for the North East (GONE) for ten years, taking early 
retirement in 2000.

Board Profile

The team of Executive and Non-Executive Directors during the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013:

Roger French - Director of Finance & Resources

Roger’s main areas of financial responsibility are advising the Trust Board 
on financial strategies, financial services including treasury management 
and procurement, financial planning and financial management including 
day to day budgetary control.  He leads on information management and 
technology, estates, fleet, the routine maintenance function, purchasing of 
goods and services. From 1st April 2012 Roger’s responsibilities for his non-
financial resource roles have expanded to include the Deputy Chief Executive 
role and responsibility for leading the Trust’s Information Management and 
Technology and Fleet functions, whilst continuing to provide leadership on the 
strategic estates and routine maintenance functions.

Paul Liversidge – Chief Operating Officer 

Paul began work for Northumbria Ambulance Service in 1983, where he 
gained seven years of front line operational experience. He was appointed 
by the North East Ambulance Service as Senior Divisional Officer in 1999 
following the merger of the former Northumbria and Durham services, 
with overall responsibility for the delivery of Accident and Emergency 
services for South of Tyne.  He progressed to become Director of Accident 
and Emergency and following the merger in July 2006, he was appointed 
to the role of Director of Ambulance Operations at the new North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Trust. As Chief Operating Officer, he is responsible 
for emergency services, patient transport services, emergency planning, the 
hazardous area response team and our contact centres.

Colin Cessford – (former) Director of Strategy & Business 
Development

Colin is a former Nurse and Paramedic who graduated in 1997 with a BSc 
in Pre-hospital Care and attained an MSc in Health Science Management 
in 2003.  He is widely travelled, and has managed healthcare projects in 
both the Middle East and Australia. He left the Trust in June 2012.  His role 
combined aspects of strategic and business development, performance 
management and operational management of the Trust’s three contact 
centres.  At a national Ambulance Service level, Colin had responsibility for 
the NHS 111 urgent care access telephone service.

Joanne Machers – Director of Workforce & Organisational 
Development

Joanne was appointed to the Trust on 1st July 2013 and has worked in the 
public sector since 1983 and has held a number of strategic HR roles on 
Tyneside, Teesside and in County Durham.  

Joanne is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel & Development 
(CIPD) and was awarded an MSc in 2011. Joanne’s current role combines 
aspects of strategic workforce management and organisational development.”

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical Care and Patient Safety

Ann has worked for the NHS for over 25 years in various roles at a clinical, 
operational management and strategic level. Ann took up her post in 
October 2009 and is the Director of Clinical Care & Patient Safety which 
covers all aspects of Clinical Governance, Clinical Risk, Complaints, Infection 
Prevention & Control and Research and Development.  Ann is the Trust’s 
Caldicott Guardian, appointed to protect patient information. She is also 
responsible for the Trust’s Assurance processes including Risk Management 
and Health and Safety.  

Ann tendered her resignation and will be leaving the Trust in April.
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Kyee Han - Medical Director, Directorate of Clinical Care and 
Patient Safety 

Kyee Han is the Medical Director at NEAS. He provides strategic medical 
advice and leadership.  Kyee has worked as a Consultant within A&E since 
1990. 

He has had a close working relationship with the ambulance service both 
as a trainee and consultant. He commenced his post, which is part time, 
in January 2010.

Nichola Fairless – Assoc. Director of Strategy, Contracting & 
Performance

Nichola started her career as a trainee in District Audit back in 1997, 
progressing to Senior Performance Specialist working across the 
majority of NHS Trusts in the Northern region. At her time at District 
Audit she developed a number of national Value for Money studies 
and also undertook some local governance inspectorate work.

Since then Nichola worked as an NHS commissioner working in 
performance and business planning before joining the Trust in 2005. 
Nichola was heavily involved in our foundation trust application 
and our recent NHS 111 success. She has only recently taken up her 
Associate Director post in April 2012 and is responsible for Strategy, 
Contracting and Performance. Nichola took maternity leave in October 
and Rod MacLeod is acting Associate Director until Nichola’s return.

John Pescott (Deputy Chair) – Non-Executive Director

 A Chartered Accountant, John is the Royal Danish Consul for Newcastle, 
Northumberland, Durham, Tyne and Wear, Middleborough and Stockton.  
Prior to taking early retirement he was a director of a major international 
shipping company.

John’s initial appointment term with the Foundation Trust is one year, 
expiring on 1st November 2012.

John is Deputy Chair of the Board of Directors.

Board Profile

The team of Executive and Non-Executive Directors during the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013:

Helen Tucker – Non-Executive Director 

Helen brings a wealth of diverse experience to the Board having worked 
within the NHS for forty years, starting her career as a Cadet Nurse and 
finally retiring from the post of Director of Patient Service and Nursing 
for a former local PCT.  Helen retains a strong professional interest in the 
dignity of patient care and pain control.

Helen’s initial term with the Foundation Trust runs to 30th September 2014.

Alison Fellows (Senior Independent Director) – Non-Executive 
Director

Alison is a solicitor and was formerly a partner, heading the Commercial 
Team at Dickinson Dees Law Firm. Alison is now the Head of Major Projects 
within Newcastle City Council. 

Alison’s initial term with the Foundation Trust was for one year, and she 
was re-appointed on 1st November 2012 for a three years term.

Alison is Senior Independent Director of the Council of Governors.

Wendy Lawson – Non-Executive Director 

Following a long and successful career in sales and business development, 
Wendy moved into the contact centre arena where she worked at a senior 
level for several years. Wendy now runs her own contact centre consultancy 
based in Newcastle.  Her main areas of interest include telemarketing and 
outsourcing, specialising in senior operations management and project 
management of high volume Contact Centres. 

Wendy was appointed to the Foundation Trust on 1st November 2011 for a 
period of three years.

Jeff Fitzpatrick – Non-Executive Director

Jeff started his career in Human Resources and industrial relations 
and quickly moved on to general management.  Jeff has a passion for 
investment and recently formed a new venture, World Class Investors Ltd. 
Jeff is a significant investor in the world’s stock markets himself and enjoys 
teaching others how to do so safely and successfully. 

Jeff’s initial appointment term with the Trust ran to 31st March 2013 when 
he was re-appointed for a three years term.

Phil Murray – Non-Executive Director

Phil has a BA Honours in Accountancy and Marketing, and is also a 
chartered accountant.  He is Group Finance Director at Gentoo, and is 
Managing Director at Romag Ltd.

Phil was appointed to the Foundation Trust on 1st November 2011 for a 
period of three years.

Peter Wood – Non-Executive Director  

Peter spent 39 years working for Barclays Bank before his retirement.  Since 
then Peter has been actively engaged in a range of community activities. 

Peter’s initial appointment term with the Foundation Trust was for one year 
and he was re-appointed on 1st November 2012 for a three years term.
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Attendance at Board of Directors meetings from November 1st 2011 to March 31st 2012.

From November 1st 2011 to March 31st 2012, there were 8 meetings of the Board of Directors, 
consisting of 5 closed meetings and 3 public meetings. Attendance at the meetings was as follows:

Dorothy Teasdale (Trust Secretary) and Mark Cotton (Assistant Director of Communications and 
Engagement) also attended all of the meetings in an advisory capacity.

Name of Board member
Job role

Attendance November 1st 
2011 to March 31st 2012 

(out of 8 meetings)

Tony Dell 
(until 31st December 2012)

Chairman 12

Ash Winter 
(from 1st January 2013)

Chairman 3

Simon Featherstone Chief Executive 17

Nichola Fairless 
(until October 2012 due to 
maternity leave) 

Associate Director of Strategy, 
Contracting & Performance 8

Rod MacLeod 
(from October 2012) 

Acting Associate Director 
of Strategy, Contracting & 

Performance 
9

Roger French Director of Finance & Resources 17

Ann Fox Director of Clinical Care & 
Patient Safety 17

Paul Liversidge Chief Operating Officer 17

Elma Alexander 
(until July 2012)

Interim Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational 

Development
4

Joanne Machers 
(from July 2012)

Director of Workforce & 
Organisational Development 13

Kyee Han Medical Director 9

John Pescott Non-Executive Director 17

Helen Tucker Non-Executive Director 15

Alison Fellows Non-Executive Director 15

Jeff Fitzpatrick Non-Executive Director 15

Wendy Lawson Non-Executive Director 11

Peter Wood Non-Executive Director 15

Phil Murray Non-Executive Director 13

Aduit Committee

Chair John Pescott, Non-Executive Director

Membership All non-executive directors (other directors and auditors by 
invitation)

Purpose To act independently from the Executive, to provide assurance 
to the Board, based on a challenge of evidence and assurance 
obtained, that the interests of the Trust are properly protected 
in relation to financial reporting and internal control. To keep 
under review the effectiveness of the system of internal control; 
that is the systems established to identify, assess, manage and 
monitor risks both financial and otherwise, and to ensure the Trust 
complies with all aspects of the law, relevant regulation and good 
practice.
To report to the Board on any matters in respect of which the 
Committee considers that action or improvement is needed, and to 
make recommendations as to the steps to be taken.

Frequency of Meetings and 
Reporting

Not less than four times per year – accountable to the Board of Directors

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 3 meetings held November 
1st 2011 to March 31st 2012)

Name Designation Attended
Attended 

(%)

John Pescott Non-Executive 
Director 7 100%

Alison 
Fellows

Non-Executive 
Director 7 100%

Wendy 
Lawson

Non-Executive 
Director 6 86%

Peter Wood Non-Executive 
Director 6 86%

Helen Tucker Non-Executive 
Director 4 57%

Jeff 
Fitzpatrick

Non-Executive 
Director 7 100%

Phil Murray Non-Executive 
Director 5 71%

Our Board level committees

The Trust has a robust committee structure, to provide assurance that our governance arrangements are 
strong and effective. The committees within the Trust are underpinned by numerous working groups, made 
up of members of operational staff, support services, directors and senior management. These groups 
can identify risks which are then raised at committee level. Our Board of Directors produces the strategic 
direction for the Trust, ratifies policies and procedures, reviews organisational performance, ensures the 
availability of adequate financial resources, approves budgets and is accountable to the public for the 
organisation’s performance. In addition to the routine committee meetings, the Executive Team meet every 
two weeks in a formal capacity to review organisational performance and other matters. 

In 2011/12 the Executive Team was made up of Executive Directors, the Trust Secretary and Assistant 
Director of Communications and Engagement. 

In 2012/13 the Executive Team was made up of Executive Directors, the Trust Secretary and Assistant 
Director of Communications and Engagement. 

Attendance at Board level committees from 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013

We have six Committees that have been formally constituted by the Board of Directors – attendance by 
Board-members is detailed in the tables below.
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Governance and Risk Committee

Chair Alison Fellows, Non-Executive Director

Membership Members of the Board of Directors (executive and non-executives) 
x 8, risk, finance, business and commissioning managers, Quality 
Assurance Officer, and Monitoring and Compliance Officer.

Purpose To provide the Board of Directors with an objective review of, and 
assurances, in relation to:

•	 Focus on all aspects of risk governance, risk management 
frameworks and promotion of behaviours and cultures that drive 
approaches to risk management

•	 The systems of internal control in relation to governance and 
risk management, in that these are fit for purpose, adequately 
resourced and underpin our performance and reputation

•	 The overall risk governance process in that it gives clear, explicit 
and dedicated focus to current and forward-looking aspects of 
risk exposure

•	 Compliance with law, best practice governance and regulatory standards

Frequency of Meetings and 
Reporting

Quarterly – accountable to the Audit Committee for assurances on 
risk and robust systems of internal control and the Board of Directors

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 3 meetings held November 
1st 2011 to March 31st 2012)

Name Designation Attended
Attended 

(%)

Alison 
Fellows

Non-Executive 
Director 3 75%

Peter Wood Non-Executive 
Director 4 100%

Roger French Executive 
Director 4 100%

Simon 
Featherstone

Chief 
Executive 2 50%

Elma 
Alexander 

/Joanne 
Machers

Executive 
Director 3 75%

Paul 
Liversidge

Executive 
Director 3 75%

Quality Committee

Chair Peter Wood, Non-Executive Director

Membership Medical Director and Director of Clinical Care & Patient Safety, 
complaints, training and operational managers, Paramedic 
and other front-line staff, Patient Advice and Liaison services 
representatives, and Monitoring and Compliance Officer.

Purpose To provide the Board of Directors with assurance that quality is 
considered and embedded throughout the organisation and to 
provide appropriate scrutiny on clinical effectiveness, patient 
safety and patient experience.

Frequency of Meetings and 
Reporting

Bi-monthly – accountable to the Board of Directors

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 4 meetings held)

Name Designation Attended
Attended 

(%)

Ann Fox Executive 
Director 4 100%

Kyee Han Executive 
Director 4 100%

Peter Wood Non-Executive 
Director 4 100%

Helen Tucker Non-Executive 
Director 4 100%

Simon 
Featherstone

Chief 
Executive 4 100%

Workforce and Equality Committee

Chair Helen Tucker, Non-Executive Director

Membership Members of the Board of Directors (executive and non-executives) 
x 7, human resources, workforce development, and equality & 
diversity managers.

Purpose To provide the Board of Directors with an objective review of, and 
assurances, in relation to:

•	 The design, development and implementation of a Workforce 
Strategy that supports our vision and continues to maximise 
the potential of our workforce to deliver the highest quality 
of care to patients

•	 Effective management and leadership development

•	 The quality and delivery of workforce plans

•	 Organisational development

•	 Health and well-being of staff

•	 Equality and diversity

•	 Compliance with employment legislation and the standards of 
relevant external professional bodies

Frequency of Meetings & Reporting Quarterly– accountable to the Board of Directors

Wendy 
Lawson

Non-executive 
Director 2 50%

Elma 
Alexander 

/Joanne 
Machers

Executive 
Director 3 75%

Roger French Executive 
Director 2 50%

Colin 
Cessford

Executive 
Director 4 100%

Ann Fox Executive 
Director 4 100%

Nichola 
Fairless / Rod 

MacLeod

Associate 
Director 

4 100%

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 4 meetings held).

Name Designation Attended Attended (%)

Helen Tucker Non-Executive 
Director 4 100%
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Chair Tony Dell, Chairman

Membership All Non-Executive Directors, Chairman.

Purpose Has delegated authority to set remuneration for all executive directors, 
monitor their performance, consider nominations for executive director 
vacancies, and make recommendations on such appointments.  

Frequency of Meetings & Reporting At least once per year. 

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 2 meetings held November 
1st 2011 to March 31st 2012)  

Name Designation Attended Attended (%)

Helen Tucker Non-Executive 
Director 2 75%

Wendy 
Lawson

Non-executive 
Director 3 100%

John Pescott Non-Executive 
Director 3 100%

Alison 
Fellows

Non-Executive 
Director 3 100%

Peter Wood Non-Executive 
Director 3 100%

Jeff 
Fitzpatrick

Non-Executive 
Director 2 75%

Phil Murray Non-Executive 
Director 2 75%

3 meetings were held in this period  

The Chief Executive (Simon Featherstone) and the Trust Secretary (Dorothy 
Teasdale) attended both of these meetings in an advisory capacity.

Charitable Funds Committee

Chair Peter Wood, Non-Executive Director

Membership All Non-Executive Directors, Chairman.

Purpose To oversee the management, investment and disbursement of 
Charitable funds within the regulations provided by the Charities 
Commission and to ensure compliance with the laws governing 
charitable funds. To ensure the Trust’s compliance with legislative, 
mandatory and regulatory requirements in terms of the Committee’s

Frequency of Meetings & Reporting Not less than two times per year.

Ann Fox Executive 
Director 3 75%

Nichola 
Fairless /Rod 

MacLeod

Associate 
Director 

4 100%

3 meetings were held in this period 

Business Investment and Finance Committee

Chair Jeff Fitzpatrick, Non-Executive Director

Membership Trust Board members (executive and non-executives), finance, 
business, performance management, and commissioning 
managers.

Purpose To provide the Board of Directors with an objective review of, and 
assurances, in relation to:
•	 Growth proposals, ensuring their alignment with Board 

approved corporate strategy

•	 Governance processes for all major investments and divestments

•	 Business cases referred to it by the Capital Monitoring Group 
requiring major capital investment

•	 Finance, contracting and commissioning issues; presenting 
reports and recommendations in relation to ensuring we 
maintain cash liquidity and are an effective going concern

•	 Compliance with legislative, mandatory and regulatory 
requirements in terms of the Committee’s scope.

Frequency of Meetings and 
Reporting

Bi-monthly – accountable to the Board of Directors

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 4 meetings held November 
1st 2011 to March 31st 2012)

Name Designation Attended
Attended 

(%)

Jeff 
Fitzpatrick

Non-Executive 
Director 5 100%

Phil Murray Non-Executive 
Director 4 80%

Alison 
Fellows

Non-Executive 
Director 4 80%

Tony Dell /Ash 
Winter  

Ex-office
Chairman 5 100%

Simon 
Featherstone

Chief 
Executive 5 100%

Ann Fox Executive 
Director 4 80%

Elma 
Alexander 

/Joanne 
Machers

Executive 
Director 4 80%

Roger French Executive 
Director 5 100%

Paul 
Liversidge

Executive 
Director 5 100%

Nichola 
Fairless /Rod 

MacLeod

Associate 
Director

5 100%

Attendance by members of the 
Board of Directors (from a total 
of 3 meetings held)   

Name Designation Attended Attended (%)

Peter Wood Non-Executive 
Director 3 100%

Wendy 
Lawson

Non-executive 
Director 2 75%
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Performance evaluation of our Board of Directors

Executive Directors: the Chief Executive appraises the performance of each Executive Director on a 
quarterly basis and reviews progress against their key objectives which are derived, at the beginning of 
each year, from the Forward Plan. The Board receives a position statement in September where progress 
is reported and the Trust’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee (consisting of Non-Executive 
Directors) takes account of the performance of each Director and that of the Executive arm of the Board 
as part of its annual salary review discussions.

The Trust Chairman appraises the performance of the Chief Executive at quarterly intervals and the 
above process is also adopted for the setting of objectives albeit national considerations are taken into 
account.

Non-Executive Directors: As a Foundation Trust, it is the role of the Council of Governors to ensure 
there is an effective and meaningful performance assessment and appraisal process in place for both the 
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors. A process was approved by the Council in April 2012, effected 
early in 2013 and the outcome has been considered by the Governor Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee which will be reporting to the Council of Governors in April that each of the Non-Executives 
had performed well. Members of the Committee agreed that the assessment and appraisal process 
was rigorous with clear evidence of achievement.   The Chairman has agreed objectives with each Non-
Executive Director and has developed his own personal objectives, which will also be presented to the 
Council of Governors in April 2013. 

Committees: All Board Committees (and those groups reporting to them) conduct a formal ‘Review of 
Effectiveness’ on an annual basis. Each Committee (and group) is required to demonstrate to the  Board 
(and each group to its senior committee) that it has fulfilled its remit, remained within its Terms of 
Reference and has satisfactorily discharged its duties; adding value in terms of assurances and identifying 
and mitigating risk. This process is led by the Non-Executive Chair of the Committee.  

Board of Directors: The Board of Directors undergo an annual performance evaluation in the form of a 
two-day Board development event in December where the Board evaluates how it has performed and 
where it can improve.

The Board engaged external professional expertise in readiness for the rigorous assessment of its 
capability and capacity by Monitor and the process helped to equip it to more effectively meet future 
challenges by testing both clinical quality and financial viability. More recently, it used Monitor’s Quality 
Governance Framework, to evidence that it accurately understands the quality of the care provided by 
the Trust, it is able to assess and mitigate risks to quality, that quality is seen as a responsibility of the 
entire Board, not only the medical and nursing directors and the Trust is committed to continuously 
quality improvement and have put in place tools to address poor performance.

Declaration of Interests

It is a requirement that the Chairman and all members of the Board of Directors should declare any 
conflict of interest that arises in the course of conducting NHS business. Upon appointment, members of 
the Board of Directors are asked to declare any business interests, directorships, positions of authority 
in a charity or voluntary body in the field of health and any connection with contracting bodies for NHS 
services. All such declarations are entered in a register and are available for public scrutiny.  You can 
obtain a copy of the register of interests by writing to our Trust Secretary, using the contact information 
at the end of this report.  
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Council 
of governors

Our Governors

The Council of Governors is the accountability forum between the Board of Directors 
and its stakeholders.  It represents local interests and holds the Non-Executive 
Directors to account, as well as exercising its statutory powers which include: 

•	 Appointing (and removing) the Chairman and 
other Non-Executive Directors, deciding on 
remuneration and allowances, 

•	 Appointing (and removing) the Trust’s Auditors 
through a fair tendering process involving 
a task and finish group, and receiving the 
annual accounts and the annual report.  

•	 In preparing the Trust’s forward strategic 
plan, the Board of Directors must have regard 
to the views of the Council of Governors. It 
meets formally and in public four times a year 
and has constituted a number of Governor 
Committees to help it fulfil its role.

Our Council of Governors has been operating 
formally for over a year now and has discharged 
many of its statutory duties, including the 
appointment of the Chairman and re-appointment 
of a number of Non-Executive Directors and 
appointing the Trust’s external auditors. The 
Constitution has been amended to reflect the 
Health & Social Care Act 2012 and has been 
approved by the Council of Governors.    

The Council of Governors established two 
Committees, namely the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee and a Membership & 
Engagement Committee and there is a majority 
of Governor membership on the Quality Report 
Task & Finish Group and the Annual Planning 
Working Group as well as attendance at the Trust’s 
Equality & Diversity Group.    Over the year, there 
has been a programme of themed seminars and 
induction sessions to ensure that the Council 
fully understands the business of the Trust and its 
various activities, so that Governors can fulfill their 
important role of engaging with the public and 
ensuring that our services continue to improve in 
line with the wishes of the membership.

In November, the Governors reviewed its 
performance and meeting dynamics, including 
the Council Agenda, governor participation, the 
information it receives, the frequency and timing 

of meetings, its committees and working groups 
and community engagement.  It also set five 
objectives for the year ahead and an overarching 
aim “to be effective in holding the Non-Executive 
Directors collectively and individually to account 
for the performance of the Trust.”

How do our Council of Governors Appoint the 
Chairman

The appointment of the chairman was made 
by the Council of Governors for the North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust. The 
recruitment campaign had been handled by 
Northern Recruitment Group (NRG). At the closing 
date of 19th October 2013, nine applications had 
been received. The selection panel met on 25 
October 2013 and considered all applications and 
six candidates were shortlisted – one of which 
later withdrew their application. The shortlisted 
candidates were invited to meet with the Chief 
Executive and the Trust Secretary to be briefed 
on the role of Chairman.  The five shortlisted 
candidates were interviewed by the Selection 
Panel. 

The Governors’ Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee had met on 27 November to consider 
the recommendations from the Selection Panel on 
appointable candidates and a preferred candidate, 
Ashley Winter, had been identified.

The Council of Governors considered the 
information provided in the report and was 
content that a rigorous process had been 
undertaken and agreed to the appointment of 
Ashley Winter as Chairman of the North East 
Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust with effect from 
a date to be agreed with the successful candidate. 
The appointment was for a three year period at 
the same remuneration as the outgoing Chairman.

Region or organisation Governor name Term of appointment

North of Tyne Region Mary Mallatratt 2 years

Kevin Mason 3 years

Jane Tomlin 3 years

Sid Walker 3 years

John Temple 2 years

Violet Rook 2 years

South of Tyne Region James Falade 2 years

Michael Glickman 3 years

Bill Graham 2 years

Stephanie Smith 3 years

Shobha Srivstava 2 years

Durham Region Robert Alabaster 3 years

Ricky Clayton 2 years

Michael Dalton 2 years

Michael Hemingway 3 years

Dorothy Maskery 3 years

Teesside Region Ray Stephenson 2 years

Mary Carter 2 years

Mary Fletcher 3 years

Jean McKenna 3 years

Frederick Lewis-Bynoe 3 years

North East Ambulance Service 
(Staff Governors)

Claire Hardy (A&E) 3 years

Chris Ward (PTS) 3 years

Frazer Gregory (Control and 
Contact Centres) 3 years

Gemma Rodgers (Support 
Services) 3 years

Voluntary Organisations’ 
Network North East 
(Stakeholder Governor)

Jo Whaley 3 years

How do we elect and appoint our Council of Governors? 

Our Staff Governor (Support Services) resigned in November and the Trust held a by-election and 
in January 2013, Joanne Coyne, Customer Care Officer, was elected.  The election was run by the 
independent election company UK Engage.  With the abolition of Primary Care Trusts Mary Coyle will 
cease to become an appointed Governor from 1st April 2013.

The table below shows the Council of Governors and each Governor’s term of election..
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Meetings of the Council of Governors and attendance

During 2012/13 there have been four meetings of the Council of Governors. The attendance of each 
Governor is shown in the table below.

Region or organisation Governor name
Attendance at meetings 

(from a total of 1 meeting)

North of Tyne Region Mary Mallatratt 5

Kevin Mason 4

Jane Tomlin 5

Sid Walker 5

John Temple 2

Violet Rook 5

South of Tyne Region James Falade 3

Michael Glickman 3

Bill Graham 5

Stephanie Smith 4

Shobha Srivstava 3

Durham Region Robert Alabaster 5

Ricky Clayton 5

Michael Dalton 5

Michael Hemingway 4

Dorothy Maskery 5

Teesside Region Ray Stephenson 5

Mary Carter 1

Veronica Fletcher 3

Declarations of interest

Similarly to our Board of Directors, all of our 
Governors must declare details of any company 
directorships or other significant interests which 
could conflict with their responsibilities as a 
Governor of the North East Ambulance Service.  A 
Register of Interests is maintained by the Trust, 
and is available through request to the Trust 
Secretary. Address details can be found at the end 
of this report.  

The Board and Governor relationship

Our Board of Directors recognises the importance 
of receiving and reacting to views of our Council 
of Governors. 

As a Foundation Trust from November 2011, the 
Board of Directors was keen to understand the 
statutory powers of the Council of Governors 
and to support it in creating the forums where 
the Council could hold the Board of Directors to 
account for its actions, decisions and behaviours 
through formal meetings and by providing all of 
the information that the Board has at its disposal. 
 

The forums used during this reporting period 
include:

•	 The Quality Report Task and Finish Group 
(Governors and Trust officers)

•	 The Annual Planning Working Group 
(Governors and Trust officers) specifically to 
ensure the views of Governors are captured 
and then taken into account in formulating 
plans for the year ahead. 

•	 The Governor Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

Non-Executive Directors have attended meetings 
of the Council and there will be joint-meetings 
or sessions of the Board and the Council during 
2013/14.

At the Governor Event in November, our Governors 
were updated on the Health & Social Care Act 
2012 and in particular, the duty to hold Non-
Executive Directors to account for the performance 
of the Trust.  The Governors received training 
in this area and held a ‘mock’ session where 
some Non-Executive Directors were asked about 
performance and their actions.

North East Ambulance Service 
(Staff Governors)

Claire Hardy (A&E) 2

Chris Ward (PTS) 1

Frazer Gregory (Control and 
Contact Centres) 5

Gemma Rodgers (Support 
Services) 2

Voluntary Organisations’ 
Network North East 
(Stakeholder Governor)

Jo Whaley 4

Association of North East 
Councils

Lynne Caffrey 2

Doreen Huddart 2

Richard Dodd 4

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

Chris Parsons 4

Teesside University Eileen Martin 2

North Tyneside Primary Care 
Trust

Mary Coyle 2

Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Trust

David Thompson 4

Cleveland Emergency Planning 
Unit

Andy Summerbell 4

Association of North East 
Councils

Lynne Caffrey 3 years

Doreen Huddart 3 years

Richard Dodd 3 years

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys  
NHS Foundation Trust

Chris Parsons 3 years

Teesside University Eileen Martin 3 years

North Tyneside Primary  
Care Trust

Mary Coyle 3 years

Northumbria Healthcare  
NHS Trust

David Thompson 3 years

Cleveland Emergency  
Planning Unit

Andy Summerbell 3 years

Jean McKenna 2

Frederick Lewis-Bynoe 4
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Remuneration report

Performance conditions 

The Council of Governors approved a performance 
assessment and appraisal process for the Chairman 
and Non-Executive Directors and the Governor 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee decided 
on some of the key elements of that. The Council 
was keen to ensure that best practice had been 
taken into account in its development and, prior to 
agreeing the process, it reviewed guidance which 
set out what a good process should encompass. 
In particular, the Committee was keen that the 
system adopted would enable all Governors to 
have a ‘voice’ in the entire appraisal process.  This 
was adopted by the full Council of Governors. 

The Lead Governor and Senior Independent 
Director have a role in the assessment and 
appraisal of the Chairman, including performance 
against clear objectives and the Executive Directors 
also have a role in participating in the assessment 
of Non-Executive Directors. 

The Executive arm of the Board of Directors is 
monitored both collectively and individually, on 
delivery of key objectives with the Chief Executive 
appraising performance of Directors on a quarterly 
basis, and the Chairman reviewing the Chief 
Executive’s performance on the same basis.

Remuneration not subject to performance 
conditions

Performance bonus payments have, historically, 
been in line with the levels set by the Department 
of Health.  There are no performance conditions 

for the current period and assessment and 
appraisal of performance will be undertaken 
against delivery of all objectives. 

Service contracts for senior managers

The details of the service contracts for our senior 
managers are shown in the table below.  All senior 
appointments were required to be renewed as 
of November 2011, on the North East Ambulance 
Trust becoming a Foundation Trust.

Remuneration of senior managers and policy on senior management contracts

The Council of Governors decides on the remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors. In 
line with best practice and Monitor guidance, the Governor Nomination & Remuneration Committee, on 
behalf of the Council, considered professional advice to market test the pay levels and the other terms 
and conditions. In April, Governors used the outcome of that market testing to determine salary levels of 
the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors, taking account of the new duties and responsibilities and 
alignment with other Foundation Trusts in the North East.

For Executive Directors, the Board’s own Nomination & Remuneration Committee, consisting of Non-
Executive Directors, sets the policy and authorises the remuneration packages and contractual terms that 
are sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors whilst remaining cost effective. Proper 
regard to the Trust’s circumstances, performance and comparative information from within the NHS and 
other public sector organisation will be taken into account. Advice and guidance to this Committee is 
provided by the Trust Secretary, in respect of national guidance, Trust protocol and other related matters.

All of our Executive Directors are required to give six months’ notice upon deciding to leave the Trust, 
and any lesser period must be approved by the Board of Directors, which would assess the risk to the 
continuity of business.  Non-Executive Directors can terminate their contract at any time. 

The Trust has not given any significant awards to senior managers over the last year.

Senior manager’s remuneration and pension benefits are detailed in the tables on the following pages. 
Accounting policies for pension and other retirement benefits are set out within the accounts. No 
compensation for loss of office paid or receivable has been made under the terms of the approved 
Compensation Scheme. This is the only audited part of the remuneration report.

Signed

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive

Senior Manager Designation
Appointment date 

(including most recent 
re-appointment)

Date term of office 
requires renewal

Simon Featherstone Chief Executive November 2011 Permanent- 
 no renewal

Roger French Executive Director November 2011 Permanent- 
 no renewal

Paul Liversidge Executive Director November 2011 Permanent-  
no renewal

Nichola Fairless Associate Director April 2012 Permanent-  
no renewal

Chris Harrison Executive Director November 2011
Permanent- 
no renewal

Ann Fox Executive Director November 2011 Permanent-  
no renewal

Joanne Marchers Executive Director July 2012 Permanent-  
no renewal

Kyee Han Executive Director November 2011 Permanent-  
no renewal

Ashley Winter Chairman January 2013 31 December 2015

John Prescott Non-Executive 
Director November 2012 31 October 2013

Wendy Lawson Non-Executive 
Director November 2011 31 October 2014

Alison Fellows Non-Executive 
Director November 2012 31 October2015

Peter Wood Non-Executive 
Director November 2012 31 October 2015

Phil Murray Non-Executive 
Director November 2011 31 October 2014

Jeff Fitzpatrick Non-Executive 
Director April 2013 31 March 2015

Helen Tucker Non-Executive 
Director November 2011 September 2014
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Period 1st April 2012 - 31 March 2013

Name and Title
Salary

(bands of £5000)
£000

Other 
Remuneration

(bands of £5000)
£000)

Benefits in Kind
Rounded to the 

nearest £100

Simon Featherstone - Chief 
Executive

130-135 0 8,400

Roger French - Director of Finance 90-95 0 0

Christopher Harrison - Director 
of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development 
(To Jan 12)

0 0

Colin Cessford - Director 
of Strategy and Business 
Development

15-20 0 0

Paul Liversidge - Chief Operating 
Officer

85-90 0 2,500

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical and 
Patient Safety

80-85 0 1,900

Kyee Han - Medical Director 50-55 0 0

Elma Alexander - Interim 
Director of Human Resources 
and Organisational Development 
(from Feb 12 - )

65-70 0 0

Joanne Machers -  Director 
of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development 
(from  July 12)

65-70 0 0

Nichola Fairless (from April 2012) 55-60 0 0

Rod MacLeod (from Oct 2012) 60-65 0 0

Anthony Dell - Chairman (to Dec 12) 40-45 0 9,300

Ashley Winter - Chairman (from Jan 13) 10-15 0 600

John Pescott - Non-Executive 
Director

20-25 0

Alison Fellows - Non-Executive 
Director

20-25 0

Peter Wood - Non-Executive 
Director

15-20 0

Helen Tucker - Non-Executive 
Director

15-20 0

Wendy Lawson - Non-Executive 
Director

15-20 0

Jeffrey Fitzpatrick - Non-Executive 
Director

15-20 0

Philip Murray - Non-Executive 
Director

15-20 0

Period 1st April 2011 - 31 March 2012

Name and Title
Salary

(bands of £5000)
£000

Other 
Remuneration

(bands of £5000)
£000)

Benefits in Kind
Rounded to the 

nearest £100  

Simon Featherstone - Chief 
Executive

130-135 0 5,700

Roger French - Director of Finance 90-95 0 0

Christopher Harrison - Director 
of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development 
(To Jan 12)

70-75 0 5,300

Colin Cessford - Director 
of Strategy and Business 
Development

90-95 0

Paul Liversidge - Chief Operating 
Officer

85-90 0 4,600

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical and 
Patient Safety

85-90 0 0

Kyee Han - Medical Director 50-55 0 0

Elma Alexander - Interim 
Director of Human Resources 
and Organisational Development 
(from Feb 12 - )

70-75

Joanne Machers -  Director 
of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development 
(from  July 12)

Nichola Fairless (from April 2012)

Rod MacLeod (from Oct 2012)

Anthony Dell - Chairman (to Dec 12) 15-20 0 7,600

Ashley Winter - Chairman (from Jan 13) 0 0 0

John Pescott - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Alison Fellows - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Peter Wood - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Helen Tucker - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Wendy Lawson - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Jeffrey Fitzpatrick - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Philip Murray - Non-Executive 
Director

5-10 0 0

Remuneration of Senior Managers
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Benefits in kind include the provision of a vehicle and home telephone rental  
(Chief Operating Officer only).

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-
paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisations workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust was £131,000.  This was 7 times the median remuneration of the workforce  
which was £19,077.

Total remuneration includes, salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits in kind  
as well as severance payments.  It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Band of Highest Paid Directors 
Total Remuneration (£’000)

130-135 130-135

Median Total 19,077 21,798

Remuneration Ratio 7 6
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Pension Benefits for Senior Managers

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the member’s 
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment 
made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme 
or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in 
their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued 
as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior 
capacity to which the disclosure applies.  The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other pension details, 
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to 
the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their 
own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 
Faculty of Actuaries.

Review of Tax Arrangements for Public Sector Appointees

Off Payroll Engagements at a cost of £58,200 per annum in place between 31 January, 2012 and 31 
March, 2013

There were no off payroll engagements over £58,200 during the period 31 January, 2012 and 31 
March, 2013

Off Payroll Engagements between 23 August 2012 and 31 March 2013 for more than £220 per day and 
more than six months duration.

No. of engagements which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to 
request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

1

Of which  

No. for whom assurance has been accepted and received 0

No. for whom assurance has been accepted and not received 1

No. that have been terminated as a result of assurance not been received 0



132   |   Quality Report 2013 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust   |   133

Audit committee 

Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

The Trust’s Audit Committee has responsibility to act independently from the Executive, to provide 
assurance to the Board based on a challenge of evidence and assurance obtained, that the interests of 
the Trust are properly protected in relation to financial reporting and internal control.  To keep under 
review the effectiveness of the system of internal control; that is the systems established to identify, 
assess, manage and monitor risks both financial and otherwise, and to ensure the Trust complies with 
all aspects of the law, relevant regulation and good practice.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board on any matters in respect of which the Committee considers 
that action or improvement is needed and to make recommendations as to the steps to be taken.

The Chair of the Audit Committee is John Pescott.  All Non-Executive Directors are members of the 
committee, and Executive Directors and Auditors attend by invitation. 

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board of Directors and details of its meetings and member 
attendance are set out earlier in this report.

This Committee has delegated authority to set remuneration for all Executive Directors, monitor their 
performance, consider nominations for Executive Director vacancies and make recommendations on 
such appointments.

All Non-Executive Directors are members, including the Trust Chairman, who is the Committee 
Chair.  The Committee meets at least once per financial year, and details of its meetings and member 
attendance are set out earlier in this report.

The Trust Secretary attends the meetings of this Committee in an advisory capacity.

Foundation Trust membership 
eligibility and constituency boundaries

There are no limits to how many members we can have as a Foundation Trust. 
Anyone who is over 16 years old and lives in the North East region can join. 
We can request that certain people do not become members, for example, someone who has 
threatened, harassed, harmed or abused NHS staff, patients or visitors in any way, and members of 
staff who have submitted their notice of resignation (though if eligible they may apply to become a 
public member rather than a staff member).  Our membership is split into four public constituencies 
which match the current operating divisions of our Trust, these are:

North of Tyne: Newcastle upon Tyne, Northumberland and North Tyneside

South of Tyne: Gateshead, South Tyneside and Sunderland

Durham: County Durham and Darlington

Teesside: Hartlepool, Stockton, Middlesbrough and Redcar & Cleveland 

Membership levels 

Our current membership level is 9,600 at 31 March 2013.

We are looking to increase our public membership to about 10,000 people, in line with our three-year 
strategy after authorisation as a Foundation Trust. Maintaining membership of 10,000 should ensure 
our membership is representative of the constituencies we serve across the region. 

Membership profile

The profile of NEAS public membership is compared against the records held by the Office of National 
Statistics (ONS) to determine how representative NEAS membership is of the North East population. 

Age Profile

Public Constituency Number of members
Eligible population in 

North East
Over or under 

representation index

0-16 4 33,289 3

17-21 523 163,479 83

22+ 8235 1816097 118

Unknown 858

Gender Profile

Public constituency Number of members
Eligible population in 

North East

Over of under 
representation 

index (100 = ideal 
representation)

As of 31st March 2013 9,620 2,510,235

New members 131

Members leaving 180

Male 4685 1,216,238 100

Female 4906 1,293,997 98
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Ethnicity Profile

Public constituency Number of members
Eligible population in 

North East

Over or under 
representation 

index (100 = ideal 
representation)

WHITE 8976 2,449,873 95

MIXED 110 12,231 233

ASIAN 193 33,589 162

BLACK 28 3,867 208

OTHER 54 10,176 135

UNKNOWN 243

Socio economic sub group profile

Public constituency Number of members
Eligible population in 

North East

Over or under 
representation 

index (100 = ideal 
representation)

ABC1 5081 85,1203 155

C2 2,843 318,575 232

D 340 402,739 22

E 1,2752 399,010 81

Unclassified 104

Staff constituency Number of members

As of 31st March 2012 2155

New members 281

Members leaving 179

Membership by constituency

Constituency Number of members

Staff- A&E 1032

Staff- PTS 414

Staff- Contact Centres 382

Staff- Support Services 327

Public- Durham 2170

Public- North of Tyne 2722

Public- South of Tyne 2587

Public- Teesside 2141

Total Members 11,775

Our membership strategy

One indicator of the appropriateness of the size of the member base is to establish the ideal sample 
size for the region, using data from the Office of National Statistics. On the current member base, 
we have a statistical 95% confidence level with a standard deviation of one that our membership is 
representative and credible. Further work, focussing on recruiting 150 members from County Durham 
and 150 members from North of Tyne area, under the age of 33 and evenly split between men and 
women, would improve the spread of representation further. Our Council of Governors are developing 
targeted recruitment strategies to target these areas and hope to increase representation in the next 
year. 

Members aged 33 or younger and Chinese and White British ethnic members remain under-
represented in the Trust in comparison with the population of the North East region. The under-
representation of White British, however, is considered reasonable in view of the predominance of the 
group as a whole (at 96% of the member base). It demonstrates that we are catering for all ethnicities.

Members who wish to contact their Governor should email governors@neas.nhs.uk or alternatively 
write to our Membership Officer who will direct the contact to the appropriate Governor, using the 
address at the end of this report.

Members who wish to contact a Director should either address a letter to the Director concerned, at 
the address on the last page of this report, or alternatively call our switchboard on 0191 4302000. We 
operate in an open and transparent manner and members are welcome to get in touch if they have a 
query or comment.  
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Financial risk ratings are allocated, comparing key financial information across all Foundation Trusts. A 
rating of 5 reflects the lowest level of financial risk and a rating of 1 the greatest risk.  

When assessing financial risk, Monitor assigns quarterly and annual risk ratings using a system which 
looks at four criteria: achievement of plan, underlying performance, financial efficiency and liquidity. 
During the first year of being authorised as a Foundation Trust, the highest level of Financial Risk 
Rating that Monitor will award is four, so we are very proud to have achieved a risk rating of five, 
following our first year as a Foundation Trust.  

Monitor use the term ‘governance’ to describe the effectiveness of an NHS Foundation Trust’s 
leadership.  It uses performance measures such as whether Foundation Trusts are meeting national 
targets and standards as an indication of this, together with a range of other governance measures 
such as clinical quality.  The governance rating of green indicates the Trust is meeting the standard 
of performance required in respect of specified key measures and have not identified significant 
challenges to the governance of the organisation.

We have not been subject to any formal regulatory action, or proposed action, from Monitor.

Regulatory ratings 

During the year, the Trust was assigned the following risk ratings by Monitor (our 
regulator) - quarter 4 is our forecasted risk rating, whilst we await confirmation 
from Monitor:

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Financial Risk 
Rating

4 4 5 4

Governance Risk 
Rating

Green Green Amber/Green Green

Other disclosures 
in the public interest 

Provision of Information and Consultation with Employees

We find it very important to consult with our staff and provide them with as much 
information about the organisation as possible. We have taken the following 
actions to engage with our staff: 

•	 In April we launched a Bullying and 
Harassment questionnaire Trust Wide for the 
Treat Us Right Campaign and this will become 
an annual survey.

•	 We have a Staff Diversity Forum where we 
work to understand the experiences of our 
staff and identify programmes of work to 
overcome workforce inequalities

•	 We have set up an Equality and Diversity 
planning day in June to involve both staff and 
Governors to consult on our work plans. 

Equality in the North East Ambulance Service 
The Equality Act and Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Trust works within a legal framework set 
out by the Equality Act 2010 which protects 
people who are considered to have a protected 
characteristic. For example, gender, ethnicity, 
sexual orientation, age, disability, religion or 
belief, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity and marriage and civil partnership.  
The Equality Duty encourages us to engage 
with the diverse communities affected by our 
activities to ensure that policies and services 
are appropriate and accessible to all and meet 
the different needs of our population. Further 

information about this is included in our Equality 
Report on page 57.

To help us understand and respond to the issues 
which affect our staff and patients protected by 
the Equality Act we have adopted the Equality 
Delivery System.

The Equality Delivery System (EDS)

The Equality Delivery System (EDS) is a framework 
developed by the NHS to help us review and 
assess our equality performance to ensure there 
are better health outcomes for patients and 
communities, better working environments for 
staff, and legal compliance. The EDS is aligned 
to support the Equality Act and those individuals 
considered as having a protected characteristic. 
In addition to the nine protected characteristics 
mentioned above we will also consider the needs 
of any other disadvantaged people, for example 
homeless people. At the heart of the EDS there 
are four goals to consider and we measure 
and grade our performance by consulting with 
patients, staff and communities. 

The four goals are:-

1. Better health 
outcomes for all

2. Improved 
patient access 
and experience

3. Empowered, 
engaged and 
included staff

4. Inclusive 
leadership
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Our equality objectives have been developed 
through consultation and ratified by our grading 
panel. The action plans cover programmes of 
work which are intended to be delivered over the 
next four years. 

Ownership of the equality actions will sit within 
relevant business areas and additional patient 
and staff involvement is sought through our 
Patient Forum and Staff Diversity Forum.

Our equality objectives will:

•	 Set specific, measurable and realistic actions 
detailed within a four year plan; 

•	 Analyse the effect of our policies and practices 
on equality and consider how they further the 
equality aims; 

•	 Meet our legal requirements under the 
Equality Act by publishing sufficient 
information to demonstrate we have complied 
with the general equality duty on an annual 
basis;

•	 Be  re-graded annually by our grading panel 
to ensure performance is progressive and our 
objectives are appropriate to meet the needs 
of our staff, patients and communities today 
and in the future. 

Equality Objectives

The Trust has identified three equality objectives 
to overcome the barriers and issues raised 
throughout the consultation with our staff, 
patients and local communities. Whilst the 
objectives will have a key focus on specific 
protected characteristics the work will aim to 
include work that adds benefit for everyone 
accessing our services or working for the Trust.  

Our equality objectives are:-

1. Patients report a positive experience where 
their needs are understood, respected and 
adjustments are made to ensure there are no 
barriers to service and they receive the right 
care. 

2. The Trust will promote an inclusive working 
culture that works to eradicate harassment, 
bullying and violence and improves working 
lives and staff wellbeing.

3. The Trust will improve engagement levels by 
demonstrating a fair and inclusive employment 

opportunities, career progression and 
development for all staff.

Externally the Trust also works with other groups 
to ensure our practices remain fair and inclusive. 
For example:- 

Stonewall Diversity Champion

The Trust is a Stonewall Diversity Champion. 
Stonewall is Britains lesbian, gay, bisexual 
and transgender (LGBT) equality charity who 
campaign to make changes in legislation to 
promote  fairness and equality for the LGBT 
community. 

Diversity Champions bring together employers 
from across the UK to promote diversity in the 
workplace and demonstrate our commitment to 
out staff , communitities and patients. 

Disability Accreditation Award Scheme

The Trust achieved the Two-Tick symbol 
awarded by Jobcentre Plus in recognition of our 
commitment to disability equality. To achieve this 
award we demonstrated equality in employment, 
retention, training and career development of 
disabled employees.

The symbol also indicates we guarantee to 
interview anyone with a disability provided their 
application meets the minimum requirements of 
the job.

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Policies

We have several policies in place to ensure staff 
are treated fairly, for example:

•	 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Policy

•	 Disability Equality Policy

•	 Religious Observance Policy

•	 Age Equality Policy

•	 Race Equality Policy

•	 Policy on Gender Equality

These policies illustrate the Trust’s commitment 
to providing an inclusive culture which treats 
all individuals with dignity and respect. The 
Trust values diversity highly and recognises that 
different people bring different perspectives, 
ideas, histories, opinions, knowledge and 
culture to our organisation, which makes our 
organisation stronger.  

Dignity at Work

The Trust’s Dignity at Work Policy promotes the 
respectful treatment of staff and the protection 
of our employees from bullying and harassment 
at work.

Mediation Service

At the end of 2012 we trained sixteen members 
of staff to become accredited Mediators.

Workplace Mediation is an informal, constructive 
voluntary process which aims to help people in 
disagreement or dispute to resolve their conflict 
and find a way to re-establish a professional 
working relationship. The role of the Trust 
Mediator is to bring together the parties 
and facilitate some joint meetings where the 
issues can be heard, understood and hhelp the 
parties explore the conflict situation, develop 
understanding, identify acceptable ways forward 
and, where appropriate, reach agreement on 
ways of working together. By doing this the aim is 
to re-establish and lines of communication.

Work Life Balance

The Employee Friendly and Flexible Practices 
Policy is in place to support staff in maintaining 
their work life balance.  The policy enables 
employees to maintain a healthy balance 
between their personal commitments and work, 
and provides a support mechanism for carers and 
those staff with dependants.

Childcare / Dependants / Carers

The Trust’s Carers Policy explains the support that 
is available for staff with caring responsibilities. 
The Trust offers leave for staff to deal with 
certain unexpected or sudden emergencies such 
as a break down in childcare arrangements, 
and also offer maternity, paternity, adoption 
and parental leave. Employees of the Trust 
benefit from using childcare vouchers to pay for 
childcare, which are non-taxable and exempt 
from National Insurance contributions.  

North East NHS Staff Networks

The Trust actively supports the North East NHS BME 
(Black and Minority Ethnic) and Religion / Belief 
Staff Networks which provide an opportunity 
for staff who share one of more aspects of their 
identity such as their sexual orientation, race or 
disability status, to communicate, network, meet 
and support each other.  

NEAS Staff Diversity Forum 

The purpose of the group is to champion the 
equality and diversity agenda to identify and help 
the Trust understand the barriers experienced by 
staff around fairness, respect and inclusion and 
help inform programmes of work to contribute to 
making NEAS a great place to work.   

Equality Report

This report highlights the work we have 
undertaken in line with the Public Sector Equality 
Duty. The Equality Act (2010) places an Equality 
Duty on public bodies such as the Trust. This Duty 
replaces the three former public sector equality 
duties for disability, race and gender and covers 
the following protected characteristics:

•	 Disability

•	 Age

•	 Race – this includes ethnic or national origins, 
colour or nationality

•	 Sex

•	 Sexual orientation

•	 Religion or belief – this includes lack of belief

•	 Gender reassignment

•	 Pregnancy and Maternity

•	 Marriage and Civil Partnership

The Equality Duty encourages us to engage 
with the diverse communities affected by our 
activities to ensure that policies and services are 
appropriate and accessible to all and meet the 
different needs of the communities and people 
we serve.

The following data shows our workforce 
broken down by some of the nine protected 
characteristics listed above, and compared with 
the North East regional demographic, national 
average for ambulance sector workers and 
England as a whole where possible.
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We are aligned to the national average for gender split within the workforce.

Gender

Gender
North East Ambulance 

Service
North East

National Average for 
Ambulance Sector 

Workers

Women 38% 52% 40.9%

Men 62% 48% 59.90%

Disability

Disability
North East Ambulance 

Service
North East (working 

age population)
England (working age 

population)

Yes 3.05% 25% 20%

Race

Race
North East Ambulance 

Service
North East England

White British 76% Not available Not available

Non-white 1% 4.14% 6.7%

Any other white 
background

1% Not available Not available

Not stated 22% Not available Not available

Age

Age
North East Ambulance 

Service
National average 
ambulance sector 

England

16 - 20 1.46%  

Not available

21 - 25 6.53%

26 - 30 7.88%

31 - 35 12.50%

36 - 40 13.84%

41 - 45 15.51%

46 - 50 14.06%

51 - 55 12.02%

56 - 60 9.70%

61 - 65 5.34%

66 - 70 1.16%

Religion and belief

Race North East Ambulance Service North East

Christian 41.17% 80.1%

Religion other than Christianity 4.77% 1.9%

Sexual Orientation

Sexuality North East Ambulance Service North East 

Lesbian, gay or bi-sexual 1.85% 6.16%

We have identified that more work needs to be 
done within local communities to promote the 
North East Ambulance Service as an employer of 
choice and we will consult on this through our 
work to embed the Equality Delivery System.

We are aware that a large percentage of staff do 
not wish to disclose their sexual orientation and 
we are trying to increase confidence by working 
with the organisation Stonewall to improve 
our practices and we are using their national 
benchmark to help us identify improvement 
areas.  

On a local level we have access to staff networks 
including a LGBT group, BME network and 
Religion and Belief network which gives us 
an opportunity to open dialogue with these 
communities.

On a national level we will continue to work with 
the National Ambulance Diversity forum to share 
learning and consider new recruitment methods

Health and safety performance in our Trust

We are committed to improving the health and 
safety of our staff across all sites within our Trust. 
We have continued to monitor and establish 
trends in health and safety incidents. The top 
three incident types are consistently ‘violence 
and aggression’, ‘manual handling’, and ‘slips, 
trips, and falls’. The following sections provide an 
overview of these incident types.

Violence and Aggression

Violence and aggression is the single most 
reported incident type within the Trust. These 
incidents include cases of physical violence and 
verbal abuse faced by frontline staff and contact 
centre staff. Reported incidents vary during 

each quarter with a quarter 4 increase expected 
due to the increased activities witnessed during 
the festive period. The overall level of incidents 
is in line with national statistics which show 
an increase across the NHS. On a positive note 
the Trust was recently ranked highest amongst 
ambulance Trust’s for sanction rates relating to 
workplace violence This area of work is under 
continuous scrutiny and development by the 
Trust’s Head of Risk and Claims and Local Security 
Management Specialist (LSMS).

Manual Handling

Manual handling has remained the second 
highest incident type reported by our staff. 
This is mainly due to the environment in which 
staff work, whilst having to deliver life-saving 
treatment and care. Work in this area continues 
to develop with changes in equipment and 
improved information, instruction and training. 
Work continues to introduce further control 
measures to further protect safe and patients, 
recent advances include new equipment, 
improved information, instruction and training, 
more robust investigations and improved sharing 
of lessons learnt. Manual handling incidents 
remain the highest cause of legal action against 
the Trust which have remained a constant trend 
throughout the financial year.

Slips, Trips and Falls

This particular incident type is very difficult to 
control due to environmental factors. However 
work in relation to preventing these types of 
incidents on Trust premises is ongoing and the 
focus is now upon preventing incidents in other 
environments which are not within the control 
of the Trust; this may be done via information, 
instruction and training or the use of personal 
protective equipment.

* Many staff did not disclose a religion 
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Summary of Serious Incidents 

A Serious Incident (SI) is an incident that results in a 
range of outcomes such as unexpected or avoidable 
death, serious harm, permanent harm or abuse. 

During the period 1st April 2012 to March 31st 2013 
the Trust have reported 141 SIs. It is important to 
note that 127 of these incidents relate to hospital 
handover delays in excess of 2 hours; these have 
been transferred onto the originating Acute Trust.

The other 14 cases are all specific to NEAS and fall 
within the following areas:

•	 Ambulance delays in attending x 3

•	 Issue with a ‘Bank Paramedic’ and equipment 
use/training x 1

•	 Patient Transport Service system failure x 1

•	 Call triage x 7

•	 Media coverage due to ambulance delays x 2

The Trust investigates all SIs fully and ensures that 
any training needs or wider learning which are 
identified are implemented to reduce the risk of 
reoccurrence. In all cases involving patients standard 
practice is to appoint a family liaison officer to 
apply the ‘being open’ principles ensuring openness 
and transparency.

One SI involved the loss of data internally, this was 
not a data breach as the data was wiped during a 
system upgrade.

Countering fraud and corruption

We are committed to taking all necessary steps 
to counter fraud and corruption within NEAS 
and have adopted the seven-stage approach 
developed by NHS Protect.  Our primary aim is 
to create an anti-fraud culture.  Central to this 
is our Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who 
promotes our Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Policy and Raising Concerns at Work Policy during 
staff induction and throughout the year.  

Staff are able to report suspicions of fraud 
directly to the LCFS, Director of Finance and 
Resources or to the Fraud and Corruption 
Reporting Line.  All allegations of fraud are 
taken seriously and professionally investigated.  
The LCFS conducts work on fraud prevention 
and deterrence as well as undertaking proactive 
exercises into areas of high risk.  The Counter 
Fraud Plan is approved by the Director of Finance 
and Resources and the Audit Committee. The 
Audit Committee also receive regular updates on 
counter fraud work throughout the year.

Occupational health; maintaining a healthy 
workforce

The Occupational Health department provides 
a comprehensive approach to maintaining the 
health and wellbeing of the workforce. This was 
validated by the attainment of the NHS Public 
Health North East Better Health at Work Award – 
Gold Award in November 2012.

During 2012, the Occupational Health 
department had over 5,000 visits ranging from 
pre¬-employment screening and driver’s medicals 
to immunisations and health surveillance. The 
Occupational Health department offered a 
voluntary health check to every member of staff 
that included blood pressure recording and 
cholesterol screening and in order to facilitate 
the latter undertook mobile clinics at over 60 
locations within the Trust. 

The Occupational Health service successfully 
secured national accreditation and completed an 
internal review of its services which were reported 
to the Support Services Programme Board. 

Occupational Health Department Visits

2009/2010 2010/2011
April 1st 

-October 31st 
2011

November 1st 
2011- March 

31st 2012

1st January 
2012 – 

December 
2012

Number of people 
seen within the 
Occupational 
Health department

3,803 2,548 3,883 2,632 5,763

Public and patient involvement

We have engaged with the Local Involvement 
Networks (LINks) from across the region regularly. 
LINks groups are made up of individual and 
community groups who work together to improve 
services. Their job is to find out what people like 
and don’t like about local services and then work 
with the people who plan and run these services 
to make them better. There are 12 LINks within the 
North East Ambulance Service area, one for each 
local authority in our service area. 

This is an area of more than 3,200 square miles 
and we have sought to bring the LINks together 
through an ambulance forum to discuss issues 
which are common to everyone in the North East. 
The forum meets once every two months and have 
considered the NEAS Quality Report, looked at 
complaints and PALS (Patient Advice and Liaison 
Service) reports, raised questions on mobility aids 
and hospital discharge and sought assurances 
around NEAS procedures on safeguarding 
vulnerable people.

In addition to working with the LINks, we have 
continued to meet with groups and representatives 
of some of the most rural areas within the Trust 
in Northumberland and County Durham. In 
partnership with the Primary Care Trusts for both 
areas, we have held regular community meetings to 
oversee the implementation of our services. We also 
continue to maintain good working relationships 
with the local authority Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees (OSC) that cover the NEAS area and 
hold all NHS Trusts to account for the services 
provided. We are grateful for the time and effort 
that all these organisations have taken to listen to 
and feedback comments on the work and services 
of NEAS.

Sickness absence

Improving Staff Health and Wellbeing 

Throughout the NHS the wellbeing at work agenda has gained importance with greater recognition 
being paid to the value of health and well-being in promoting and delivering operational success. 
NEAS acknowledges that there is an increased need for focus on addressing the causes of staff ill 
health and taking appropriate action to address it.

The Trust’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy is depicted on the key themes outlined in diagram at 
Appendix 1. The Trust continues to strive to work in partnership with staff and staff representatives to  
achieve a reduction in sickness absence levels.

As at 31st March 2013 our sickness levels were 5.65%. This is a significant improvement on the same 
period last year when sickness absence was   6.33%.  A comparison of our sickness absence levels over 
the period June 2012 to Nov 2012  in comparison with other ambulance trusts is shown below:

Month/Year National Ambulance  
Absence Rate

NEAS Absence Rate

June 2012 5.72% 6.67%

July 2012 5.91% 6.60%

Aug 2012 5.86% 6.94%

Sept 2012 5.85% 6.63%

Oct 2012 6.00% 6.60%

Nov 2012 6.37% 5.92%
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The following are the key initiatives planned throughout 2013 to seek to support improved staff 
health and wellbeing:

•	 Development of a rapid access physiotherapy service accessible by all staff as close to their normal place 
of work as possible designed to  ensure early diagnosis and treatment of musculoskeletal injuries.

•	 Introduction of bespoke fitness tests for front line roles to be undertaken by all staff joining the 
service and by existing staff on a biannual review basis.

•	 Training for managers to ensure that they support staff absent due to ill health appropriately and 
signpost them to appropriate support frameworks.

•	 Introduction of a single point of contact for staff unable to attend work which will include an assessment 
of their symptoms and enable early intervention and support to reduce their length of absence.

Year Accounts 
1 April 2012 – 31 March 2013

Chief Executive

Clinical Care & Patient Safety

Finance & Resources

Operations

Strategy & Performance

Workforce & OD

NEAS Leavers FTE by Directorate - Last 6 Months

The Trust have in place an exit interview process to capture the reasons staff leave and from this the 
key reasons for leaving over the last 6 months have been voluntary resignations and age retirements.
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Annual Governance Statement  
2012 - 13

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of 
the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and departmental assets for which I am 
personally responsible, in accordance with 
the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also 
responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation 
trust is administered prudently and economically 
and that resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities 
as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

THE PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL 
CONTROL

The system of internal control is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, 
aims and objectives; it can therefore, only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is 
based on an ongoing process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
the policies, aims and objectives of North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. The system of internal control has 
been in place in North East Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 
March 2013, and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts.  

CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK

The authority to develop and oversee the Trust’s 
strategic Risk Management arrangements 
is delegated to the Director of Clinical Care 
and Patient Safety. The Governance and Risk 
Committee and Quality Committee consider non 
clinical and clinical risks on behalf of the Board.  
The Directors of the Trust have the responsibility 
for leadership in Risk Management for their 
Directorates. Trust managers are responsible for 
the management of day-to-day risks of all types 
within their management structure and budget 

allocation. They are charged with ensuring that 
risk assessments are undertaken throughout 
their area of responsibility on a pro-active basis 
and that remedial action is carried out where 
problems are identified. 

It is the policy of the Trust to provide and 
maintain, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
all plant, systems of work (including safe use, 
handling, storage and transport of substances and 
articles), places of work and working conditions, 
such that they are safe and with minimal risks to 
employees, as well as to non-employees, and to 
provide such information, instruction and training 
as is necessary for this purpose.

All accidents, incidents and near-misses are 
recorded and investigated by the Trust. Those of 
a serious nature are considered by a Root Cause 
Analysis panel, the outcomes of which form 
future training plans and policies for the Trust. 

Risk Management is incorporated in the 
Trust’s Induction and Essential Annual Training 
Programmes. The Risk Management Strategy, 
policies and procedures and responsibilities are 
also set out in the Risk Management File, held on 
the IT network for future and on-going reference.  
General risk awareness/health and safety training 
is also provided to all staff on an annual basis 
according to their level of need/responsibility. 

The Trust has representation on the National 
Ambulance Risk & Safety Forum and various other 
national and regional groups which promote active 
benchmarking and learning from good practice.

THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK

The arrangements in place to manage the 
organisations risk include the Trust’s Board 
Assurance Framework. The Board Assurance 
Framework identifies the strategic aims and 
objectives of the Trust and its Directors, taking 
account of the CQC Compliance and Monitoring 
Framework and the requirements under the 
Essential Standards of Quality and Safety.  
The principal risks which may impact on the 
delivery of the objectives and the key controls 
to manage these risks, have been identified. 
Action plans to address any gaps in controls 
have been produced. A Governance and Risk 

Committee has been established.  Part of the 
remit of this Committee, which is accountable 
to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors, 
is to oversee and monitor the implementation 
of the CQC Essential Standards of Quality and 
Safety, the Board Assurance Framework and the 
Organisational Risk Register.

The Risk Management framework is set out in 
the Board approved Risk Management Strategy.  
The Trust recognises that it is impossible and 
not always desirable to eliminate all risks and 
that systems of controls should not be so rigid 
that they stifle innovation and imaginative use 
of limited resources, in order to achieve health 
benefits for patients.

The strategy describes how risks are identified, 
via the system of Risk Registers and an incident 
reporting system and how they are quantified, 
using a Risk Scoring Matrix. This allows 
standardisation of risk assessment across the 
Trust, utilising a common currency. The strategy 
also requires action plans to be determined and 
implemented for those risks that are inadequately 
controlled. The Trust also has a number of 
associated policies and procedures embedded in 
the organisation including an Incident Reporting 
Policy, Serious Incident Policy, Complaints Policy 
and Claims Policy. 

Whilst the strategy document for 2012/2013 
did not formally document the Trust’s method 
for determining its risk appetite, a report was 
presented to the Governance and Risk Committee 
during the year. This report provided an overview 
of the methodology using the HM Treasury 
document ‘Thinking about Risk - Managing your 
risk appetite: A practitioner’s guide’ and concluded 
with a proposal that the Trust could be classified 
as ‘Open’ in relation to risk appetite (willing to 
consider all potential delivery options and choose 
the one that is most likely to result in successful 
delivery while also providing an acceptable level of 
reward (and value for money etc.)

The 2013/2014 risk strategy does however, contain 
a section on risk appetite and risk maturity which 
is based upon the methodology, initiated and 
designed by Southwark Clinical Commissioner 
Group and the Good Governance Institute which 
is widely used by other NHS Organisations. The 
Board of Directors will be fully briefed on this and 
will be actively involved in reviewing the Trust’s 
risk appetite in 2013/14.

Risk Management is embedded within 
the organisation in a number of ways. All 
departments within Directorates maintain up to 
date Risk Registers that are linked to Directors 
objectives and monitored on a regular basis.  
Risks are escalated via Departmental and 
Directorate Risk Registers to the Organisational 
Risk Register which identifies the major risks to 
the whole organisation both within year and for 
the foreseeable future.  

The Executive Team, at its fortnightly meeting, 
performance-manages the Trust’s three main 
services lines: Emergency Care, Patient Transport 
Services and Contact Centres. It takes decisive 
action to address any under-performance and 
through the monthly Integrated Performance 
Review Agenda item, it highlights areas of 
significance to the Board of Directors.

During the winter months handover delays at 
hospitals were significant, with a consequential 
concern of the resulting impact on GP urgent 
cases. The Trust convened a summit in February 
2013 of leaders from all key North East NHS 
organisations with an agenda to identify 
future improvements and develop a whole-
systems action plan to improve the situation.  
Clinical commissioning groups will commence 
the commissioning of these services from 1 
April 2013 and the Trust remains committed 
to continuing to work with all stakeholders to 
explore ways to improve the situation and has, 
jointly with stakeholders, commissioned a review 
to explore how this Trust, hospitals and providers 
of community services can amend practices to 
improve the situation. The outcome of this work 
will be reported in advance of the autumn to 
allow for any identified improvements to take 
place prior to winter 2013-14.

The highest scoring risks relate to the long term 
viability of the Patient Transport Service and 
the development and maintenance of reliable 
information systems. Action plans to minimise 
the possibilities of these risks being realised 
are co-ordinated via the relevant directorate 
leads and include continuous monitoring via the 
appropriate group or Board-level committee.

Business cases must include a full risk assessment 
prior to formal approval.  

All Cost Improvement Schemes have processes in 
place to identify and mitigate risks to quality as 
recommended by the National Quality Board. 
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Management and operational structures are 
in place to manage the risks that the Trust 
faces. All of the groups working within the 
risk management and organisational controls 
framework are remitted to identify and where 
appropriate escalate all risks emerging from the 
business transacted. The Groups/Committees 
report through Committees of the Board in a 
structured manner ultimately to the Board.

The remit of five Committees of the Board cover 
risk (both clinical and non-clinical) these are: 

•	 Audit Committee

•	 Governance and Risk Committee 

•	 Quality Committee 

•	 Workforce and Equality Committee

•	 Business Investment and Finance Committee 

All of the Committees are chaired by a Non-
Executive Director of the foundation trust. 

The Governance and Risk Committee oversees 
the creation of appropriate risk assessment 
systems, including a prioritised Risk Management 
plan and reviews and reports progress against this 
plan, to the Audit Committee and the Board.  

It reviews incident trends from financial / non-
financial / non-clinical areas and prepares the 
Board Assurance Framework, for review by the 
Audit Committee and approval by the Board.

Clinical Risk is monitored via the Trust’s Quality 
Committee. The Trust’s Medical Director chairs  
the Clinical Advisory Group. Both groups have 
access to expert professional opinion from 
specialist Medical Advisers and Clinicians. 

Clinical Risk whilst being everyone’s responsibility 
is managed by operational staff and specialist 
managers. All clinical practices are carried out 
using the best available clinical evidence base. 
This includes; advice that is given to patients over 
the telephone and advice and skills performed 
when the paramedic is in a face to face situation. 
In the former, the evidence base is largely 
taken from papers published in the UK and for 
the latter the evidence base is the Joint Royal 
Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee’s latest 
Clinical Guideline. Clinical competence is a matter 
for the Trust’s Root Cause Analysis Panel which 
reviews clinically related complaints, incidents 
and concerns, looking for opportunities to learn 
lessons and protect patients.  

The Quality Committee is authorised by 
the Board to oversee all activity relating 
to monitoring the quality of patient’s care 
(i.e. safety, effectiveness and experiences). 
This includes for example, overseeing their 
involvement in the activities of the Trust as well 
as learning lessons from patient complaints and 
letters of appreciation. The Committee also 
receives reports regarding the outcome of patient 
surveys and reports published by the Trust’s 
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS). These 
reports are discussed in detail in the Experience, 
Complaints, Litigation, Incidents and PALS group 
(ECLIP’s) which facilitates a thorough and robust 
discussion of all aspects which could affect the 
quality of the service received by patients. 

The Audit Committee reviews the establishment 
and maintenance of an effective system of 
integrated governance, risk management 
and internal control, across the whole of the 
organisation’s activities. This includes activities 
that are both clinical and non-clinical. This 
integrated approach to governance supports the 
Trust in achieving its organisational objectives.

The Trust manages its information (including 
information and data security) risks on an 
ongoing basis via the Information Governance 
Working Group.  The Trust regularly completes 
the Information Governance (IG) Toolkit.  As at 
31st March 2013 the Trust scored 85% compliance.    
During the year there were no Serious Incidents 
reported for Information Governance. 

The Board Assurance Framework provides the 
Trust with a comprehensive method for effective 
management of the principal risks to meeting its 
objectives and links to the Trusts’ Mission Statement 
and Strategic Intentions. It provides a structure 
for evidence to support the Annual Governance 
Statement and as a result, simplifies Board 
reporting and the prioritisation of action plans. 

The Board Assurance Framework includes the 
following key elements:

•	 Strategic objectives of the Trust by Directorate 
linked to the relevant individual CQC Essential 
Standards for Quality and Safety.

•	 Risks to achieving the objectives.

•	 Key controls in place to manage the risks.

•	 Assurances for the key controls.

•	 Evidence of the controls and assurance.

•	 Any gaps in control.

•	 Any gaps in assurance.

•	 Action plans to address the control gaps.

The Board Assurance Framework is approved by the 
Board of Directors at the beginning of the financial 
year.  The Board reviews the Board Assurance 
Framework mid-way through the year and approves 
the final version at the end of the year.

There were a limited number of gaps in assurance 
and / or control in the areas of operations, clinical 
and patient safety, finance and commissioning 
and plans were put in place to mitigate or 
eradicate the gaps. The gaps in control were not 
assessed as being significant.

The foundation trust is fully compliant with the 
registration requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission. 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership 
of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in 
place to ensure all employer obligations contained 
within the Scheme regulations are complied 
with. This includes ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions and payments in 
to the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme 
rules, and that member Pension Scheme records 
are accurately updated in accordance with the 
timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all 
the organisation’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are 
complied with.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk 
assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery 
Plans are in place in accordance with emergency 
preparedness and civil contingency requirements, 
as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to 
ensure that this organisation’s obligations under 
the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation 
Reporting requirements are complied with.

REVIEW OF ECONOMY, EFFICIENCY AND 
EFFECTIVE USE OF RESOURCES

The Board receive and review a monthly 
Integrated Performance Report (IPR) which 
draws together the main Risk, Quality, Activity, 
Performance, Financial and Workforce positions 
against plan. 

The Trust’s Improvement Steering Group reviews 
and monitors the effectiveness of performance 
against the Trust’s Service Improvement and Cost 
Improvement programmes and as part of this 
process, the Trust participates in benchmarking in 
key front-line and back-office metrics compared 
with other similar organisations and uses this 
as one source of information to inform its cost 
improvement programmes.

The remit of the Trust Board committees includes 
ensuring the effective use of resources and 
responsibility for investigating specific areas 
contributing to the Integrated Performance 
Report, for example, the Quality Committee 
reviews the progress against Ambulance 
Quality Indicators and on the Committee’s 
behalf the Medical and Nursing Directors 
review the assurances that the schemes in the 
CIP programme do not impact adversely upon 
service provision to patients  whilst the Business 
Investment and Finance Committee reviews the 
monthly financial reports.

The Trust has developed Service Line reporting  
for its key business services, (Emergency Care,  
PTS, Contact Centre and Commercial Training) 
and is extending the scope of its review from 
finance and activity information to include 
quality, performance and workforce measures  
of effectiveness.

Assurance on economy, efficiency and effective 
use of resources is also provided by Internal 
Audit, as their work-plan includes audits of the 
major areas of resource utilisation.  Ultimately, 
however, the Trust has the lowest reference cost 
and cost per incident of all English Ambulance 
Trust’s which provides substantial assurance on  
its economical use of resources.

ANNUAL QUALITY REPORT

The directors are required under the Health Act 
2009 and the National Health Service (Quality 
Reports) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to 
prepare Quality Reports for each financial year.  
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation 
trust boards on the form and content of annual 
Quality Reports which incorporate the above 
legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual.
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Overall responsibility for production of the 
foundation trust’s Annual Quality Report rests 
with the Directorate of Strategy and Business 
Development working closely with the Clinical 
Care and Patient Safety Directorate to identify 
indicators for patient safety, clinical effectiveness 
and patient experience to measure progress and 
improvement throughout the financial year.

The Trust has taken robust steps to assure the 
Board that the Quality Report presents a balanced 
view and that there are appropriate controls in 
place to ensure the accuracy of data.  
These steps include:

Governance and leadership; the quality 
priorities within the report have been monitored 
and presented at the Quality Committee and 
Governance and Risk Committee throughout 
the year. A summary report and the minutes of 
these meetings are presented to the Board of 
Directors on a quarterly basis. The Board also 
receives a bi-annual update on progress against 
the priorities. The trust has regularly reported 
progress to Local Involvement Networks (LINks) 
and has shared progress with local Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees. The trust’s Council of 
Governors and staff have been involved in the 
development of quality priorities for the Quality 
Report and they have received progress updates 
against the priorities on a quarterly basis. The 
trust has maintained an open approach to sharing 
data and progress with stakeholders regarding 
the Quality Report. The Audit Committee has 
a position of oversight and challenge on the 
Quality Report, and receives a checklist of 
mandatory content from the trust’s Monitoring 
and Compliance Officer. This checklist is cross-
referenced with page numbers to ensure all 
necessary content is included. A summary report 
and minutes of the Audit Committee are then 
sent to the Board of Directors as assurance.

Policies; The trust maintains a Data Quality Log 
where any data quality issues are monitored. 
If data quality issues are discovered the data 
owner is responsible for making the necessary 
improvements to the data. All data owners 
and staff have access to all trust policies via the 
quality management system.  

Systems and processes; The trust has robust 
processes around data quality. The data owner 
provides the data, which is then checked by the 
Performance team before being entered into 

the Quality Report dashboard and later being 
shared either internally or externally. Quality 
Report data is pulled from systems such as the 
Ulysses Safeguard system, or directly from our 
Contact Centre CAD system. Data is reviewed 
when presented at the Quality Committee and 
any queries are fed back to the data owner to 
rectify or justify. Our Informatics team which 
produce much of the data for the Quality 
Report have a daily data quality report which is 
submitted to our Contact Centre for review. This 
report highlights any potential issues and offers 
the opportunity for correcting data, as well as 
highlighting any general problems with certain 
procedures. The Informatics team also log any 
issues that become apparent whilst reporting, 
and these are raised with the data owner and 
reviewed at the data quality assurance group. 
The data quality assurance group is a working 
group with the remit to provide assurances to the 
Information Governance Working Group, through 
its direct reporting arrangements and ensures the 
Trust’s compliance with legislative, mandatory 
and regulatory requirements in terms of the 
Group’s scope.

People and skills; Data owners providing 
information for the Quality Report are the 
members of staff with expertise in that particular 
area. For example, figures regarding safeguarding 
referrals are taken from the Ulysses Safeguard 
system and checked by our Safeguarding 
Manager before being supplied to the 
Performance team. The Performance team then 
reviews all data from an objective standpoint 
to ensure the data is concurrent with forecasts 
or established baselines. Progress against the 
quality priorities is then communicated back to 
staff across the Trust to ensure they are aware of 
best practice. This is done through articles in the 
Trust’s regular magazine as well as weekly staff 
email, and the Trust’s performance wall-board 
in our headquarters building. When agreeing 
priorities to be included in the Quality Report the 
trust ensures that not only are staff involved, but 
members of the public through the LINks forums, 
and our Council of Governors. This ensures a 
balanced approach, where different opinions are 
represented. We established a Quality Report 
staff working group for 2012/13 where staff with 
clinical and non-clinical skills had input into our 
priority process. They helped shortlist the trusts 
priorities, and then the relevant staff lead for 
each shortlisted priority presented in detail to 

the staff and governor working groups once the 
shortlist was agreed. The shortlist, and later the 
final list of priorities, was then presented to the 
Board of Directors to obtain their feedback.

Data use and reporting; Data is reported to 
internal Board-level committees only after it has 
been checked by the data owner, and then by the 
Performance team. The Board-level committees 
are then given the opportunity to scrutinise 
the data, before it is reported externally 
to LINks groups and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. Both of these external groups have 
the opportunity to question anything about the 
data and demand rationale for data. They are 
also given the opportunity to provide feedback 
through our Quality Report survey, as well as 
direct and open contact with the Quality Report 
author. We also provide these groups with the 
final version of the Quality Report before it 
is published so they have an opportunity to 
feedback on any element of the document, and 
their feedback statements are included in the 
final Quality Report. 

All of this input ensures a balanced view is 
presented in the final Quality Report document, 
with sufficient controls to ensure accuracy of data.

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and 
the executive managers and clinical leads within 
the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework.  I have drawn on 
the content of the quality report attached to this 
annual report and other performance information 
available to me.   My review is also informed 
by comments made by the external auditors in 
their management letter and other reports.  I 
have been advised on the implications of the 
result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the Board, the Audit 
Committee and Governance and Risk Committee 
and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in place.

Brief summaries of the main responsibilities of 
the above Committees are outlined below:

The Board

The Chief Executive and Board of Directors 
have overall responsibility for the Trust’s Risk 
Management programme. 

It is the Trust Board that endorses and resources 
all formalised Risk Management plans.

The Audit Committee’s remit includes:-

This Committee acts independently from 
the Executive, to provide assurance to the 
Board, based on a challenge of evidence and 
assurance obtained, that the interests of the 
Trust are properly protected in relation to 
financial reporting and internal control.  

It keeps under review the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control; that is the systems 
established to identify, assess, manage and 
monitor risks both financial and otherwise, 
and to ensure the Trust complies with all 
aspects of the law, relevant regulation and 
good practice.

This Committee reports to the Board any 
matters in respect of which the Committee 
considers that action or improvement is 
needed, and makes recommendations as to  
the steps to be taken.

The Governance and Risk Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an 
objective review of, and assurances, in  
relation to: -

•	 All aspects of risk governance, the 
risk management frameworks and the 
promotion of behaviours and cultures that 
drive approaches to risk management.

•	 The systems of internal control in relation 
to governance and risk management, in 
that these are fit for purpose, adequately 
resourced and underpin the Trusts 
performance and reputation.

•	 The overall risk governance process in that 
it gives clear, explicit and dedicated focus 
to current and forward-looking aspects of 
risk exposure.

•	 Compliance with law, best practice 
governance and regulatory standards.



152   |   Quality Report 2013 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust   |   153

The Quality Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an 
independent and objective review of, and 
assurances, in relation to:

•	 All aspects of quality, specifically: clinical 
effectiveness, patient experience and patient 
safety; monitoring compliance against the 
essential standards of quality and safety set 
out in the registration requirements of the 
Care Quality Commission.

•	 Probity, quality improvement and patient 
safety issues, ensuring these are central 
components of all the activities of the Trust.

•	 Governance processes for driving and 
monitoring the delivery of high quality, 
clinically safe, patient-centred care.

•	 Performance against internal and external 
quality and clinical improvement targets, 
and directing management on actions to  
be taken on sub-standard performance.

•	 The overarching Clinical Governance, 
Quality & Patient Safety Strategy.

•	 Assurance on safeguarding quality and 
to provide appropriate scrutiny to clinical 
effectiveness, patient safety and patient 
experience.

The Workforce and Equality Committee

To provide the Board with an objective review 
of, and assurances, in relation to:

•	 The design, development and 
implementation of a Workforce Strategy that 
supports the Trust’s vision and continues to 
maximise the potential of its workforce to 
deliver the highest quality of care to patients.

•	 Effective management and leadership 
development.

•	 The quality and delivery of workforce plans.

•	 Workforce development and learning.

•	 Workforce communications.

•	 Employee engagement.

•	 Organisational development.

•	 Health, safety and wellbeing of staff.

•	 Equality and diversity.

•	 Compliance with employment legislation 
and the standards of relevant external 
professional bodies

•	 Responses to national reports, e.g., Francis II, etc.

The Business Investment and Finance 
Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an 
objective review of, and assurances, in relation to: -

•	 Growth proposals, ensuring their alignment 
with Board approved corporate strategy.

•	 Governance processes for all major 
investments and divestments.

•	 Business cases referred to it by the Capital 
Monitoring Group requiring major capital 
investment.

•	 Finance, contracting and commissioning issues; 
presenting reports and recommendations in 
relation to ensuring we maintain cash liquidity 
and are an effective going concern.

•	 Compliance with legislative, mandatory and 
regulatory requirements in terms of the 
Committee’s scope.

The Executive Team has responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the system of 
internal control and the outputs from its work 
provide me with assurance. 

The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me 
with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 
manage the risks to the organisation achieving its 
principal objectives have been reviewed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

My review is also informed by external 
assessments and achievements during the  
year as follows:-

•	 Internal Audit reports.

•	 Monthly performance reports covering all 
Directorates in the form of an Integrated 
Performance Report.

•	 External Audit reports including the Value 
for Money conclusion, Audit Letter and 
Governance Report.

•	 External Quality Audits and Continuous 
Certification to ISO 9001:2000 Standards.

•	 Monthly Quality Risk Profile update.

•	 Achievement of Level 1 NHSLA Risk 
Management Standards for Ambulance Trusts. 

•	 Compliance against 5 standards from a Care 
Quality Commission Unannounced Inspection.

•	 Certificate of Accreditation to the “Safe 
Effective Quality Occupational Health 
Standards (SEQOSH) Accreditation Scheme”.

•	 Better Health at Work Gold Award, issued by 
NHS Public Health North East.

•	 The Myocardial Ischemia National Audit 
Project (MINAP) Public Report reporting the 
Trust as the best ambulance trust in England, 
Wales and Belfast for the 2nd year running for 
transporting patients in 120 and 150 minute 
timeframes for PPCI.

•	 National award from Swansea University for 
the sepsis screening programme introduced in 
the Trust.

CONCLUSION

No significant internal control issues have been 
identified during the period. 

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive

29th May, 2012
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors 
of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

Page 1 of 3 Page 2 of 3

We have audited the financial statements of North East Ambulance 
Service Trust NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2013 
which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement 
of Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement 
of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13 issued by the 
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

Respective responsibilities of Accounting Officer and auditors 

As explained more fully in the Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page one, the Accounting Officer is responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view in accordance with the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with 
the National Health Service Act 2006, the Audit Code for NHS Foundation 
Trusts issued by Monitor and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 
the Board of Governors of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust in accordance with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any 
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the NHS Foundation Trust’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the NHS Foundation Trust; and 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read 
all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and 
Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements  
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements: 

•	 give a true and fair view, of the state of the NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2013 and of its income and expenditure and cash flows for 
the year then ended; and

•	 have been prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trusts Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts

In our opinion 

•	 The part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trusts Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13; and 

•	 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS  
OF NORTH EAST AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
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Page 3 of 3

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the 
Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts requires us to report to you if: 

•	 In our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the 
disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2012/13 or is misleading or inconsistent with information of which 
we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks 
and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls;

•	 we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the NHS Foundation Trust 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources; or

•	 we have qualified,  on any aspect, our opinion on the Quality Report. 

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
issued by Monitor.

Paul Woolston (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
89 Sandyford Road, 
Newcastle 
NE1 8HW

29/05/2013

Statement of financial position as at
31 March 2012

31 March 2013 31 October 2012

NOTE £000 £000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 16.3 37,885 41,298

Intangible assets 15.3 233 125

Trade and other receivables 26.1 0 701

Total non-current assets 38,118 42,124

Current assets

Inventories 25.1 822 811

Trade and other receivables 26.1 3,990 5,311

Cash and cash equivalents 29 10,478 9,576

Non-current assets held for sale 22 1,073 1,073

Total current assets 16,363 16,771

Total assets 58,895 58,895

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 30.1 (7,320) (5,298)

Borrowings 31 (268) (346)

Provisions 35.1 (464) (416)

Other liabilities 33 400 0

Total current liabiities (8,452) (6,060)

Total assets less current liabilities 46,029 52,835
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Non current liabilities

Borrowings 31 (2,363) (5,852)

Trade and other payables 30.1 (591) (930)

Provisions 35.1 (2,349) (2,182)

Total non-current liabiities (5,303) (8,964)

Total assets employed 40,726 43,871

Financed by taxpayers’ equity

Public divident capital 34,617 34,617

Retained earnings 2,367 4,814

Revaluation reserve 37 3,742 4,440

Total taxpayers equity 40,726 43,871

Public 
dividend 

capital (PDC)

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers’ equity at April 1st 2012 Note 34,617 4,814 4,400 43,871

Deficit for the year (2,975) (2,975)

Revaluations - property, plant  
and equipment

37 (170) (170)

Total Comprehensive Income  
Sub-Total

0 (2,975) (170) £3,145)

Transfer to retained earnings on 
disposal of assets

37 39 (39) 0

Other reserves movements 37 489 (489) 0

Balance at 31 March 2013 34,617 2,367 3,742 40,726

Public 
dividend 
capital 

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers’ equity at  
1 November 2011

Note 34,617 4,814 4,400 43,871

Retained surplus for the year 493 493

Revaluations - property, plant  
and equipment

391 391

Total Comprehensive Income  
Sub-Total

0 493 391 884

Transfer to retained earnings on 
disposal of assets

161 (161) 0

Other reserves movements 195 (195) 0

Balance at 31 March 2012 34,617 4,814 4,440 43,871

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity
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Statement of cash flows

Note
2011-12

Nov - Mar
2011-12

£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating (deficit)/surplus (1,516) 1,008

Non-cash income and expense

Depreciation and amortisation 6 7,370 3,099

Impairments 6 5,781 616

Reversal of Impairments 3.1 (38) (83)

(Gain)/Loss on disposal 3.1 (430) 89

Dividends accrued and not paid or received 26.1 (92) (22)

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (11) 42

(increase)/decrease in Trade and other receivables 2,047 1,667

Increase/(decrease) in Trade and other payables 1,827 1,547

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 400 (10)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 99 (126)

Other movements in operating cash flows (2) (6)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 15,435 4,487

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 95 13

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment (12,937) (1,495)

Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment 61 516

(Payments) for intangible assets (51) 0

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (12,832) (966)

Net cash inflow before financing 2,603 3,521

Cash flows from financing activities

Divdends paid (1,209) 502

Interest element of finance lease (202) (118)

Capital element of finance leases (290) (127)

Net cash (outflow) from financing (1,701) (747)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 902 2,774

Cash (and) cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period 9,576 6,802

Cash (and) cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 29 10,478 9,576
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1. Accounting Policies

Monitor has directed that the financial statements 
of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the 
accounting requirements of the FT ARM which 
shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, 
the following financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 2012-13 ARM 
issued by Monitor. The accounting policies 
contained in that manual follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards and HM Treasury‘s 
FReM to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items 
considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1. Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention modified to account 
for the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and 
certain financial.

1.2. Income  

Income in respect of services provided is 
recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration receivable.  
The main source of income for the trust is  
from commissioners for healthcare services.

Where income is received for a specific activity 
that is to be delivered in the following year, 
that income is deferred.

The Trust receives income under the NHS 
Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to 
reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals 
to whom personal injury compensation has 
subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The 
Trust recognises the income when it receives 
the funds from the Department of Work and 
Pension’s Compensation Recovery Unit. The 
income is measured at the agreed tariff for the 
transport provided to the injured individual.

1.3. Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from employees. 

The cost of leave earned but not taken 
by employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry 
forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by 
the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 
to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body 
of participating in the scheme is taken as equal 
to the contributions payable to the scheme for 
the accounting period.  

For early retirements other than those due to 
ill health the additional pension liabilities are 
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of 
the liability for the additional costs is charged 
to expenditure at the time the Trust commits 
itself to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment.

1.4. Expenditure on other goods and 
services

Other operating expenses are recognised 
when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received.  
They are measured at the fair value of the 
consideration payable.

Notes to the accounts
1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

•	 it is held for use in delivering services or for 
administrative purposes;

•	 it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to, or service potential will be 
supplied to, the trust;

•	 it is expected to be used for more than one 
financial year;

•	 the cost of the item can be measured reliably; 

Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components 
are treated as separate assets and depreciated 
over their own useful economic lives.

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are 
measured initially at cost, representing the 
cost directly attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and bringing it to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management.  

All assets are measured subsequently at fair 
value.

Land and buildings used for the trust’s services 
or for administrative purposes are stated in 
the statement of financial position at their 
revalued amounts, being the fair value at 
the date of revaluation less any impairment, 
subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.  Revaluations are 
performed with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that carrying amounts are not 
materially different from those that would be 
determined at the end of the reporting period.  
Fair values are determined as follows:

•	 Land and non-specialised buildings – market 
value for existing use

•	 Specialised buildings – depreciated 
replacement cost

Until 31 March 2008, the depreciated 
replacement cost of specialised buildings has 
been estimated for an exact replacement 
of the asset in its present location. HM 
Treasury has adopted a standard approach to 

depreciated replacement cost valuations based 
on modern equivalent assets and, where it 
would meet the location requirements of the 
service being provided, an alternative site can 
be valued.  

Properties in the course of construction for 
service or administration purposes are carried 
at cost, less any impairment loss.  Cost includes 
professional fees but not borrowing costs, 
which are recognised as expenses immediately, 
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 
value.  Assets are revalued and depreciation 
commences when they are brought into use.

Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and equipment 
were carried at replacement cost, as assessed 
by indexation and depreciation of historic 
cost.  From 1 April 2008 indexation has ceased.  
The carrying value of existing assets at that 
date will be written off over their remaining 
useful lives and new fixtures and equipment 
are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is 
not considered to be materially different from 
fair value.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to 
the revaluation reserve except when it reverses 
an impairment for the same asset previously 
recognised in expenditure, in which case it 
is credited to expenditure to the extent of 
the decrease previously charged there.  A 
revaluation decrease that does not result from 
a loss of economic value or service potential 
is recognised as an impairment charged to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent that 
there is a balance on the reserve for the asset 
and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Impairment 
losses that arise from a clear consumption 
of economic benefit should be taken to 
expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in 
the revaluation reserve are reported as other 
comprehensive income in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Subsequent expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an 
asset beyond its original specification, the 
directly attributable cost is capitalised.  Where 
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to 
its original specification, the expenditure is 
capitalised and any existing carrying value of 
the item replaced is written-out and charged 
to operating expenses. 
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1.6 Intangible assets

Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets 
without physical substance, which are capable 
of sale separately from the rest of the trust’s 
business or which arise from contractual or 
other legal rights. They are recognised only 
when it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the trust; where the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably, and where the 
cost is at least £5000.  

Intangible assets acquired separately are 
initially recognised at fair value. Software that 
is integral to the operating of hardware, for 
example an operating system is capitalised as 
part of the relevant item of property, plant 
and equipment. Software that is not integral 
to the operation of hardware, for example 
application software, is capitalised as an 
intangible asset. Expenditure on research is 
not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating 
expense in the period in which it is incurred.  
Internally-generated assets are recognised if, 
and only if, all of the following have been 
demonstrated:

•	 The technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that it will be available 
for use.

•	 The intention to complete the intangible 
asset and use it.

•	 The ability to sell or use the intangible asset.

•	 How the intangible asset will generate 
probable future economic benefits or 
service potential

•	 The availability of adequate technical, 
financial and other resources to complete 
the intangible asset and sell or use it

•	 The ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible 
asset during its development

Measurement

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when 
the criteria above are initially met. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in 
the period in which it is incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at fair value by reference 
to an active market, or, where no active 
market exists, at amortised replacement cost 
(modern equivalent assets basis), indexed 
for relevant price increases, as a proxy for 
fair value. Internally-developed software is 
held at historic cost to reflect the opposing 
effects of increases in development costs and 
technological advances.

1.7 Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, 
and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are 
charged to write off the costs or valuation of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
non-current assets, less any residual value, 
over their estimated useful lives, in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of economic 
benefits or service potential of the assets.  
The estimated useful life of an asset is the 
period over which the Trust expects to obtain 
economic benefits or service potential from 
the asset. This is specific to the Trust and may 
be shorter than the physical life of the asset 
itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed each year end, with the effect 
of any changes recognised on a prospective 
basis. Assets held under finance leases are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the trust 
checks whether there is any indication that 
any of its tangible or intangible non-current 
assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If 
there is indication of an impairment loss, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
to determine whether there has been a loss 
and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not 
yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually.  

A revaluation decrease that does not result 
from a loss of economic value or service 
potential is recognised as an impairment 
charged to the revaluation reserve to the 
extent that there is a balance on the reserve 
for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  
Impairment losses that arise from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit should be 
taken to expenditure. Where an impairment 
loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of the recoverable amount 

but capped at the amount that would 
have been determined had there been no 
initial impairment loss. The reversal of the 
impairment loss is credited to expenditure to 
the extent of the decrease previously charged 
there and thereafter to the revaluation 
reserve.

1.8 Revenue, government and other grants

Government grants are grants from 
Government bodies other than income form 
primary care trusts or NHS trusts for the 
provision of services.  Where a grant is used to 
fund revenue expenditure, it is taken to the 
Statement of Comprehensive income to match 
that expenditure.

1.9. Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

The trust as lessee:-

Finance Leases

Property, plant and equipment held under 
finance leases are initially recognised, at the 
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, with a matching liability for the 
lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments 
are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as 
to achieve a constant rate on interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in calculating the 
trust’s surplus/deficit.

Operating Leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially 
as a liability and subsequently as a reduction 
of rentals on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the 
land and building components are separated 
and individually assessed as to whether they 
are operating or finance leases. 

The trust as lessor:-

Finance Leases

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recorded as receivables at the amount 
of the trust’s net investment in the leases.  
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 
rate of return on the trust’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating Leases

Rental income from operating leases is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease.  Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

1.10. Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value using the [first-in first-
out/weighted average] cost formula. This is 
considered to be a reasonable approximation to 
fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.  

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any 
financial institution repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash 
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.  

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and 
cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash 
management. 
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1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has 
a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the 
Trust will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties.  
Where a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 
2.8% (2.35% from March 2013).

When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursements will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.13 Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) 
operates a risk pooling scheme under which 
the trust pays an annual contribution to the 
NHSLA which in return settles all clinical 
negligence claims.  The contribution is charged 
to expenditure.  Although the NHSLA is 
administratively responsible for all clinical 
negligence cases the legal liability remains 
with the trust.  The total value of clinical 
negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on 
behalf of the trust is disclosed at note 35. 

1.14 Non-clinical risk pooling

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses 
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 
Scheme.  Both are risk pooling schemes under 
which the trust pays an annual contribution 
to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims 
arising. The annual membership contributions, 
and any excesses payable in respect of 
particular claims are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 EU Emissions Trading Scheme

EU Emission Trading Scheme allowances are 
accounted for as government grant funded 
intangible assets if they are not expected to be 
realised within twelve months, and otherwise 
as other current assets.  They are valued at 

open market value. As the NHS body makes 
emissions, a provision is recognised with an 
offsetting transfer from deferred income.  
The provision is settled on surrender of the 
allowances. The asset, provision and deferred 
income amounts are valued at fair value at the 
end of the reporting period.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation 
that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the trust, or a present 
obligation that is not recognised because it is 
not probable that a payment will be required 
to settle the obligation or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured sufficiently 
reliably.  A contingent liability is disclosed 
unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that 
arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the 
trust. A contingent asset is disclosed where  
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.  

Where the time value of money is material, 
contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.15. Non-clinical risk pooling

The Foundation Trust participates in the 
Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities 
to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the Foundation Trust 
pays an annual contribution to the NHS 
Litigation Authority and, in return, receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The 
annual membership contributions, and any 
excesses payable in respect of particular claims 
are charged to operating expenses as and 
when they become due.

1.17 Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the Trust 
becomes party to the financial instrument 
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, 
when the goods or services have been 
delivered. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the contractual rights have expired or 
the asset has been transferred. 
 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.  

Financial assets are classified into the 
following categories: financial assets at fair 
value through profit and loss; held to maturity 
investments; available for sale financial assets, 
and loans and receivables. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time 
of initial recognition.

1.18 Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when the trust 
becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument or, in the case of 
trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are 
de-recognised when the liability has been 
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid 
or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are 
recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, 
financial liabilities are initially recognised at 
fair value.

1.19 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the trust are outside 
the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
does not apply and input tax on purchases is 
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged 
to the relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or 
input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are 
stated net of VAT.

1.20 Foreign currencies

The Trust’s functional currency and 
presentational currency is sterling.  
Transactions denominated in a foreign 
currency are translated into sterling at the 
exchange rate ruling on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting 
exchange gains and losses for either of these 
are recognised in the trust’s surplus/deficit in 
the period in which they arise. 
 
 

1.21 Third party assets

The Trust does not hold any third party assets.

1.22 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and 
PDC dividend

Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ 
equity in the NHS trust. At any time the 
Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and 
require repayments of PDC from, the trust.  
PDC is recorded at the value received. As PDC 
is issued under legislation rather than under 
contract, it is not treated as an equity financial 
instrument.

An annual charge, reflecting the cost of 
capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the 
Department of Health as public dividend 
capital dividend. The charge is calculated at 
the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 
3.5%) on the average carrying amount of 
all assets less liabilities, except for donated 
assets and cash balances with Citi Bank.  The 
average carrying amount of assets is calculated 
as a simple average of opening and closing 
relevant net assets.

1.23 Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that 
Parliament would not have contemplated 
when it agreed funds for the health service 
or passed legislation. By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise. They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments.  
They are divided into different categories, 
which govern the way that individual cases  
are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the 
relevant functional headings in expenditure on 
an accruals basis, including losses which would 
have been made good through insurance cover 
had NHS foundation trusts not been bearing 
their own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.24 Research and Development

Research and development expenditure is 
charged against income in the year in which 
it is incurred, except insofar as development 
expenditure relates to a clearly defined 
project and the benefits of it can reasonably 
be regarded as assured. Expenditure so 
deferred is limited to the value of future 
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benefits expected and is amortised through 
the Operating Cost Statement on a systematic 
basis over the period expected to benefit from 
the project. It should be re-valued on the basis 
of current cost. The amortisation is calculated 
on the same basis as depreciation, on a 
quarterly basis.

1.25 Accounting Standards that have been 
issued but have not yet been adopted

The Treasury FReM does not require the 
following Standards and Interpretations to 
be applied in 2012-13. The application of the 
Standards as revised would not have a material 
impact on the accounts for 2012-13, were they 
applied in that year:

IAS1 Presentation of financial statements 
(amendment)

IAS12 Income Taxes (amendment)

IAS19 (Revised) Employee Benefits

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 
(amendment)

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (amendment)

IAS32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
(amendment)

IFRS7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure 
(amendment)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IPSAS 32 - Service Concession Arrangement
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